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NEIEH
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Group Structure

REBEREE

As at 31 December 2022

RZB_—_F+-A=+—H

Dawnrays Pharmaceutical (Holdings) Ltd.

RinHAFER)ER A A
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(RASESEMKZMNERLIF)

(HKEX Stock Code: 2348)
(BBEE PR SR - 2348)

100%

100%

v

Dawnrays International Co. Ltd.

RinBIFR AR AR
(incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability)
(REBERRESEMAZNERRF])

Dawnrays Biotechnology Capital (Asia) Ltd.
RInEYMREEREMER AT
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

(REBTMEIZHBRAT)

v

100%

35%

Dawnrays International Company Limited
RinBIFRRGHD BRAE]
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)
(REBTMRZNERAT)

AD Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd.
FERR A (BER)EBEAR AT

100%

100%

A

i 100%

Dawnrays (Nantong)
Pharmaceutical Science and
Technology Co., Ltd.
Rif (Pl BERHRBRAR)

Suzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
BRMRImREAR AR

Dawnrays Pharma
(Hong Kong) Ltd.
R (BB)BRAA

100% 100% l 65%
A N
Fujian Dawnrays Lanzhou Dawnrays Nanjggezzzr?:(fays
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* Technology Co., Ltd
=3 W &51) 76 NE* Y W 1) 76 INE* - .
BRERMAESRAF BN RIn R AR AR AR AR R AR AT
100%
N
Guangzhou PharmaRays
Science and
Technology Co., Ltd.
EMEERERHBR AR
Due to the Group reorganization, Dawnrays International Company Limited * ARAEBEREE  RInBEREROERIE D IR

transferred 100% share interest in Fujian Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd
and Lanzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. to Suzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. on 7 July 2022 and 25 July 2022 respectively.
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Dear SHAREHOLDERS,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of the directors (the “Directors”) of
Dawnrays Pharmaceutical (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”). I'm pleased to present
the results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the
“reporting period”).

GROUP RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded revenue of
approximately RMB1,277,682,000 (2021: RMB1,165,155,000),
representing an increase of 9.7% as compared with 2021. Profit
attributable to owners of the parent was approximately RMB358,057,000
(2021: RMB358,175,000), representing a decrease of 0.083% as compared
with 2021.

Profit attributable to owners of the parent included a loss of RMB78,000
on the disposal by the Group of a 35% equity interest in Su Zhou Xinshen
Pharmaceutical Science and Technology Co., Ltd.; a loss of
RMB61,905,000 on the investment in AD Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd., an
associated company (2021: RMB46,418,000), a gain of RMB39,748,000
on the disposal of the assets of Dawnrays (Nantong) Pharmaceutical
Science and Technology Co., Ltd. while it was a loss of RMB29,561,000
on the disposal of the assets in 2021. If the above factors are excluded,
the operating profit would be RMB380,292,000 (2021: RMB335,085,000),
representing an increase of 13.5% as compared with 2021.

The increase in the revenue and operating profits was mainly due to a
significant increase in the sales volume of products of the Group for which
bids were won in the centralized procurement of drugs in China and
alliance member regions (collectively referred to as “Centralized
Procurement”), namely Atorvastatin Calcium Tablets (10mg), Entecavir
Dispersible Tablets (0.5mg), Levocetirizine Dihydrochloride Tablets (5mg)
and other specific medicines as compared with 2021.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.073 per
share for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: HK$0.065), totaling
approximately HK$109,412,000 (2021: approximately HK$97,392,000)
(equivalent to approximately RMB95,975,000 (2021: approximately
RMB79,355,000)), to the shareholders whose names appeared in the
register of members on Friday, 2 June 2023 subject to the approval of the
shareholders at the forthcoming 2023 Annual General Meeting (the “2023
AGM”).

Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE
A

RAMRARKRImE A (ZER) BRAR(TARF D
2EF(EFNG(ESFEHRENRARENE
2El(HB I AEE DBz _—_F+_A=+—
BIEFE ((REHM]) 2 28RS -

ANEFBE-_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HLEEEKE
WAL AREE1,277,682,000C(ZFE=—F: AR
#1,165,155,000 L) * RZZTZ—F £F9.7% °
NEVER AFERR A H A R 358,057,0007T (=&
——%F: AR¥3581750007T) B=_FE=-—F |
F#0.03% °

FRRER ARG GRS A S B LS # N FT R a4
R ARDR 2 MR ENIREEEARE
78,0007T : WERBE AR FERME S (ER) BEs
FRARIFYE 2 BB AR61,905,00000( Z 2 =—4F ¢
AR 46,418,0007T) + K HRinm (FEi) B R AR
NEIBEREW T AR 39,748,000 (ZF=—
FREEBEBEIARE29,561,0007T) + W LA
FRAZ &8N A ARE 380,292,000 (ZF
——F: AR%335,0850007T) BT - —F
F13.5% ©

WA BEEEMERERIEN TR2HRAEREERZT N
BEEEREPRBUREE SR DRIPENE
i PR TR 1025% - BERENBF06Z
n - BREABMNERSEREENEMHEENRE
HEER-T_—F EAME -

REIR B

BEORBMEHE_T-_—_F+_-_A=+—HI
FERBBREFRABEBT(ZE—F 1 &
#0.0657T) © & HE 4B 109,412,000 (=T =—
F A BIT32000T)(WHEHERNRARE
95,975,000t ( =T = — 4F : #J A R # 79,355,000
INFR-IZE-=FA-B(EHH)EE2ER
REMEZRE  HASRREABRTZ ==
ERFRAEAS F((ZBE-_=FRFAFRG )it
AEBE - HAEE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —=——#%% 05



Chairman’s Statement

ERRE

The dividend for the year will be HK$0.088 per share, comprising the
proposed final dividend of HK$0.073 per share and the interim dividend of
HK$0.015 per share paid on 5 October 2022. The annual dividend payout
ratio was approximately 32.4%, representing a year-on-year increase of 5.1
percentage points.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2022, the uncertain external geopolitical situation, the interest rate hike
cycle of the economy, sporadic cases of COVID-19 in China, and the
spread of COVID-19 throughout China from December 2022 to January
2023 had a certain impact on the Group’s construction projects,
production and operation activities. Thanks to the concerted efforts of all
employees, the Company maintained its operation. The progress in the
projects of the Company’s indirect subsidiaries, Lanzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (“Lanzhou Dawnrays”) and Suzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (“Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical”) on
Shanfeng Road, were also continuously affected as successive infection of
employees of external contractors with COVID-19. Fortunately, the
continuous support of the local government decreased the impact of the
relocation and production reduction.

During the reporting period, the sales amount of specific medicines of the
Group increased considerably year on year, mainly due to the continuous
rise in the sales amount of Entecavir Dispersible Tablets and Atorvastatin
Calcium Tablets, in respect of which bids were won in the Centralized
Procurement. In addition, the flare-ups of the pandemic increased the
demand for anti-pandemic materials. The Group’s Cetirizine Hydrochloride
Tablets (“Xikewei ( 78 7] & )”), Levocetirizine Dihydrochloride Tablets and
Loxoprofen Sodium Tablets were recommended drugs to relieve
symptoms of COVID-19. Loxoprofen Sodium Tablets, an analgesic-
antipyretic drug, was designated by Fujian Putian Government, as a
product the supply of which was guaranteed. Therefore, there was an
increase in the sales volumes and sales amount of the above three
products in 2022. The overall sales amount of the Group’s anti-
hypertensive drug “An” (%) series product also increased. Of which, the
sales amount of Amlodipine Besylate Tablets (‘“Anneizhen (ZRNE)”) was
slightly increased as compared with the same period of last year, while the
sales volumes and sales amount of both Telmisartan Tablets (“Anneigiang
( % A 3 )”) and Losartan Potassium and Hydrochlorothiazide Tablets
(“Anneixi (ZAE)”) had a year-on-year significant growth.
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In terms of bulk medicines, in addition to the government’s continuous
strict control over the clinical use of antibiotics, there was a year-on-year
decrease in domestic and export sales of cephalosporin intermediates,
bulk medicines and powder for injection of the Group due to the
continuation of COVID-19 in the world and a decrease in the production
volume as a result of a decline in the number of infected patients in the
hospitals as well as the relocation of projects. However, the sales volume
and amount of cephalosporin for oral in the retail business increased by
33.9% and 34.1% respectively as the bids were won for Cefprozil Tablets

in many provinces.

During the reporting period, due to the impact on the clinical progress,
Phase Il and Phase Il clinical work remained in progress respectively for
clinical trials for Class | new drug registration of monoclonal antibody agent
ebronucimab (AK102) (PCSK9 monoclonal antibody for the treatment of
acquired and hereditary hyperlipidemia) and Pulocimab (AK109) (VEGFR-2
monoclonal antibody for the treatment of advanced solid tumors), both of
which are monoclonal antibody agents developed by AD Pharmaceuticals
Co., Ltd. (“AD Pharmaceuticals”), a joint venture enterprise established by
the Group. In May 2022, the Sino-Singapore Guangzhou Knowledge City
of AD Pharmaceuticals with the production capacity of 8,000 liters was put
into operation, thus making proper preparation for the commercialization of
products. Due to an increase in the expenses as a result of high clinical
expenses, the Group’s share of the loss incurred by AD Pharmaceuticals
was RMB61,905,000 in 2022. According to clinical trial research
information and the project progress known to the Group, the Group
remains cautiously optimistic about the investment prospect. In order to
support project development, the Group signed a shareholder loan
agreement with AD Pharmaceuticals in October 2022 and would provided
AD Pharmaceuticals with a loan of RMB105,000,000 paid in three
instalments in accordance with the agreement. For details of the loan,
please see the announcement published by the Company on the website
of the Stock Exchange on 24 October 2022.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERRE

As previously disclosed by the Company, due to land replotting
requirements of the local government of the place where the enterprise is
located or the land environment replanning requirements of the local
government and in consideration of the long-term development strategy of
the Company, the antibiotic production workshop of Suzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical will be relocated from the factory on Tianling Road to the
new factory on Shanfeng Road, and the office building was relocated to
the factory on Minfeng Road in early 2022. Since the solvent recovery
workshop of the new factory on Shanfeng Road was put into operation in
2022, the Group sold a 35% equity interest in Su Zhou Xinshen
Pharmaceutical Science and Technology Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Su
Zhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Science and Technology Co., Ltd.) to an
independent third party on 26 January 2022. For details, please see the
announcement published by the Company on the website of the Stock
Exchange on 26 January 2022. Dawnrays (Nantong) Pharmaceutical
Science and Technology Co., Ltd., an indirect subsidiary of the Company,
received a total compensation of RMB82,433,000 from the government
due to relocation. The company’s total gain on disposal of assets were
RMB10,187,000. The plant and land were returned to the local
government, and all government compensations were received in January
2023. Lanzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., located in the
Chemical Industry Park, Lanzhou New District, was completed and put
into operation. The solvent recovery workshop of the factory of Suzhou
Dawnrays Pharmaceutical on Shanfeng Road was put into operation, and
other workshops were completed and were under pre-production
validation in accordance with regulatory requirements. The management of
the Group is carrying out close follow-up and enhancing management to
reduce the operating risks from the relocation.

In terms of research and development, in early 2022, a greater demand
was put on the pharmaceutical industry, according to the overall
requirements of China’s 14th Five-Year Plan and 2035 Long-Range
Objectives, and in consideration of the pharmaceutical industry policies
issued and implemented by the ministries and commissions of the national
pharmaceutical industry. With the theme of promoting high-quality
development, China comprehensively improved the modernization of the
pharmaceutical industry chain, achieved a stable and controllable supply
chain, accelerated innovation-driven development and transformation, built
new advantages in international competition, and improved the medical
supply guarantee system, so as to better meet the diversified and multi-
level health needs of the people and comprehensively promote the
construction of a healthy China. The Group closely followed the national
policies and the development of the Company. Suzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical established the Advanced Technology Research Institute
in June 2022 as an innovation carrier, to optimize the research and
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development resources in the Group and integrate the research and
development teams of its indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries Suzhou
Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Fujian Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd. and Lanzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., and its indirect non-
wholly-owned subsidiary Nanjing PharmaRays Science and Technology
Co., Ltd., and to attract external talents or cooperate with experts from
universities or other research and development teams, thus realizing the
integration of internal and external resources of the Group and building a
new drug R&D and information sharing center of the Group. At present, it
is still based on the generic drug R&D system and mainly focuses on R&D
projects with high profit levels such as improved innovative drugs and first
generic drugs, and will further carry out transformation towards innovative

drugs.

In addition, in 2022, the Group reorganized its organizational structure.
Dawnrays International Co., Ltd., an indirect subsidiary of the Company
transferred its equity interests in Fujian Dawnrays and Lanzhou Dawnrays
to Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical to establish “Suzhou Dawnrays
Domestic Headquarters” so as to facilitate unified control and improve
efficiency, and contribute to winning bids in the future national centralized
procurement of drugs. The purchase by more hospitals of the products for
which the bids are won will make more patients know the products of the
Group, thus improving the brand of Dawnrays Pharmaceutical. This
facilitates the international development of the Group in the long run.

OUTLOOK

In 2023, with the comprehensive adjustment of the central government’s
pandemic prevention and control policy, the pharmaceutical industry,
pharmaceutical business, pharmaceutical retail and grass-roots medical
institutions entered a new stage. The medical demand is expected to
gradually return to normal growth. With the normalization of adjustment to
the list of drugs covered by medical insurance and the gradual clarification
of rules for negotiation on drugs covered by medical insurance, the
adjustment to the list of drugs covered by medical insurance supports
innovative drugs and guides pharmaceutical enterprises to enhance
innovation and improve their competitiveness on the demand side. In
generic drugs, national and regional Centralized Procurement have been
steadily promoted, and the price reduction has remained stable. However,
the rules for renewal of contracts in the Centralized Procurement have
been changed to comprehensive review and selection of multiple winners,
thus the competition has become more intense. Meanwhile, the retalil
market prices are also affected by Centralized Procurement prices. In the
face of the central government’s development plan of accelerating quality,
efficiency and momentum change, Dawnrays Pharmaceutical needs to
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Chairman’s Statement
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accelerate its progress in research and development, production and
sales, so as to adapt to and cooperate with the national planning and
development. With the completion of the two relocation projects and the
obtaining of the approval for production after verification, the Group has
better production hardware and software, which contributes to enhancing
various functions to cope with the wave of national healthcare reform and
industry development, promotes the construction of high-end, intelligent,
green and international enterprises, and enhances the Group’s
competitiveness to face the impact of healthcare reform and the general
trend of survival of the fittest. Dawnrays Pharmaceutical will continue to
recruit more talents for new ideas to the Group, in the wave of healthcare
reform. Dawnrays Pharmaceutical will continue to improve its operating
efficiency based on the principle of product quality first and sound financial
strength, will contribute to the sustainable development of the Group and
create long-term value for shareholders.

APPRECIATION

The year 2023 marks the 20th anniversary of the listing of the Company on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. | would like to take this opportunity to
express my heartfelt thanks to the shareholders, directors of the Company,

partners, managers and employees of the Group for their support to me
and the Group in the past year.

By Order of the Board

Li Kei Ling

Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

During the review period, as the COVID-19 outbreak in China was under
normalized management, the overall situation was stable despite the
regional outbreak. The economy of China recovered and the
pharmaceutical market was stable with movement in a positive direction.
The Group won the bids for a number of products in the national
centralized procurement and the centralized procurement of alliance
member regions, which drove the continuous growth in the secondary and
tertiary terminal markets. With the joint efforts of all employees of the
Group, the overall sales in 2022 increased by 9.7% as compared with the
same period of the previous year. Of which, the sales volume of anti-
hypertensive drugs in “An” (%) series medicines decreased by 7.7% as
compared with the same period of 2021, but the sales amount increased
by 5.5% due to the slight increase in the sales unit price; the sales volume
and amount of Fujian Dawnrays series products which are mainly used for
treating hyperlipidemia increased by 22.7% and 17.2% respectively, as
compared with the same period of 2021; the sales volume and amount of
anti-allergic drugs “Xikewei” (FaA] &) and “Xikexin” (FAR]#7) increased by
11.0% and 17.7% respectively, as compared with the same period of
2021; the sales volume and amount of Entecavir Dispersible Tablets, an
anti-HBV drug respectively increased by 19.5% and 47.0% as compared
with the same period of 2021.

Among the antibiotic series products, as some products won bids in the
alliance centralized procurement, the sales volume and amount of
cephalosporin for oral increased by 33.9% and 34.1% respectively as
compared with the same period of 2021. However, due to the relocation
of the factories of Dawnrays (Nantong) Pharmaceutical Science and
Technology Co., Ltd. and Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. on
Tianling Road, the sales volume and amount of cephalosporin
intermediates and bulk medicines decreased by 23.4% and 10.2%
respectively, as compared with the same period of 2021. The sales volume
of powder for injections was increased by 10.6% compared with the same
period of 2021, but the sales amount decreased by 3.8% due to changes

in sales varieties.

During the period, the Group faced that several companies won in the
Centralized Procurement in alliance member regions. In response to the
rapid changes in the market, the marketing management personnel
appropriately adjusted the Group’s product marketing ideas and sales
strategies and strengthened the allocation of resources to explore new
markets. Meanwhile, the Group made market development arrangements
for new products, and strove to achieve reasonable growth in the sales of
its drugs in 2023, so as to contribute to the profit of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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ANTI-HYPERTENSIVE PRODUCTS

The Group has advantages in anti-hypertensive series of products.
Through more than 20 years of deep engagement of the Group in the
pharmaceutical market, the series of products had a good brand
reputation among doctors and patients with hypertension. Based on the
Group’s integration of the survey data of market research institutions,
“Anneizhen” (%¢ 4 H.) was ranked in the leading position among similar
products on the second and third market terminals in many cities and
provinces in terms of sales, and gained considerable market shares.
Moreover, another anti-hypertensive drug “Anneixi” (% N =) (Losartan
Potassium and Hydrochlorothiazide Tablets) of the Group was ranked
among the top domestic brands in terms of sales and became the Group’s
second star product for anti-hypertension. The sales of the series of
products were RMB549,229,000 in 2022 (2021: RMB520,414,000),
accounting for 43.0% of the sales of the Group. In the future, the Group’s
marketing management team will focus more on brand planning, channel
building, price adjustment and academic promotion of the “An” (%) series
products, strengthen the access design of products for different markets
by closely following up national policies related to chronic disease

management, and further explore the new market.

ANTI-HYPERLIPIDEMIC PRODUCTS

Anti-hyperlipidemic products are products newly developed by the Group.
During the period, with the national centralized procurement and
centralized procurement in alliance member regions, there was an increase
in the sales of Fujian Dawnrays’s Atorvastatin Calcium Tablets. The sales
of the anti-hyperlipidemic products were RMB270,368,000 (2021:
RMB255,059,000), accounting for 21.2% of the sales of the Group. The
Group ranked in leading position in the sales market in China in terms of
such sales.

ANTIVIRAL PRODUCTS

The antiviral products are covered by the traditional treatment sector of the
Group. There was a steady increase in the domestic market share of
Entecavir Dispersible Tablets of the Group with the “unique cyclodextrin
inclusion technology”. During the period, the sales of the products in China
were RMB133,005,000 (2021: RMB90,5083,000), accounting for 10.4% of
the sales of the Group, which was better than expectations, due to the
increasing price winning the bid for centralized procurement of drugs in
national alliance member regions. The Group ranked in leading position in
the sales market in China in terms of such sales.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

PRODUCTS FOR GOUT TREATMENT

In order to enrich the Group’s product line, Suzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical obtained the approval of the change of the marketing
authorization holder of Febuxostat Tablets (40mg, 80mg) for gout
treatment in 2021. The product was marketed during the period and won
the bids in many cities and provinces’ Centralized Procurement. The
product will bring a new source of profit for the Group in the future.

INTERMEDIATES AND BULK MEDICINES

During the period, the bulk medicines production base of Lanzhou
Dawnrays was completed and put into operation. The construction of
Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical relocation project is being actively
promoted. Related review and filing work for bulk medicines was actively
carried out by the Group to further increase the market share, thus laying a
solid foundation for the future sales of bulk medicines and intermediates.

PRODUCT RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

In the second half of 2022, the Group established the “Advanced
Technology Research Institute of Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical” on
the basis of its own research and development center, to coordinate with
and manage the technical R&D teams of the subsidiaries of Dawnrays
Group, integrate the technical forces in the R&D of generic drugs and new
drugs, and improve the Group’s R&D level. Meanwhile, the Institute will
become a cooperation platform for the Group to introduce new drug
research and development.

Apart from the description in the following section of “NEW PRODUCTS
AND PATENT LICENSING”, the Group’s ongoing projects cover the
therapeutic areas of the circulatory system, digestive system, endocrine
system, ophthalmology, dermatology, pediatrics, orthopedics, gynecology,
antiviral drugs, etc., and involve bio-pharmaceuticals, polypeptide drugs,
chemical pharmaceuticals, etc. The ongoing research projects will be
regularly evaluated and adjusted according to market forecasts,
competitors’ conditions and technological development, so as to maximize
the benefits of research and development resources. The Group will
continuously invest more resources in the research and innovation of
production technology and products, for developing generics of the
system specific medicines, exploring Class 3 drugs and some innovative
drugs and seeking various scientific research cooperation opportunities to
optimize product structure and profit base.
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CONSISTENCY EVALUATION

As at 31 December 2022, according to statistics by product specification,
the Group conducted quality and efficacy research into 31 varieties, the
applications for 14 types of drugs (namely Entecavir Dispersible Tablets
(0.5mg), Amlodipine Besylate Tablets (5mg), Amlodipine Besylate Tablets
(2.5mgq), Levocetirizine Dihydrochloride Tablets (5mg), Cetirizine
Hydrochloride Tablets (10mg), Metformin Hydrochloride Tablet (250mg),
Azithromycin Tablets (250mg), Clarithromycin Tablets (250mg), Telmisartan
Tablets (80mg), Cefprozil Tablets (250mg), Cefoperazone Sodium and
Sulbactam Sodium for Injection (1.0g), Cefoperazone Sodium for Injection
(1.0g), Azithromycin Suspension (0.1g) and Losartan Potassium and
Hydrochlorothiazide Tablets (50mg/12.5mg)) were approved. The
applications for consistency evaluation for 7 varieties have been submitted
to the Center for Drug Evaluation, NMPA. Moreover, pharmaceutical
research into 10 of such varieties is ongoing.

REORGANIZATION OF ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE

During the period, the Group established Suzhou Dawnrays Domestic
Headquarters to coordinate the management of subsidiaries in China,
diagnose and optimize the internal management of the Group with a view
to improving work efficiency and achieving agile operations.

OTHER MATTERS

During the period, the Group continued improving production, product
quality, human resources, internal audit etc., and endeavored to enhance
the risk control capability and improve the operating level of various
systems, in an attempt to maintain the Group’s sustainable development in

the fierce business competition environment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

PRODUCTION AND SALES

For the year ended 31 December 2022, there was a decrease of 19.4% in
the production volume and 23.4% in the sales volume of intermediates and
bulk medicines of the Group, as compared with 2021. There was an
increase of 20.2% in the production volume and an increase of 10.6% in
the sales volume of cephalosporin powder for injection, as compared with
last year. The decreases in the production and sales volumes of
intermediates and bulk medicines were mainly due to the impact of
relocation of Dawnrays (Nantong) Pharmaceutical Science and Technology
Co., Ltd. and the factory of Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. on
Tianling Road, while the increase in the sales volume of powder for
injection was due to winning the bid for compound cefoperazone in certain
provinces. There was an increase of 6.7% in the production volume and a
rise of 7.8% in the sales volume of solid-dosage-forms as compared with
the same period of last year. In terms of international business, the Group’s
sales in overseas markets declined due to the COVID-19 outbreak and
Dawnrays Nantong discontinued production for relocation. The sales of
overseas markets accounted for 4.6% of the total sales of the Group.

NEW PRODUCTS AND PATENT LICENSING

In 2022, the Group applied to the Center for Drug Evaluation, CFDA for the
registration of a total of 9 varieties, with supplementary applications
(consistency evaluation) for 7 varieties, and registration application for 1
bulk medicines, and 1 Class 4 chemical medicines. In 2022, the Group
obtained 1 drug production approval, 5 consistency evaluation approvals
and 2 supplementary application approvals.

In 2022, the Group obtained a total of 2 invention patent certificates

“The preparation method for a kind of cefotaxime sodium”, patent number:
Z1.202110257891.9

“Metformin Hydrochloride Sustained-Release Tablets and its preparation
method”, patent number: Z1.202110928324.1
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HONORS AWARDED TO THE GROUP IN 2022

Time of Awards Honors

September 2022 Fujian Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. was awarded
the certificate of “Level Il Enterprise of Safety Production
Standardization (Pharmaceutical Industry)” by the Putian
Emergency Management Association.
October 2022 Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. was
recognized as the “Regional Headquarters of
Multinational Corporations in Suzhou City” by the
Suzhou Bureau of Commerce.
December 2022 Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. was
recognized as “Suzhou Headquarter Enterprise” by the
Suzhou Headquarters Economy Development Leading
Group Office.
Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. was
recognized as the “Regional Headquarters of
Multinational Corporations in Jiangsu Province” by the
Department of Commerce of Jiangsu Province.
January 2023 Fujian Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. was awarded
the “2022 Outstanding Economic Contribution” award
by Putian Municipal Party Committee and Putian
Government
Fujian Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. was granted
the “First Prize for Enterprises with Outstanding
Economic Contribution in 2022” by the CPC Committee
of Licheng District and the People’s Government of
Licheng District.
February 2023  Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. was rated
among the “Top 10 Open Enterprises” and the “Top 30
Enterprises in Terms of Tax Contributions” and was
recognized as a “Leading Enterprise in Terms of Green
Development” by Suzhou Wuzhong District Committee
of the Communist Party of China and Suzhou Wuzhong
District People’s Government in 2022 respectively.
Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. was
recognized as the “Leading Force, Enterprise with High-
quality Pharmaceutical Development Achievements in
China (2022)” by the Organizing Committee of the
National Pharmaceutical Economic Information

Conference.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Time of Awards Honors

With regard to “Xikewei” (P8 1] &) (Cetirizine Hydrochloride
Tablets), Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. was
recognized as the “Leading Force, Brand with High-quality
Pharmaceutical Development Achievements in China
(2022)” by the Organizing Committee of the National

Pharmaceutical Economic Information Conference.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

SALES AND GROSS PROFIT

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded a turnover of
approximately RMB1,277,682,000, increased by RMB112,527,000 or
9.7% compared with last year, of which the turnover of intermediates and
bulk medicines was RMB140,441,000, decreased by RMB15,562,000 or
10.0% compared with last year. The turnover of finished drugs was
RMB1,137,241,000, increased by RMB128,089,000 or 12.7% compared
with last year. The decrease in the sales of intermediates and bulk
medicines was mainly due to the impact of the COVID-19 and the
decrease in the intermediates business volume as a result of the relocation
of Dawnrays Nantong. The increase in the sales of finished drugs was
mainly due to winning the bids for the four products of the Group in the
national centralized procurement of drugs, and the resulting in growth of
the second and third market terminals.

Sales amount of finished drugs, comprising system specific medicines,
powder for injection and tablets of cephalosporin and other oral solid-
dosage-form of antibiotics, reached approximately RMB1,137,241,000.
Taking into account of the total turnover, sales amount of finished drugs
was approximately 89.0%, increased by 2.4 percentage points compared
with last year. Sales amount of system specific medicines accounted for
97.2% of sales of finished drugs.

Gross profit was approximately RMB773,551,000, increased by
RMB92,289,000 compared with last year, representing an increase of
13.5%. Gross profit margin increased by approximately 2 percentage
points to 60.5% from 58.5% as in last year. Mainly due to the Group’s
production costs continuously decreased with the full utilization of
production capacity, and the impact of the increase in the sales proportion

of system specific medicines.
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TABLE OF TURNOVER ANALYSIS — BY PRODUCT

LEXRBEONT — BRERED

PRODUCT TURNOVER SALES BREAKDOWN
Em BEHE HELH
Percentage
(RMB’000) (RMB’000) (RMB’000) points
(ARET) (ARETFT) (AREFT) (%) (%) changes
2022 2021 changes 2022 2021 BOE
—E--f ZF--— Bl —B--E <—T-—F 2l
Intermediates and Bulk Medicines [ 52 & [R £} 2 140,441 156,003 -15,562 11.0 13.4 -2.4
Finished Drugs X B 1,137,241 1,009,152 128,089 89.0 86.6 2.4
Overall ] 1,277,682 1,165,155 112,527 100.0 100.0 -
EXPENSES ZH

During the year, the total expenses incurred were approximately
RMB360,186,000, representing an increase of RMB28,786,000 from
RMB331,400,000 in the previous year, and accounted for 28.2% of the
turnover (2021: 28.4%). As the COVID-19 outbreak in China was under
normalized management, the Group resumed various sales and promotion
activities and enhanced the development of the second and third terminal
markets. The selling expenses increased by RMB33,703,000 as compared
with last year, and the selling expense ratio was 11.2%. The administrative
expenses increased by RMB4,649,000 as compared with last year, mainly
due to the increase in depreciation of Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical
and increase in the administrative expenses of Lanzhou Dawnrays. Finance
expenses were RMB371,000, representing a decrease of RMB270,000 as
compared with the previous year. Research and development expenses
increased by RMB12,450,000 as compared with the previous year. Other
expenses decreased by RMB21,746,000 as compared with last year,
mainly because there was a loss of RMB29,561,000 on disposal of

Dawnrays Nantong assets in last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SEGMENT PROFIT

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the segment profit from the
finished drugs segment was approximately RMB608,806,000, representing
an increase of RMB62,554,000 compared with RMB546,252,000 in 2021,
mainly due to increase in the sales of finished drugs. The intermediates
and bulk medicines had segment loss of RMB17,775,000 while it was
segment loss of RMB2,296,000 in 2021. The loss was mainly attributable
to the impact of Lanzhou Dawnrays’ small output and high production
costs.

INTERESTS AND RIGHTS IN ASSOCIATE

During the year, AD Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. (“AD Pharmaceuticals”),
which is invested by Dawnrays Biotechnology Capital (Asia) Ltd.
(“Dawnrays Biotechnology”), a subsidiary of the Group, conducted Phase
[l clinical trial of monoclonal antibody agent AK102 for the treatment of
acquired and inherited hyperlipidemias and Phase Il clinical trial of
monoclonal antibody agent AK109 for the treatment of advanced solid
tumors. The China-Singapore Guangzhou Knowledge City Base of AD
Pharmaceutical commenced operation in May 2022 with a production
capacity of 8,000L (total planning capacity 16,000L). Dawnrays
Biotechnology has invested a total of RMB185,000,000. Due to the
business operation and increase clinical development of AD
Pharmaceuticals and the development of the industrialization base, the
Group signed a shareholder loan agreement with AD Pharmaceuticals in
October 2022 and would provide AD Pharmaceuticals with a loan of
RMB105,000,000 paid in three instalments. For details of the loan, please
see the announcement published by the Company on the website of the
Stock Exchange on 24 October 2022. As the pandemic affected the
progress in reporting external debts. Payment of the first instalment of the
loan amounting to RMB31,500,000 was postponed to January 2023, and
the second instalment of the loan amounting to RMB35,000,000 was
provided to AD Pharmaceuticals in February 2023 in accordance with the
agreement. Together with the loan of RMB49,000,000 paid in 2021, the
accumulated loan to AD Pharmaceutical would be RMB154,000,000. For
the year ended 31 December 2022, the R&D and administrative expenses
occurred by AD Pharmaceuticals totaled approximately RMB176,871,000.
As a result, in proportion to the investment percentage, the Group shared
an investment loss of approximately RMB61,905,000, while it was
RMB46,418,000 in 2021.

EEENWE D
I

BE_Z-_—_F+_A=+—HILEE REIL
72 FERE F 4 AR 608,806,000 T * BT = —4F
AR 546,252,000 T8 1N A R # 62,554,000 7T © =
ERREHEEEMOTE - PHEEREHES D
DEBIEARK17,7750000 0 — T - —F A B
AR¥2,206,0007t ' TEREMNRIMEE L EHAE
ERAR=PTE o

DIERERE N E 2 s

al

FRAEEHRBARRBEYREERE (M E
RAR([RInEMDIRENRMR T (BR)BER
BARI(EMES D ERARABESHEMESES
i M AE #9 B8 471 B2 ) AK102 = B G IR 54 B K LA B iR
HEBRENENEYAIOON —HRRHE - K=
T ZFH ARERE 5 ERLES, 000 (R B E s
16,000 F1) #9537 B N A0 3k B b IR BR B IR 2 © TR I
EYE A HIEAE AR AR 185,000,000 7T o FHE &
R EE TS B K R PR B T4 hn bA Rk B EE b A
B -RIZEZZF+ALSEHEERRIESR
REFRWZE - 235 H AR 105,000,000 7T
ERGERRES  BHRETFE2HARRANRE
ZoFTAZ+MBE EEBRAIz AL c AEIEE
FEBINMEREEE - £—% ARM31,500,0007T
BREEZT-_=F— A% FZEARE
35,000,000 LB R EEHBER S _=F =A%
FREE 7 o k=T = —F &5 AR 49,000,000
TT 0 BFHER AR 154,000,000T c HE T =
F+ZA=+—BIEFE RREFZEMBEER
BIBTHERAHARE 176,871,000 @ AEEZE
B Bl EEIR E B A K AR 61,005,000 © —F
Z—FRPAAR 46,418,000 7T °

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —Z=——4#4&% 19



Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN
PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT

For the year ended 31 December 2022, profit attributable to owners of the
parent amounted to approximately RMB358,057,000, representing a
slightly decrease of RMB118,000 or 0.03% compared with
RMB358,175,000 in last year. During the year, the Group disposed 35%
equity interest in Su Zhou Xinshen Pharmaceutical Science and
Technology Co., Ltd. with a nominal loss of RMB78,000, a gain of
RMB39,748,000 on Dawnrays Nantong’s assets disposal (2021: loss of
RMB29,561,000 on assets disposal), share of loss of RMB61,905,000 for
the investment in AD Pharmaceuticals (2021: RMB46,418,000). The Group
had a gain on disposal of 65% of equity interests in Su Zhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical Science and Technology Co. Ltd. RMB99,069,000 in
2021. Excluding the above factors, the actual operating profit attributable
to owners of the parent was RMB380,292,000 (2021: RMB335,085,000),
increased by 13.5% compared with last year.

ANALYSIS ON THE RETURN ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, net assets attributable to owners of the parent
were approximately RMB2,641,956,000. The return on net assets, which
is defined as the profit attributable to owners of the parent divided by net
assets attributable to owners of the parent was 13.6% (2021: 15.0%). The
current ratio and quick ratio was 1.87 and 1.61 respectively. The turnover
days for trade receivables were approximately 55 days. Turnover days for
trade receivables including bills receivables were 106 days. Turnover days
for inventory were approximately 159 days.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR
LOSS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss including:

(i) invested in certain Hong Kong public listed shares amounted
approximately RMB10,500,000 (31 December 2021: approximately
RMB6,933,000);

(i) purchased certain wealth management products (all were structured
deposits) of approximately RMB170,000,000 (31 December 2021:
RMB160,000,000) of floating interest rate principal-preservation type
with annual interest rate from 0% to 5.0% from 6 good credit worth
banks in China. The expected yield would be approximately
RMB857,000 in total. The wealth management products were mainly
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Management Discussion and Analysis

relatively lower risk of default. All principal and interests will be paid
together on the maturity date. The Board believes that the investment
in aforementioned wealth management products can strengthen the
financial position of the Group and bring the fruitful contribution to
the profit of the Group.

As at 31 December 2022, there was no investment in financial bonds (31
December 2021: RMB40,463,000).The above mentioned financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss amounted to approximately
RMB181,357,000 (31 December 2021: approximately RM208,184,000),
representing approximately 4.9% (31 December 2021: 6.2%) of the total
assets of the Group. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
recorded net gain of approximately RMB7,204,000 (2021: RMB5,560,000)
on the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. The Board
believes that the investment in equity investments and financial assets can
diversify the investment portfolio of the Group and achieve a better return
to the Group in future.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had cash and bank balance
approximately RMB811,682,000 (as at 31 December 2021:
RMB577,744,000). During the year, the net cash inflows from operating
activities was approximately RMB434,266,000 (2021: RMB393,139,000).
Net cash outflows from investing activities was approximately
RMB175,013,000 (2021 net cash outflows: RMB284,202,000). Net cash
outflows from financing activities was approximately RMB92,701,000
(2021: RMB129,754,000).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had aggregate bank facilities of
approximately RMB1,370,000,000 (as at 31 December 2021:
RMB1,100,000,000). As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings was RMB6,434,000 (as at 31
December 2021: RMB21,013,000), and the debt ratio (defined as sum of
interest-bearing bank borrowings over total assets) of the Group was
0.18% (as at 31 December 2021: 0.6%). The above mentioned bank and
other borrowings’ interest rate were fixed ranging from 1.10% to 1.55%.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had trade receivables of
approximately RMB208,828,000 (as at 31 December 2021:
RMB180,017,000), increased by 16.0% compared to 2021, mainly due to
the impact of increase in sales.
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EEBENmEDON

As at 31 December 2022, the inventory balance of the Group was
approximately RMB241,746,000 (as at 31 December 2021:
RMB203,476,000), representing an increase of RMB38,270,000 as
compared with 2021, mainly due to the increase in the stocking of bulk
medicines in response to the relocation of the factory of Suzhou Dawnrays
on Tianling Road.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s contracted but not provided for
plant and machinery capital commitments amounted to approximately
RMB110,318,000 (as at 31 December 2021: RMB239,908,000), which
was mainly related to Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical relocation
construction project and Lanzhou Dawnrays intermediates and bulk
medicines production base project.

SUBSTANTIAL INVESTMENT

Nanjing PharmaRays, a majority-owned subsidiary of the Group and a
research and development company, owned as to 65% by Suzhou
Dawnrays Pharmaceutical, had the registered capital of RMB50,000,000,
and Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical made a capital contribution of
RMB32,500,000, in accordance with the joint venture agreement. As at 31
December 2022, the registered capital subscribed by the other shareholder
amounted to RMB17,500,000, of which RMB17,000,000 was paid.

Due to the urban planning adjustment of Wuzhong Economic and
Technological Development Zone by the Suzhou Municipal People’s
Government, the factory of Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical located at
Wuzhong Economic and Technological Development Zone will be
relocated from Tianling Road to Shanfeng Road of Wusongjiang Chemical
Industrial Park in Wuzhong Economic and Technological Development
Zone. Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical and the local government signed
a relocation compensation agreement on 20 December 2017. The agreed
relocation compensation amounted to approximately RMB351,200,000.
As at 31 December 2022, Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical received the
relocation compensation of RMB175,595,000. The planned investment in
the project was RMB448,000,000. The construction of the solvent
recovery workshop of the factory at Shanfeng Road was completed and
put into operation. Other production workshops had been completed and
are undergoing pre-production verification. During the year, Dawnrays
International made a capital contribution of US$15,000,000 to Suzhou
Dawnrays Pharmaceutical.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

On 26 January 2022, the Group and Suzhou Rongxin Construction
Development Co., Ltd. entered into an agreement, pursuant to which the
company sold 35% of equity interest in Su Zhou Xinshen Pharmaceutical
Science and Technology Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Su Zhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical Science and Technology Co., Ltd.), with a nominal loss of
RMB78,000. Further details of which were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 26 January 2022.

Due to the planning adjustment in Yangkou Chemical Industrial Park by the
Rudong County People’s Government of Nantong City, Dawnrays Nantong
signed a relocation compensation agreement with the local government on
30 December 2019, and the compensation was RMB82,433,000. The
gain on disposal of assets of the company totalled RMB10,187,000. As at
31 December 2022, Dawnrays Nantong received the compensation of
RMB25,880,000, the remaining amount was received in January 2023. As
at 31 December 2022, the plant and land were returned to the local
government.

Lanzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., the intermediates and bulk
medicines production base of the Group was established on 30 December
2019 with registered capital USD50,000,000. During the year, the
registered capital was increased to USD80,000,000. In July 2022, after
Dawnrays International acquired 3.125% of the shares of Lanzhou
Dawnrays held by Xiangbei Welman Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (L5 £
s AR 2\ E]) with USD1,291,490, the Group wholly owns Lanzhou
Dawnrays. The main products of Lanzhou Dawnrays are cephalosporin
bulk medicines and intermediates, system specific bulk medicines, raw
materials of enzyme inhibitors, and raw materials of health supplements.
The planned investment in the project was RMB430,000,000. The
construction of the project was completed and put into operation.

During the year, the goodwill arising from the acquisition of Top Field
Limited and its subsidiary Fujian Dawnrays (“Fujian Dawnrays Goodwill”)
amounted to RMB241,158,000. the Group is required to check, at each
reporting period end, whether the recoverable amount based on the value
in use of the cash-generating unit of Fujian Dawnrays exceeds the carrying
value at 31 December 2022. After an assessment, the Group believes that
there were no indications of impairment on Fujian Dawnrays Goodwill as at
31 December 2022.
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In 2022, due to internal restructuring, Suzhou Dawnrays established the
Suzhou Dawnrays Domestic Headquarters, holding 100% equity of
Lanzhou Dawnrays and Fujian Dawnrays. As at the end of 2022, the
accumulated registered capital invested in Lanzhou Dawnrays was
RMB320,750,365 and the accumulated registered capital invested in
Fujian Dawnrays was RMB98,694,806.

Save as disclosed above, there were no significant external investments,
material acquisitions or disposal of subsidiaries and associated companies
by the Group during the year.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE AND TREASURY POLICIES

As at year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded an exchange
loss of RMB4,537,000 (2021: gain of RMB997,000). The Group’s
substantial business activities, assets and liabilities are denominated in
Renminbi, so the risk derived from the foreign exchange to the Group is
not high. The treasury policy of the Group is to manage any risk of foreign
exchange or interest rate (if any) only if it will potentially impose a significant
impact on the Group. The Group continues to observe the foreign
exchange and interest rate market, and may hedge against foreign
currency risk with foreign exchange forward contracts and interest rate risk
with interest rate swap contracts if necessary.

STAFF AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed approximately 1,106
(2021: 1,065) employees and the total remuneration was approximately
RMB183,630,000 (2021:RMB172,023,000). The total remuneration
increased mainly due to staff increase and salary adjustment. The Group
regards human resources as the most valuable assets and truly
understands the importance of attracting and retaining high-performance
employees. The remuneration policy is generally based on the references
of market salary index and individual qualifications. The Group provides its
employees with other fringe benefits, including defined contribution
retirement schemes, share option scheme and medical coverage. The
Group also offers some of its employees stationed in the PRC with
dormitory accommodation.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no material contingent liabilities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had not pledged any assets to banks
to secure credit facilities granted to its subsidiaries (as at 31 December
2021: Nil).

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 24 October 2022, Dawnrays Biotechnology entered into a loan
contract with AD Pharmaceuticals. Dawnrays Biotechnology agreed to
provide an unsecured interest-bearing loan to AD Pharmaceuticals for a
total of RMB105,000,000 with an interest rate of 3.5% per annum for a
term of five years. Dawnrays Biotechnology provided a loan of
RMB66,500,000 in January and February 2023.

PLANS FOR SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND EXPECTED
SOURCE OF FUNDING

Save for those disclosed above in connection with capital commitments,
increase of registered capital in subsidiaries and capital for relocation plans
under the section “Liquidity and Financial Resources” and “Substantial
Investment”, the Group does not have any plan for material investments or

acquisition of capital assets.

The Group has sufficient financial and internal resources to pay the capital
commitments, capital expenditure for relocation plans, investment projects
and increased registered share capital described above. However, it is still
possible to pay the above capital expenditure commitments with bank

loans or internal resources of the Group.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s segment information for the year ended 31
December 2022 is set out in note 3 to the financial statement.

EEENWE D
AR

RZBE-_—_F+_A=+—8 AEEEEEKH
FRITNERETFTHHBRATNEEEE(R_-Z
——F+ZA=+—8:8)-

HREHEER

RZTZZF+AZ+MA - RnAEWEERES
FlERGE EmAEVREREEEMRTEER
FH AR 105,000,000 T4 FRER T+ (B3 FI23.5%
FRE BRFHSF - RImAEVMER T _=F—
ARk= A#R# AR 66,500,000 TEK °

S

AREARER FAHRME IR

B [REBESRUBRER] K [EARE ] FA#
BEERRSORIE - B R R EMEARE MR RE
AEEARMBEEEN  ARELBEEARRERR
BRTEINBABKREEE -

AEEERARNPTERIARERRASN LA ER
FISORE - MBFTEIEARFX - IREBB RIENEM
B - BDAREARTEREIAEE R E IR A
B AR SORHE o

PEER

AEBBE T -_—_F+_A=+—HIFEZH
HERDMH RIS RERMES -

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —Z=——#&#% 25



Corporate Governance Report
CEERRE

The board of Directors (the “Board”) of Dawnrays Pharmaceutical
(Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) believes that corporate governance is
essential to the success of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”). Good corporate governance can safeguard the
interests of all shareholders and enhance corporate value. Therefore, the
Board has adopted various measures to ensure that a high standard of
corporate governance is maintained.

To the best knowledge, information and belief of the Directors, the
Company has complied with the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Ltd. (the “Stock Exchange”) for the year ended
31 December 2022, except for the following deviation:

1. CODE PROVISION C.1.6 OF THE CG CODE —
ATTENDANCE OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AT
GENERAL MEETING

The code provision C.1.6 of the CG Code requires that independent
non-executive directors and other non-executive directors should
attend general meetings to gain and develop a balanced
understanding of the view of shareholders. All directors except Mr.
Lo Tung Sing Tony (“Mr. Lo”), an independent non-executive director
could not attend due to his other business commitment, attended
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 27 May 2022
(the “2022 AGM”). The views of shareholders had been reported to
Mr. Lo after the 2022 AGM.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 of
the Listing Rules as the Company’s code of conduct for dealings in
securities of the Company by the Directors. Based on specific enquiry of
all Directors, the Company confirms that all the Directors have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code, throughout the
accounting period covered by the 2022 annual report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

During 2022 and up to the date of this report, the Board comprised the
following Directors:
Executive Directors: Ms. Li Kei Ling
Mr. Hung Yung Lai
Mr. Chen Shaojun

(resigned on 16 February 2022)
Non-Executive Director: Mr. Leung Hong Man
Independent Non-executive Mr. Lo Tung Sing Tony
Mr. Ede, Ronald Hao Xi

Ms. Lam Ming Yee Joan

Directors:

Save as Ms. Li Kei Ling, the Chairman of the Board and Mr. Hung Yung
Lai, one of the Executive Directors, are directors and ultimate shareholders
of several private companies incorporated in Hong Kong and British Virgin
Islands, the Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with each other. The balanced Board
composition is formed to ensure strong independence exists across the
Board which can effectively exercise independent judgement.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Company recognises that Board independence is pivotal in good
corporate governance and Board effectiveness. The Board has established
mechanisms to ensure independent views and input from any director of
the Company are conveyed to the Board for enhancing an objective and
effective decision making.

The governance framework and the following mechanisms are reviewed

annually by the Board to ensure their effectiveness:

(1)  Three out of the six directors are Independent Non-executive
Directors, which exceeds the requirement of the Listing Rules that at
least one-third of the Board are independent non-executive directors.
The three Independent Non-executive Directors are persons of high
caliber, with academic and professional qualifications in the fields of
accounting and business management respectively. With their
experience gained from senior positions held in other organizations,
they provide strong support towards the effective discharge of the

duties and responsibilities of the Board.
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All Independent Non-executive Directors are members of three board
committees and scrutinize the overall performance of the Group in
achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives, and monitoring the
reporting of performance. The Independent Non-executive Directors
take an active role in board meetings, contribute to the development
of strategies and policies and make sound and independent
judgement on issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability,
resources, key appointments and standard of conduct. They will take
lead where potential conflicts of interests arise.

If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a
matter to be considered by the Board which the Board had
determined to be material, the matter will be dealt with by holding a
board meeting with the presence of disinterested Independent Non-
executive Directors or a meeting of a board committee set up for that
purpose pursuant to a resolution passed in a board meeting.

A Director (including Independent Non-executive Director) who has
material interest in any contract, transaction or arrangement shall
abstain from voting and not be counted in the quorum on any Board
resolution approving the same.

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence
from the three Independent Non-executive Directors in accordance
with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee has
assessed their independence and concluded that all the Independent
Non-executive Directors are independent within the definition of the
Listing Rules.

Meeting between the Chairman and all Independent Non-executive
Directors without presence of other Directors was held annually, by
which the independent views and opinions can be shared and
discussed on various matters;

All Directors are entitled to have unrestricted access to the advice
and service of the company secretary with a view to ensuring that
board procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations are
followed. Upon reasonable request and appropriate circumstances,
Directors can seek independent professional advice to assist them to
discharge their duties, at the Company’s expenses.

No equity-based remuneration with performance related elements
will be granted to Independent Non-executive Directors.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company
and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and
performance. The management has been delegated the authority and
responsibility by the Board for the management of the Group. In addition,
the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the board
committees. Further details of these committees are set out in this report.

No corporate governance committee has been established and so the
Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions
such as developing and reviewing the Company’s policies, practices on
corporate governance, training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management, developing, reviewing and monitoring
the code of conduct to employees and Directors such as inside information
disclosure regulations, assuring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, etc. and to review the
Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and the

disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

The biographies of the Directors are set out in pages 47 to 50 to the 2022
annual report, which demonstrates the skills, expertise, experience and
qualifications of the Directors. With Independent Non-executive Directors’
experience gained from senior positions held in other organisations, they
provide strong support towards the effective discharges of the duties and
responsibilities of the Board. All Directors take an active role in board
meetings, contribute to the development of strategies and policies and
make sound and independent judgment on issues of strategy, policy,
performance, accountability, resources, key appointment and standard of
conduct.

The Board held 16 board meetings including 6 regular meetings and 10
ad-hoc meetings during the year ended 31 December 2022. The regular
board meetings were to consider, among other things, reviewing and
approving the interim and annual results of the Group, overall group
strategy, annual budgets, approval of major capital transactions and other
significant operational and financial matters. The ad-hoc meetings were
convened when circumstance required such as disposal of associate
company, accept resignation of director and chief executive officer,
appoint chief executive director, recommendation the shareholders to
approve amendments to the Articles of Association, approving a loan to
associate company, grant options to chief executive officer and employees
etc.
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Details of the attendance of Directors at board meetings, annual general
meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) and other three board committees’

RIZB-—F ZEEREFSSH
FRrE(BRRBFAG) KA =ZAEEZEES

RARBREA

meetings (the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the H(EZZED REZESRFHEES)NHLE
Remuneration Committee) during the year 2022 are set out in the following SFBEAEAN T -
table:
No. of meetings attended/held
BRI BTRE
Audit  Nomination Remuneration
Board AGM Committee Committee Committee
Name of Directors BEEng BExg REBERE EHRZEEE REZEE §FHzEEe
Executive Directors HITEF
Ms. Li Kei Ling (Chairman) THR T (FE) 16/16 11 - 4/4 2/2
Mr. Hung Yung Lai RRRME A 16/16 11 - - -
Mr. Chen Shaojun MRIAE T E 0/3 - - - -
(resigned on 16 February (RZZT=—=
2022) ZA+NEEE)
Non-executive Director HHITEFE
Mr. Leung Hong Man Z2RERTE 11/16 11 - - -
Independent Non-executive BUINTEE
Directors
Mr. Lo Tung Sing Tony HRETE 10/16 (V4] 5/5 3/4 2/2
Mr. EDE, Ronald Hao Xi EDE, Ronald Hao Xi % & 11/16 i 5/5 4/4 2/2
Ms. Lam Ming Yee Joan MBAEL L 12/16 11 5/5 3/4 2/2
At least 14 days’ notice of regular board meeting is given to all Directors. ExgrfeanRaERneas Jr@%ﬁu %

The agenda and board papers are sent to the Directors at least 3 days
before the meetings of the Board and board committees so that the
Directors have the time to review the documents. Directors can include
matters for discussion in the agenda if the need arises. Minutes of
meetings of the Board and board committees are recorded in sufficient
details that matters considered and decisions reached. The draft and final
versions of the minutes will be sent to Directors within a reasonable time
after the meetings. Minutes of meetings of the Board and board
committees are kept by the company secretary of the Company and open

for inspection on reasonable notice by any Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

Directors understand the importance of continuous professional
development and are willing to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. This is to ensure that their contribution into the Board remains

informed and relevant.

The Directors are committed to complying with the CG Code C.1.4 on
Directors’ training. All Directors had participated in continuous professional
development and provided a record of training they received for the year
ended 31 December 2022 to the Company.

The individual training record of each Director received for the year ended
31 December 2022 is set out below:
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Briefings and updates on Attending or participating

the listing rules, business, in seminars/conferences

operations, and corporate relevant to the

governance matters management or business

BERALTRE - ¥EH - EER HESNSMEEE

Directors 2= TEEREEZERREN ERERZEE g8

Ms. Li Kei Ling THL LA+ v v

Mr. Hung Yung Lai BERIME A& v v

Mr. Chen Shaojun REELE(R_E_= - -
(resigned on 16 February 2022) —A+]NHEMT)

Mr. Leung Hong Man PER&AE v -

Mr. Lo Tung Sing Tony BRI E v -

Mr. EDE, Ronald Hao Xi EDE, Ronald Hao Xi %4 v 4

Ms. Lam Ming Yee Joan MEAELZ * v/ v
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APPOINTMENTS AND ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The nomination committee will consider the appointment of new Directors
first by reviewing the profiles of the candidates and making
recommendations to the Board. New Directors appointed by the Board
during the year to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall
retire and submit themselves for re-election at the first general meeting
immediately followed their appointment.

Non-executive Directors are appointed for a fixed term of two years and
are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election by shareholders at
annual general meeting in accordance with the Company’s articles of

association (the “Articles”).

According to the Company’s Articles, at each annual general meeting,
one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years at the annual general meeting. All retiring

Directors shall be eligible for re-election.

Every newly appointed Director will receive a comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on his first appointment to have a proper understanding
of the operations and business of the Group and that he is fully aware of
his responsibilities under statute and common law, the Listing Rules,
applicable legal requirements and other regulatory requirements and the
business and governance policies of the Company. The Directors
endeavour to give sufficient time and attention to the Group’s affairs and
are continually updated with legal and regulatory developments, business
and market changes and the strategic development of the Group to
facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The day-to-day management of the Group is delegated to the
management by the Board, with division heads responsible for individual

department’s daily operations.

Major corporate matters that are specifically delegated by the Board to the
management include the preparation of interim and annual reports and
announcements for the Board’s approval before publishing, execution of
business strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board, implementation
of adequate systems of internal controls and risk management procedures,
and compliance with relevant statutory requirements and rules and

regulations.

SUPPLY OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION

The management has the obligation to supply the Board with monthly
updates and adequate information to enable it to make informed decisions
on matters placed before it. Where any Director requires more information
than is volunteered by the management, each Director has separate and
independent access to the Group’s management to make further enquires
if necessary. Where queries are raised by Directors, management will

respond as promptly and fully as possible.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under Code Provision of the CG Code C.2.1, the roles of the chairman (the
“Chairman”) and the chief executive officer (the “CEQ”) should be
separated and should not be performed by the same individual. The Board
has appointed Ms. Li Kei Ling as the Chairman. She has executive
responsibilities and provides leadership to the Board such as ensuring all
Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at board meetings and
received complete and reliable information in a timely manner so that the
Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities. During 2022,
Mr. Chen Shaojun resigned as the Executive Director and CEO of the
Company with effect from 16 February 2022. Mr. Wu Weixian succeeded
Mr. Chen Shaojun to be the CEO of the Company. CEO is delegated with
the authority and responsibility for managing the Group’s business
operation and implementing the development strategies. CEO will
periodically present the updated market situation, long term strategies and
objectives of the Group, quarterly results to the Board at the Board
meeting. Variances analysis between the actual performances and the
budget targets are explained in the meeting. This helps the Board to
monitor the Group’s business operations and to amend the targets when
required. In addition, CEO will also present the coming year budget
summary to the Board for approval at the Board meeting held in December
each year.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The management provides explanation and information to the Board so as
to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the financial and
other information put before the approval by the Board.

The Directors and CEO acknowledge their responsibility to prepare
financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group and in presenting the interim and annual
financial statements and announcements to shareholders. The Board is
not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt
upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, the Board
therefore continues to adopt the going concern approach in preparing the
accounts.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to present a balanced, clear
and understandable assessment in the Company’s annual and interim
reports and other financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules,
and reports to the regulators as well as the information required to be
disclosed pursuant to the statutory requirements.

The responsibilities of the auditors to the shareholders are set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 69 to 75.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for overseeing the Group’s risk
management (including ESG risks) and internal control systems and
reviewing their effectiveness at least annually through the Audit Committee.
The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight and
corporate governance roles in the Group’s financial, operational,
compliance, risk management (including ESG risks) and internal controls,
and the resourcing of the finance and internal audit functions.

The CEO and senior management of the Group is responsible for the
design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management (including
ESG risks) and internal control systems. Appropriate policies and controls
have been set and established to ensure that assets are safeguarded
against improper use or disposal, relevant rules and regulations are
adhered to and complied with, reliable financial and accounting records
are maintained in accordance with relevant accounting standards and
regulatory reporting requirements, and key risks that may impact on the
Group’s performance are appropriately identified and managed. However
the systems and internal controls can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss, as they are
designed to manage, rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives.
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The Group’s internal control system is designed to safeguard assets
against misappropriation and unauthorized disposition and to manage
operational risks. Of which including:

(1)  establishing written policies and work flow for major operations and
production cycles to ensure compliance with applicable laws,
regulations, and industry standards;

(2) clearly defined the authorities and key responsibilities of each
business and operational unit, having in place appropriate
segregation of duties and setting proper authorization levels to
ensure adequate checks and balances; and

(8) rules and guidelines are set to control treasury activities, financial and
management reporting, human resources functions and computer
systems’ operations.

The Group’s risk management framework includes the following elements:

(i) identify significant risks in the Group’s operation environment and
evaluate the impacts of those risks on the Group’s business;

(i)  develop necessary measures to mitigate, reduce or transfer such
risks; and

(i)~ monitor and review the effectiveness of such measures.

The Group has embedded its risk management systems into the core
operating practices of the business. On an ongoing basis, business and
operational units assess and identify their potential risks which may impact
on their ability to achieve their business objectives and/or those of the
Group. The head of each unit has to complete relevant risk and control
self-assessment questionnaires and confirm to the CEO that appropriate
internal control policies and procedures have been established and
properly complied with. CEO conducts review of the effectiveness of risk
management annually and presents report to the Audit Committee after

review.
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In addition, the Board monitors and reviews the adequacy and
effectiveness of the internal control systems through a programme of
internal audit. The internal audit department is set up by the Company to
review the major operational and financial control of the Group in
compliance with the established processes and standards on a continuing
basis and aims to cover all major operations of the Group on a rotational
basis. The internal audit department reports directly to the Chairman of the
Board and the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee examines the
internal audit department’s review and opinions about operational
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system and reports to the
Board.

During 2022, based on the internal audit report and the risk management
report presented by internal audit department and CEO respectively, the
Audit Committee and the Board were not aware of any areas of concern
that would have a material impact on the Group’s financial position or
results of operations and considered the risk management (including ESG
risks) and internal control systems to be generally effective and adequate
including the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programs and budget of the accounting, internal audit, financial
reporting functions and those relating to ESG performance and reporting.

INSIDE INFORMATION POLICY

The Company has established policy to ensure that inside information is
disseminated to the public in an equal and timely manner in accordance
with applicable laws and regulations. Access to inside information is at all
times confined to relevant senior management executed on “as needed”
basis, until proper disclosure or dissemination of inside information is made
in accordance with applicable laws and regulation. Relevant personnel and
other professional parties involved are reminded to preserve confidentiality
of the inside information until it is publicly disclosed.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the nomination committee, remuneration
committee and audit committee. The committees’ terms of references
defined their functions and responsibilities have been posted on the
Company’s website.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2022, the nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) had Ms. Li Kei Ling as the committee’s
chairman, and the three Independent Non-executive Directors, Mr. Lo
Tung Sing Tony, Mr. EDE, Ronald Hao Xi and Ms. Lam Ming Yee Joan as
the committee’s members. The Nomination Committee’s terms of

reference are summarized as follows:

(1)  to review the structure, size and composition (including the skill,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

(2)  to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and to select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

(8) to assess the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors;
and

(4)  to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, in
particular the chairman and the chief executive officer.

During the year 2022, the Nomination Committee had four meetings to
review the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors and the
qualification of candidate for re-election in the AGM, the recommendation
the appointment of CEQ, the renewal of Directors’ letter of appointment.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity across
the organization, and endorse the view that a diverse Board is a key
elements of an effective Board. The Nomination Committee adopted a
board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) which seeks to achieve
board diversity through the consideration of a number of factors, including
but not limited to ethnicity, working experience, professional skills,
knowledge and length of service. The Company believes that increasing
diversity at the Board level is an important part of achieving its strategic
objectives and to attract and retain the best people. Appointments to the
Board shall be on merit, in the context of the skills and experience the
Board as a whole requires to be effective, and against objective criteria
and with due regard for the benefits of diversity.
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There are many considerations that factor into the Nomination
Committee’s nomination process including legal requirements, best
practices, and skills required to complement the Board’s skill set and the
number of Directors needed to discharge the duties of the Board and its
Committees. But it will not set any restrictions like gender, age, cultural or
educational background when short listing candidates. The Company
believes that a truly diverse Board will include and make good use of
differences in the skills, regional and industry experience, background and
other qualities of Directors. Measurable objectives include (i) at least one
Director is female; (i) at least one third of the Board members (but
minimum 3 directors) are Independent Non-executive Directors; and (jii) the
Board possesses a balance skills appropriate for the requirements of the
business of the Company. The Nomination Committee shall review the
diversity of the Board at least annually taking into account the Group’s
business model and specific needs and shall monitor the implementation
of the Board Diversity Policy and, if appropriate, make recommendations
on proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy.

DIVERSITY IN BOARD AND WORKFORCE

BOARD LEVEL

The Company have a diverse Board in terms of age, gender, academic
background, professional experience and industry expertise. The Board of
the Company currently comprises two female Directors and four male
Directors which has achieved gender diversity at the Board level and
targets to maintain the current level of female representation. The
Company will ensure that gender diversity is taken into account when
recruiting staff members of mid to senior level and ensure that sufficient
resources are available for providing appropriate trainings and career
development to develop a pipeline of potential successors to the Board
and maintain gender diversity.
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As at 31 December 2022, the composition of the Board of the Company

was as follows:
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WORKFORCE LEVEL

The development of the Group is closely related to the competence, skills
and team spirits of our employees. The Group appreciate their continuous
hard work that created the success of the Group today. As an equal
opportunity employer, the Group encourages gender diversity. The
Group’s recruitment strategy is to employ a right staff for a right position
regardless of the gender. The Group ensure that all employees are treated
fairly, and will not suffer any form of discrimination in respect of
remuneration, promotion and benefits. The Group also established talent
management and training programs to provide career development
guidance and promotion opportunities to develop a broad and diverse
pool of skilled and experienced employees.
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During the year under review, the Group was not aware of any mitigating
factors or circumstance which make achieving gender diversity across the
workforce (including senior management) more challenging or less relevant.
As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 1,106 employees (including
senior management) in total composing of 613 male and 493 female (i.e. a
male to female ratio of approximately 55:45).

NOMINATION POLICY

The Nomination Committee recommends candidates for nomination to the
Board, which approves the final choice of candidates. The Nomination
Committee was responsible to maintain the nomination policy of the
Company (the “Nomination Policy”) and review the same from time to time.
The objective of the Nomination Policy is to assist the Company in fulfilling
its duties and responsibilities as provided in its terms of reference. This
Nomination Policy sets out, inter alia, the selection criteria and the
evaluation procedures in nominating candidates to be appointed or
reappointed as Directors of the Company. The Nomination Committee
shall consider any and all candidates recommended as nominees for
Directors to the Committee by any Directors or Shareholders of the
Company in accordance with the Articles. The Nomination Committee may
also undertake its own search process for candidates and may retain the
services of professional search firms or other third parties to assist in
identifying and evaluating potential nominees. The Nomination Committee
shall endeavour to find individuals of high integrity who possess the
qualifications, qualities, skills, experience and independence (in case of
Independent Non-executive Directors) to effectively represent the best
interests of all Shareholders. Candidates will be selected for their ability to
exercise good judgment, and to provide practical insights and diverse
perspectives. The Nomination Committee may use any process it deems
appropriate for the purpose of evaluating candidates including personal
interviews, background checks, written submission by the candidates and
third party references. As far as practicable, nominees for each election or
appointment of Directors shall be evaluated using a substantially similar
process. The Nomination Committee believes that independence is an
important part of fulfiling the Directors’ duty to supervise the management
of the business and affairs of the Company. Non-executive Directors and
Executive Directors are required to disclose his/her competing businesses
to the Company. Cross-directorships in Hong Kong or overseas between
Directors are also reviewed annually. The Nomination Committee is
accountable for assessing whether any competing businesses or
interlocking directorships could materially interfere with the exercise of
objective and unfettered judgement by relevant Directors or their ability to
act in the best interests of the Group.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
As at 31 December 2022, the remuneration committee of the Company

(the “Remuneration Committee”) had Mr. EDE, Ronald Hao Xi, an

Independent Non-executive Director, as the committee’s chairman, Ms. Li

Kei Ling, and two Independent Non-executive Directors, Mr. Lo Tung Sing

Tony and Ms. Lam Ming Yee Joan as the committee’s members. The

Remuneration Committee’s terms of reference are summarized as follows:

(i)

(i)

(v)

(vi)

to recommend to the Board on the Group’s policy and structure of
all Directors and senior management remuneration and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing

remuneration policy;

to determine with delegated responsibility from the Board, the
remuneration packages of individual Executive Directors and senior

management;

to review and approve compensation payable to Executive Directors
and senior management for any loss or termination of office or

appointment;

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct;

to ensure that no Director or any of her/his associates is involved in

deciding her/his own remuneration; and

to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Group’s remuneration policy bases on the market practice, the

qualification, duties and responsibilities of Directors and employees. In

order to attract, retain, and motivate high-performance persons, the

Company has adopted share option scheme to reward those participants

who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
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The Board considers that the Executive Directors of the Company, CEO
and the chief financial officer are the key management personnel of the
Group. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the aggregate emoluments
payable to Directors, CEO and the chief financial officer were within the
following bands:

EEERAARBNTES  BHERKEETHEY
RAEBFEEBAB BHE_ZT-__F+_H
—T—HIEFE  ENES LRLRERVBEZE
FNFATEE -

Number of individuals

A
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 T #1%1,000,0007T 5
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 7 #51,000,001 7T 278 # 2,000,000 7T 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 7B 2,000,001 7T & A # 3,000,000 7T -
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 75 3,000,001 7T 278 # 4,000,000 7T 1

HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,000,000
HK$5,000,001 to HK$6,000,000
HK$6,000,001 to HK$7,000,000

Details of the amount of Directors’ and chief executive officer’s
emoluments are set out in note 8 to financial statements and the details of
the 2013 Share Option Scheme are set out in note 33 to financial
statements.

The Remuneration Committee had two meetings in 2022 to determine the

bonus of director and senior management, and remuneration of new CEQ.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) which was
established in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules for the
purpose of reviewing and providing supervision over the Group’s financial
reporting process and internal controls. The Audit Committee comprises
three Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company who among
themselves possess a wealth of management experience in the accounting
profession, commercial, medical and pharmaceutical sectors.

As at 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee’s chairman was Mr. Lo
Tung Sing Tony, while Mr. EDE, Ronald Hao Xi and Ms. Lam Ming Yee
Joan were the committee’s members. The Audit Committee’s terms of
reference are summarized as follows:

(i) to consider and recommend to the Board the independence,
appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditors;

(i)  to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditors, and to deal with any questions of its resignation or
dismissal;
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(i) to review financial information; and

(iv)  to oversee financial reporting system, risks management (including
ESG risks) and internal control system.

During the year 2022, the Audit Committee had five meetings, two of
which were held with external auditors without presence of Executive
Directors. The work performed by the Audit Committee for the year ended
31 December 2022 is summarized below:

(1) reviewed the external auditors’ independence, the terms of
engagement and approved the remuneration of the external auditors;

(2)  reviewed the annual audit plan of the external auditors and discussed
with them about the nature and scope of the audit;

(8) reviewed the Group’s interim financial information and annual
financial statements, before submission to the Board, discussed the
financial reporting matters and any areas of concerns during the
audits, including but not limited to the impact of the changes in
accounting policies and practices, and on the compliance with
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and the legal requirements;
and

(4)  reviewed internal audit report and annual audit plan of the internal
audit department and the effectiveness of internal audit function, risk
management (including ESG risks) and internal control systems.

The audited financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2022 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee before
recommending them to the Board for approval.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

Ernst & Young has been reappointed as the Company’s external auditors
at the AGM on 27 May 2022 until the conclusion of the next AGM. During
the year 2022, the remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s
external auditors in respect of services provided was as follow:

Fees for statutory audit service amounted to RMB2,200,000.

Fees for non-audit services amounted to RMB990,000.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Pang Kit Ling, the company secretary of the Company, is a full time
employee of the Group. During the year, the company secretary of the
Company confirmed that she had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Pursuant to Articles 58 of the Company’s Articles of Association, any one
or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting the shareholder(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the shareholder(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed

to the shareholder(s) by the Company.

There is no provision allowing shareholders to move new resolutions at
general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law or the
Articles of Association of the Company. Shareholders who wish to move a
resolution may request the Company to convene a general meeting
following the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

As regards, proposing a person for election as a director, please refer to
the procedures available on the website of the Company.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board in writing to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong at Units 3001-02, 30/F, CNT Tower, 338 Hennessy Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

With a view to enhancing corporate governance, reflecting the latest
changes of the applicable laws and regulations (including the Listing
Rules), and with the Company’s shareholders’ approval in annual general
meeting, the Company had adopted an Amended and Restated Articles of
Association (the “Amended and Restated Articles of Association”) on 27
May 2022. The Amended and Restated Articles of Association is available
on both the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.
Details of the changes are set out in the circular of the Company dated 22
April 2022 pages 16 to 89.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Company considers that effective communication with its shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of
the Group’s business performance and strategies. The objective of the
Company’s shareholder’s communication policy is to disclose relevant
corporate information to shareholders in a timely manner. The Company
establishes and maintains different communication channels with its
shareholders. In addition to the publication of annual report and interim
report to shareholders, the Company’s website which contains corporate
information, corporate governance practice, interim and annual reports,
announcements and circulars issued by the Company enables all
shareholders and potential investors to have timely and updated
information of the Company. Shareholders may raise questions or make a
request for the Company’s information to the extent such information is
publicly available by email or by post to the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong.

The Company’s AGM is a valuable forum for the Board to communicate
directly with the shareholders. The Chairman of the Board attends the
AGM and arranges the chairman of the committees or in the absence of
the chairman of such committees, another member of the committees to
be available to answer questions at the AGM. The Chairman proposes
separate resolutions for each issue to be considered, including the election
of Directors, and put each proposed resolution to the vote by way of a poll.
Voting results are posted on the Company’s website on the day of AGM.
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During the year under review, an annual general meeting of the Company
was held on 27 May 2022 at which all Directors except Mr. Lo Tung Sing
Tony could not attend due to his other business, the CEO, the chief
financial officer of the Company and the auditor attended either by person
or by means of electronic facilities to communicate with the shareholders
of the Company. In addition, all corporate communications and regulatory
announcements were published by the Company’s website and the
website of the Stock Exchange in a timely manner. Taking into account the
variety of existing channels for communication, the shareholder’s
communication policy is considered to have been effectively implemented.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company aims to provide its shareholders with a target annual
dividend payout ratio between 25% to 50% of the profit after tax
attributable to owners of the parent in any financial year subject to the
following factors:

1. the Company’s actual and expected cash flow positions and financial
performance;

2. projected capital expenditure, future expansion plans and growth
opportunities;

3.  the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity and the relevant

financial covenants;

4. general economic conditions and business cycle of the Group’s core

business;

5. general expectation of shareholders and investors of the Company;
and

6.  any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Board will declare dividends semi-annually. The payment of final
dividend is subject to the approval of Shareholders and scrip dividend
distribution option also may be provided for the election of the
Shareholders in relation to the payment of final dividend in any financial
year. This dividend policy and the declaration and/or payment of dividends
under this policy are subject to the Board’s continuing determination that
this dividend policy and the declaration and/or payment of dividends would
be in the best interests of the Group and the Shareholders, and are in
compliance with all applicable laws and regulations.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. LI, Kei Ling, aged 74, is an Executive Director and Chairman of the
Company. Ms. Li is one of the founders of the Group. She founded the
Group in December 1995 and was appointed to the Board in October
2002. She was also the chief executive officer of the Company from 1
March 2015 to 17 April 2016. Ms. Li is also the Chairman of Dawnrays
International Co., Ltd., Dawnrays International Company Limited (3 % &
B BBR A E]), Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Dawnrays
(Nantong) Pharmaceutical Science and Technology Co., Ltd., Fujian
Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Nanjing PharmaRays Science and
Technology Co., Ltd., Guangzhou PharmaRays Science and Technology
Co., Ltd., Lanzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Dawnrays Pharma
(Hong Kong) Ltd., which are all subsidiaries of the Company. She is the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee. Ms. Li has over thirty years of experience in
corporate management, strategic planning, business operations and
finance, in particular for pharmaceutical enterprises in the PRC. She is
responsible for supervising the strategic management decisions to ensure
good corporate governance practices and business policies are
established, and executing the overall developmental strategies of the
Group.

Mr. HUNG, Yung Lai, aged 78, is an Executive Director of the Company
and one of the founders of the Group. Mr. Hung founded the Group in
December 1995 and was appointed to the Board in October 2002. Mr.
Hung also holds directorship in Dawnrays International Co., Ltd., Dawnrays
Biotechnology Capital (Asia) Ltd., Dawnrays International Company Limited
(RIGEFR D B BR A Al), Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.,
Dawnrays (Nantong) Pharmaceutical Science and Technology Co., Ltd.,
Fujian Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Lanzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Nanjing PharmaRays Science and Technology
Co., Ltd., Guangzhou PharmaRays Science and Technology Co., Ltd.,
Lanzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., and Dawnrays Pharma
(Hong Kong) Ltd., which are all subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Hung
holds a degree from )8 & %420 (Shanghai Conservatory of Music). He
has over thirty years of experience in corporate management and
corporate development, and has participated in founding and managing of
pharmaceutical and high-tech enterprises. Mr. Hung is a director and
chairman of AD Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd., an associate of the Group. Mr.
Hung was an executive director and the chairman of Sing Lee Software
(Group) Ltd., a company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the
Stock Exchange during May 2001 to October 2022.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies

EERSREEEBE
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. LEUNG, Hong Man, aged 48, is a Non-executive Director of the
Company. He joined the Group and was appointed to the Board in
November 2005. Mr. Leung has started his business career in knitting
machinery since 1993. He has over ten years experience in sales and
management and also over ten years experience in finance and property
investments. In recent years, Mr. Leung has strived to exploit business in
hi-tech agriculture and arts and cultural industries. Mr. Leung currently is
the shareholder and the director of Toyo International Investment Ltd.,
which has been one of the substantial shareholders (as required to be
disclosed under Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance) of the
Company since September 2005.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LO, Tung Sing Tony, aged 54, is an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Lo joined the Group in October 2010. He is
the Chairman of the Audit Committee, a member of the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company respectively.
Mr. Lo has extensive experience in financial management and business
development in Hong Kong and multinational companies. He obtained his
Bachelor degree in Business Administration from The Chinese University of
Hong Kong and Master of Science in Financial Management from The
University of London. Mr. Lo is an associate member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He currently holds the position of

Director of Finance at The University of Hong Kong.

Mr. EDE, Ronald Hao Xi, aged 64, is an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company. Mr. EDE joined the Group in June 2015 and was
appointed as a Non-executive Director. He was re-designated as an
Independent Non-executive Director, the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company with effect from 1 July 2017. Mr. EDE has
extensive experience in financial and business management in multinational
companies. He obtained his Bachelor degree in Business Administration
from The University of Hawaii and a Master of Business Administration
degree from The University of Washington. He is also a fellow member of
the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants. In January 2017, Mr.
EDE was appointed as an independent non-executive director of Mindray
Medical International Ltd. (a company listed on Shenzhen Stock
Exchange). Mr. EDE currently holds the position of executive director and
chief financial officer of Innovent Biologics Inc. (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited).
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies

Ms. LAM, Ming Yee Joan, aged 55, is an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company. Ms. Lam joined the Group in May 2018. She is a
member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company respectively. Ms. Lam earned her
bachelor degree in accountancy from City University of Hong Kong. She is
a certified public accountant in Hong Kong. Ms. Lam has extensive
experience in the finance and accounting field, gained from major

international financial institutions and listed company in Hong Kong.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. WU, Weixian, aged 54, is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
Mr. Wu has been appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company
from 16 February 2022 to take charge of daily business operations and
management of the Group. Mr. Wu joined the Group in April 2019. He was
the director and general manager of Nanjing PharmaRays Science and
Technology Co., Ltd., a non-wholly owned subsidiary of Suzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company) and Guangzhou PharmaRays Science and Technology Co.,
Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary of Nanjing PharmaRays Science and
Technology Co., Ltd. Mr. Wu holds directorship in Suzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Fujian Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., and
Lanzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.. Mr. Wu obtained his
Bachelor degree of Medicine from Guangzhou Medical College (renamed
as Guangzhou Medicine University in 2013) and Diploma in Management
from China Europe International Business School. Mr. Wu worked in a
number of multinational corporations or sino-foreign joint ventures. From
March 1997 to August 2009, he successively served as the sales manager
of Beijing Novartis Pharma Co., Ltd. Guangzhou Site first and the
marketing manager of Beijing Novartis Pharma Co., Ltd. Beijing
Headquarter. In 2007, he had been delegated to work in Novartis
Pharmaceuticals Corporation’s United States Oncology Drug Division in
New Jersey for one year. Mr. Wu has over twenty-eight years of experience
in pharmaceutical industry and specializes in planning and management of
sales, marketing and business development of pharmaceutical products.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies

EERSREEEBE
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. WU, Yijun, aged 59, is the Chief Financial Officer of the Group. Mr.
Wau is responsible for the Group’s financial management including financial
planning, capital budgeting, execution of costing, budget planning and
monitoring. Mr. Wu holds directorship in Fujian Dawnrays Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd., Lanzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Nanjing
PharmaRays Science and Technology Co., Ltd. and Guangzhou
PharmaRays Science and Technology Co., Ltd. which are all subsidiaries
of the Company. Mr. Wu obtained a Bachelor degree of Accountancy from
Nanjing Audit Institute (renamed as Nanjing Audit University in 2015). He
attained senior accountant and economist qualification in the PRC. Mr. Wu
has over thirty years’ experience in internal control, budgeting, financial
management, investment and financing, economic management and
PRC'’s taxation regulations. Mr. Wu joined the Group in December 2002.
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The board of Directors (the “Board”) herein present their report and the
audited financial statements of Dawnrays Pharmaceutical (Holdings)
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to financial
statements. The Group disposed 35% equity interest of Su Zhou Xinshen
Pharmaceutical Science and Technology Co., Ltd. (Formerly known as Su
Zhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Science and Technology Co., Ltd.,) to a
third party on 26 January 2022. Further details were set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 26 January 2022. The Group acquired
the 3.125% of the paid-up equity interest of Lanzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical C. Ltd. held by Xiangbei Welman Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
for USD1,291,490 in July 2022. After acquisition, Dawnrays International
Company Ltd. transferred 100% of share interest of Lanzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. and Fujian Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. to
Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. established the domestic
Suzhou Dawnrays headquarter of the Group. Save as disclosed above,
there were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the state of
affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in the
audited financial statements on pages 76 to 197.

An interim dividend of HK$0.015 per ordinary share was paid on 5 October
2022. The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of
HK$0.073 per ordinary share in respect of the year, to shareholders on the
register of members on 2 June 2023. This recommendation has been
incorporated in the financial statements as an allocation of retained profits
within the equity section of the statement of financial position.
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Report of the Directors
EEEHRE
BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of the Group’s business for the year ended 31 December 2022 are
presented in “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 6 to 9 and pages 11 to 17 respectively. The “Financial
Review” on pages 17 to 25 also includes an analysis of the Group’s
financial key performance indicators during the year. Future developments
in the Group’s business are disclosed in “Chairman’s Statement” on pages

9 to 10 and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 11 to 14.

The applicable discussion and analysis as cross-referenced above shall
form an integral part of this Report of the Directors.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 24 October 2022, Dawnrays Biotechnology entered into a loan
contract with AD Pharmaceuticals. Dawnrays Biotechnology agreed to
provide an unsecured interest-bearing loan to AD Pharmaceuticals for a
total of RMB105,000,000 with an interest rate of 3.5% per annum for a
term of five years. Dawnrays Biotechnology provided a loan of
RMB66,500,000 in January and February 2023.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Details about the Group’s financial risk management objectives and
policies are disclosed in note 37 to financial statements. The following risks
and uncertainties may affect the results and business operations of the
Group, some of which are inherent to pharmaceutical sector and some are

from external sources.

(1) DRUG APPROVAL PROCESS IN RELATION TO PRODUCTS

UNDER DEVELOPMENT

The actual timing of the market launch of products under
development could vary significantly from our estimates due to a
number of factors including delays or failures in our pre-clinical
studies or clinical trials, the lengthy approval process and the
uncertainties in the outcome of regulatory approval process. If any of
the necessary approvals in relation to products under development
is delayed or not obtained, this could adversely affect the timing of
the market launch of the products. The Group is committed to
investing in research and development of new drugs in order to

ensure a rich product pipeline.
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TENDER AND PRICE CONTROL

The Group has to participate in a government-led tender process
every year or every few years. In the event that the Group fails to win
the tender in a tender process, the sale of the Group’s products to
public hospitals in such provinces will be prohibited and the Group
will lose market share of that part. In addition, certain new methods
have been recently adopted in the tender process for centralized
procurement of drugs, which may exert further downward pressure
against the price of pharmaceutical products and the Group’s market
share, revenue and profitability may be adversely affected. The
Group has a team of staff monitoring and handling the drug tenders
with the objective of winning the tenders for the Group’s products at
a desirable price level.

HEALTHCARE REFORM IN CHINA

The healthcare system in the PRC is undergoing a crucial reform
period, where laws, regulations and policies in effect governing the
medical, healthcare and pharmaceutical industry are constantly
evolving. New policies implementation may have material effects to
the Group. It may also incur significant costs, divert the resources
and attention of the management and thus leading to more
uncertainties and risks in respect of the Group’s business and
operation.

PRC ENVIRONMENTAL AND SAFETY REGULATIONS

The PRC government amends relevant laws, rules and regulations
from time to time in order to impose a more stringent standard for
environmental and safety protection. The Group is subject to such
laws, rules and regulations including but not limited to those in
relation to the discharge of gaseous waste, liquid waste and solid
waste, noise pollution and the safety of the workers during the
manufacturing process. Any violation of these laws, rules or
regulations may result in substantial fines, criminal sanctions,
revocation of operating permits, shutdown of the production facilities
and obligations to take corrective measures.

)
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Report of the Directors
EEEHRE
ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Board is well aware of the importance of environmental protection on
the Group’s sustainability and stable development. The Group strives to
improve product quality while achieving the best balance between cost
control and environmental protection, devotes to be a resource-saving and
environment-friendly enterprise with low energy and resources
consumption and low level of discharge on wastages. The Group has
established an environmental management system to promote clean
production, to reduce pollution and to reduce the risk of environmental
accidents. The Group also evaluates environmental and social risks of its
suppliers on a regular basis to ensure the safety of its supply chains.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The environmental, social and governance report of the Company
prepared in accordance with Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules is available
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the Company’s
website.

COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Directors and management are aware, for the year ended 31
December 2022, the Group has complied in all material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business
and operations of the Group.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS

(1) EMPLOYEES
Being people-oriented, the Group ensures all staff are reasonable
remunerated and also continues to improve and regularly review and
update its policies on remuneration and benefits, training,
occupational health and safety. The staff and remuneration policy are
presented in “Management Discussion and Analysis” on page 24.

(20 SUPPLIERS
The Group has established a supplier management system to
handpick suppliers through a screening and evaluation process
based on quality and price. Furthermore, the Group also carries out
field audit on its suppliers when necessary, with a view to make
endeavor to ensure its suppliers are equipped to provide guarantees
on quality, as well as safety and other environmental issues that
require managerial skills. Such audit cover a number of areas,
including productivity, technical standards, quality assurance, supply
capability, as well as safety and environmental management
credentials.
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(3) DISTRIBUTORS

The Group sells some of products to customers through third-party
distributors. The Group works closely with distributors to ensure that
the Group shares the view for upholding brand value and customer
services, specifically focusing on attracting and retaining customers
in order to drive sales growth. The Group also requires distributors to
comply with the Group’s policies and promotional activities
standards. The Group also monitors the financial condition and
repayment history of distributors.

(4) CUSTOMERS

The Group maintains a good relationship with its customers and
constantly endeavours to deliver quality products and services to its
customers. The Group also directs dedicated efforts to deal with
complaints about relevant products and has established relevant
processes to handle complaints. In addition the Group has assigned
staff to investigate customers’ complaint cases and provide timely
feedbacks in order to safeguard customers’ benefits.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 26 to 46 of the annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group’s emolument policy bases on the market practice, the
qualification, duties and responsibilities of Directors and employees. Other
fringe benefits, including defined contribution retirement schemes, share
option scheme and medical cover are also provided.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE INDIVIDUALS
WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid individuals
during the year are set out in notes 8 and 9 to financial statements.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published
audited financial statements, is set out on page 198. This summary does
not form part of the audited financial statements.
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DONATION

During the year, the Group made charitable donation amounting to
RMB199,000.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND LAND LEASE

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment and land lease of
the Company and the Group during the year are set out in notes 14 and

15 to financial statements, respectively.
INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had RMB6,434,000 interest-bearing

bank and other borrowings.
SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in note 32 to financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 December 2022, neither the Company, nor any
of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s

listed securities.
RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group

during the year are set out in consolidated statement of changes in equity
and note 34 to financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2022 the Company’s reserves available for distribution
amounted to RMB233,239,000, of which RMB95,975,000 has been
proposed as a final dividend for the year. Under the Companies Act, Cap.
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium account of the Company of approximately
RMB2,911,000 as at 31 December 2022 is distributable to the
shareholders of the Company provided that immediately following the date
on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be
in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business. The share premium account may also be distributed in the form

of fully paid bonus shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for 15.19% of the total sales for the year and sales to the
largest customer included therein amounted to 4.53%. Purchases from the
Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 26.66% of the total purchases
for the year and purchases from the largest supplier included therein
amounted to 11.18%.

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest

in the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Li Kei Ling

Mr. Hung Yung Lai

Mr. Chen Shaojun (resigned on 16 February 2022)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Leung Hong Man
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Lo Tung Sing Tony

Mr. EDE, Ronald Hao Xi

Ms. Lam Ming Yee Joan

In accordance with the article 84 of the Company’s articles of association
(the “Articles”), Mr. Hung Yung Lai and Mr. Leung Hong Man wiill retire by
rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM”).

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from
Mr. Lo Tung Sing Tony, Mr. EDE, Ronald Hao Xi and Ms. Lam Ming Yee
Joan and as at the date of this report still considers them to be
independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND KEY MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

The Board considers the executive directors of the Company, CEO and
the chief financial officer are the key management personnel of the Group.

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company, CEO and the chief
financial controller are set out on pages 47 to 50 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Ms. Li Kei Ling entered into a service contract with the Company for a term
of two years which commenced on 1 July 2003. Ms. Li’s service contract
was renewed for a term of three years which commenced on 1 July 2005
and continued thereafter for successive terms of three years. Her
appointment is subject to termination by either party giving not less than
three months’ written notice. Ms. Li is currently entitled to director’s fee
and other remuneration from the Group totally HK$1,162,800 per year.

Mr. Hung Yung Lai entered into a service contract with the Company for a
term of two years which commenced on 1 July 2003. Mr. Hung’s service
contract was renewed for a term of three years which commenced on 1
July 2005 and continued thereafter for successive terms of three years. His
appointment is subject to termination by either party giving not less than
three months’ written notice. Mr. Hung is currently entitled to director’s fee
and other remuneration from the Group totally HK$742,800 per year.
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Mr. Leung Hong Man entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of two years which commenced on 1 November 2005
and continued thereafter for successive terms of two years. Mr. Leung is
currently entitled to a basic annual remuneration of HK$300,000. Mr.
Leung’s appointment is subject to termination by either party giving not
less than one month’s written notice. Save for the above director’s fee, Mr.
Leung is not entitled to any other remuneration.

Mr. Lo Tung Sing Tony entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of two years which commenced on 1 October 2010
and continued thereafter for successive terms of two years. Mr. EDE,
Ronald Hao Xi entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a
term of two years commenced on 15 June 2015. As Mr. EDE was re-
designated as Independent Non-executive Director, he entered into a new
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of two years
commenced on 1 July 2017 and continued thereafter for successive terms
of two years. Ms. Lam Ming Yee Joan entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company for a term of two years which commenced on 25 May
2018 and continued thereafter for successive terms of two years. Each of
Mr. Lo’s, Mr. EDE’s and Ms. Lam’s appointment is respectively subject to
termination by either party giving not less than one month’s written notice.
Each of Mr. Lo, Mr. EDE and Ms. Lam is currently entitled to an annual
remuneration of HK$360,000. Save for the above directors’ fees, the three
Independent Non-executive Directors are not entitled to any other
remuneration.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
contract of significance to the business of the Group. There was no
contract of significance between the Group, its controlling shareholder or
any of its subsidiaries during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or were in existence during the year.
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COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

According to the Company’s competition and conflict of interest policy, a
board member’s serving as a director and/or officer of an entity that
competes with the Group’s business is involving a conflict of interest. A
director involves in such kind of conflict of interest shall not be present in
the meeting and participate in or be permitted to hear the Board’s
discussion of related matters. A director who has a conflict of interest with
respect to a contract or transaction that will be voted on at a meeting shall
not be counted in determining the presence of a quorum for purposes of
the vote.

Mr. EDE, Ronald Hao Xi (Mr. EDE), an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company, has been serving as Executive Director and chief financial
officer of a listed company in Hong Kong. Part of that listed company’s
business is competing with the business of the Group’s associate and so
Mr. EDE is involving a conflict of interest under the Group’s competition
and conflict of interest policy. To avoid such a possible conflict, during the
year under review, upon agreement with Mr. EDE, he was not present or
abstain from voting in meetings when the Board discussed, decided and
voted on the matters and business with respect to the Group’s associate.

Except abovementioned, in the opinion of the Directors, none of the
Directors, the substantial shareholders of the Company and any of their
respective close associates has engaged in any businesses that competes
or may compete, either directly or indirectly with the business of the Group
or has any other conflict of interests with the Group during the year under
review which are required to be disclosed under the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director is entitled to be indemnified out of
the assets of the Company against all costs, charges, expenses, losses
and liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or about the execution and/
or discharge of his duties and/or the exercise of his powers and/or
otherwise in relation to or in connection with his duties, powers or offices,

to the extent as permitted by laws.

The Company has acquired insurance coverage on Directors’ and officers’
liabilities which provides certain indemnities against liabilities incurred in
respect of any legal actions which may be taken against Directors and
officers in the execution and discharge of their duties or in relation thereto.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the year or
subsisting at the end of the year are set out below:

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme which was approved by
the shareholders at the annual general meeting on 24 May 2013 and was
effective on 21 June 2013 (the “2013 Share Option Scheme” or “Scheme”).
The Scheme will remain in force for 10 years from the effective date until
20 June 2023 with purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
persons (including the Company’s Directors, Independent Non- executive
Directors, employees of the Group and other eligible participants as
defined under the 2013 Share Option Scheme) who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. As the shareholders of the Company
approved share sub-division, the number and exercise price of share
options and the closing price of the Company’s shares at immediate date
before the grant had been adjusted on 6 August 2018. The detailed
disclosures relating to the Scheme including the purposes and the eligible
participants of the Scheme and valuation of options are set out in note 33
to financial statements. The total number of shares available for issue
under the Scheme is 156,428,800 shares representing approximately
10.44% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this

annual report.
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year were as follows:

Name or category
of participant

Director
Mr. Chen Shaojun (g)

Chief Executive
Officer
Mr. Wu Weixian (g)

Other employees
In aggregate

Consultant
Mr. Lam Kam Wah (f)

Other participant
In aggregate

s8%
AHRER

£
BAELEE

BH
HBERLN

AtgRE

At

Movements of Company’s share options under the Scheme during the REA
Number of share options
EREHE

Date of
At Granted Exercised Lapsed At grant of share
1 January during during during 31 December options (a)
2022 the year theyear  the year (d) 2022 (dd/mm/yy)
R R RHERE
St St 3 AH()
-A-B  ERERY  FREAE FRBAMW TZAZt-R  (R/R/%)
32,000,000 - - (32,000,000) - 28/08/19

32,000,000 - - (32,000,000) -
- 6,000,000 - - 6,000,000 29/04/22

- 6,000,000 - - 6,000,000
3,000,000 - - (3,000,000) - 11/05/16
9,700,000 - - (2,500,000) 7,200,000 29117
13,292,000 - - (5,340,000) 7,952,000 09/0119
14,380,000 - - (2,240,000) 12,140,000 28/08/19
14,852,000 - (452,000) (3,100,000 11,300,000 26/08/20
3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 31/03/21
- 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 29/04/22

58,224,000 5,000,000 (452,000 (16,180,000) 46,592,000
400,000 - - - 400,000 291117
360,000 - - - 360,000 09/01/19
360,000 - - - 360,000 28/08/19
480,000 - - - 480,000 26/08/20

1,600,000 - - - 1,600,000
- 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 29/04/22

- 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000

91,824,000 12,000000 (52,0000 (48,180,000) 55,192,000
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Exercise
period of
share options
(dd/mm/yy)

BReE
friesm
(B/B/%)

01/06/22-30/04/24

20/04/23-28/04/28

11/05/17-10/05/22
20/11/18-28/11/23
09/01/20-08/01/25
28/08/20-27/08/25
26/08/21-25/08/26
31/08/22-30/03/27
20/04/23-28/04/28

29/11/18-28/11/23
09/01/20-08/01/25
26/08/20-27/08/25
26/08/21-25/08/26

20/04/23-28/04/28

Exercise
price of
share
options (b)

BiRE
& (D)
HK$
B

1.380

1.134

3170
2125
1.500
1.380
0.900
1.470
1134

2125
1.500
1.380
0.900

1.134
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Closing
price of the
Company’s

shares
immediately

before the date
of the grant (c)
SERLE
BRI -X
RAFRB
W (c)
HKS$

Bl

1.300

1.130

3145
2.095
1.460
1.300
0.900
1.500
1130

2.0%
1.460
1.300
0.900

1.130



(@  The vesting period of the share options is from the date of the grant

until the commencement of the exercise period.

(b)  The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in
the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the
Company’s share capital.

(c)  The price of the Company’s shares disclosed as immediately before
the grant of the share options is the Stock Exchange closing price on
the trading day immediately prior to the date of grant of the options.

(d) Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme due to
resignation of employees or still not exercised at the expiry date.

(e)  Mr. Chen Shaojun resigned on 16 February 2022 and Mr. Wu
Weixian was appointed as chief executive officer of the Company on
16 February 2022.

(f) Mr. Lam Kam Wah, is a retired former vice president of the
Company, who has subsequently become a consultant of the Group,
and the accumulated outstanding options which were granted to him
before his retirement exceeded 0.1% of the issued shares as at the
date of this report.

The weighted average closing price of Company’s shares immediately
before the dates on which the options were exercised by employees was
HK$1.23. During the year, no options granted under 2013 Share Option
Scheme were cancelled by the Company.

The number of options available for grant under the Scheme at the
beginning and the end of the reporting period was 65,056,800 and
101,236,800 respectively.

The number of shares that may be issued in respect of options granted
under the Scheme during reporting period divided by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during reporting period was 0.8%.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and Chief Executive Officer in the shares or underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)),
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company:

ESNAFRROREBERONESZNRAR

RZFBZZF+ZA=+—H8 EFRBENAER
Ak E AR AR (T & R A KA E GO ([ % F &
B0 EXVED) B - BEERGD REHF - #E
SEHERNARBRBEES RAEEHIE 2 KFERNE
ft RBEETAREFETES I HHEEST
BIZERE AN R REZ T s oA B &I T

RARBEBRP TR

Number of ordinary shares held, capacity and nature of interest
BFENRODEE  SHRERME

Directly

beneficially  Share option

Name Notes owned granted

BREN

=L i R

|IE'I-IF

EEESESR

Directors

BE

Ms. Li Kei Ling (@
FHBRZT

Mr. Hung Yung Lai (@)
RERIS R A

Mr. Leung Hong Man
RERRE

Chief Executive Officer
BE

Mr. Wu Weixian
REBXE

107,372,000 -

1,880,000 -

6,000,000
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Through
controlled
corporation

BB S
DEFE

595,188,000

595,188,000

107,712,000

Total

mE

702,560,000

597,068,000

107,712,000

6,000,000

Approximate

percentage of
the Company’s

issued share
capital (%)
WIEADT
BRITRAN
A7 (%)

46.88

39.84

7.19

0.40



Long positions in shares and underlying shares of associated corporation:

Report of the Directors

EEEHRE

PARBSEB D KRR PR

Percentage of
the associated

Name of Number of corporation’s
associated Relationship Ordinary Capacity and issued share

Name of Director corporation with the Company shares held nature of interest capital (%)

1R AR R
2 BITRAR

EEEH HEEEER R A B M BA R BESERYE SORERMEEHE A7 (%)

Ms. Li Kei Ling Fortune United The Company’s 2 Through a controlled 50

THB LT Group Limited holding company corporation

RAEHERAE BB — TSR F
Mr. Hung Yung Lai Fortune United The Company’s Through a controlled 50
ARRIAE S A Group Limited holding company corporation

A REIER A A iR — RSl A R

Notes: e -

(@) 595,188,000 shares of the Company are held by Fortune United Group (@ 595,188,000 R AR AIRME — KN EBER RS
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. Keysmart % i B 32 89 22 R] Fortune United Group Limited fT 3%
Enterprises Limited, which is wholly-owned by Ms. Li Kei Ling, and Hunwick & © Fortune United Group Limited #9 A% 78y 2= HL 36 22
International Limited, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Hung Yung Lai, are each + 2 & ¥ A &) Keysmart Enterprises Limited [ f A& &%
beneficially interested in 50% of the share capital of Fortune United Group 8 5t 4 2 E ¥ A # Hunwick International Limited & B
Limited. EwA50% s ©

() 107,712,000 shares of the Company are held by Toyo International (b) 107,712,000 B AR BN  — RN BB MR ZAY
Investment Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong. Mr. Leung Hong RNEAREBEBRERRARMEA - REERIRESR
Man and Mr. Leung Yiu Sing are each beneficially interested in 50% of the RARN R ETRARRRE S ERRRKTE
share capital of Toyo International Investment Limited. ZEHESER50% R

(€) Interest of 6,000,000 underlying shares are the share options granted to Mr. (©) 6,000,000 f% 48 B8 B% 1 B) 2 A IR IR AR RIS AR M R T
Wu Weixian under the share option scheme of the Company. Mr. Wu Weixian ERTREBSENERE REELEREAES
is deemed to be interested in the shares which will be issued to him upon his BITEZIBRER TR ROERS - OERR
exercise of options, representing approximately 0.40% of the Company’s RIRAIRE BB #ITIRDA10.40% - BAREE LA
issued share capital as at the date of this report. Details of Mr. Wu Weixian’s RARRIBIREE RSN BEHIIN I B RERHTESS -
interests in the share options of the Company are disclosed in note 33 to
financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, none of the BREMEIN  RARETEZH  BESEEREHRN

Directors or Chief Executive Officer had registered an interest or short

position in the shares or underlying shares or debentures of the Company

or any of its associated corporations that was required to be recorded

pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for

Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers.

ZAN/NS e S CIRE L DN E =) vl

BN HEFH

o BRAREE S RS GPIS 352 1% T AR
FRBLTRARERETEFRZINELETAM
GARE MR ERSORR
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “Share option scheme”, “Directors’
and Chief Executive Officer’s interests and short positions in shares and
underlying shares” above and in the share option scheme disclosures in
note 33 to financial statements, at no time during the year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company granted to any Directors or their respective spouse or minor
children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS
INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, the following interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company were recorded in the
register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO:

Name Notes Nature of interest

£ Mz HERME

Fortune United Group Limited (a) Directly Beneficially owned
EREnlAR

Keysmart Enterprises Limited (@) Through controlled corporation
BT AERE

Hunwick International Limited (a) Through controlled corporation
BBEHIAREE

Mdm. lu Pun (b) Family interest

w2+ FE#R

Mr. Li Tung Ming Directly Beneficially owned

FERALE EREnlAR

(c) Through controlled corporation

ARG AERE

Time Lead Investments Limited (c) Directly Beneficially owned
EREnlAR

Toyo International Investment Limited (d) Directly Beneficially owned

REFBRKREERQA BEEEaH#SR
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ESBERDVERNER

Bt bl [RBRCRERT &) ) —66 - [E S MR IRG &
MR R s MOk R | — 85 R B IS IRAR MT FE 33 A
HRERRIRENTEIN FAALBINES -
EWRBIARM 185 FRER A BKB AR A
B REFN AR BRSNS - HWFITEE
RSN - HARE - EERABSEEAMER
AR MR ZEE - ASEFATREEREMEAR
EERER -

FERRKRHEAMALTARD RAAEER D AE

N2

B

RZE_—F+_A=+—8 BEFEHFLBEK
B2 336 AR AR R FERESZ LM Lok B
AR ERD RARRIR D R s SR B A T

Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s

Number of issued share Long position/
Shares held capital (%) short position
WIEEDRE BT
BFENRGBE RENBEIL(%) ¥R %A
595,188,000 39.71  Long position
HE
595,188,000 39.71  Long Position
wa
595,188,000 39.71  Long Position
HE
597,068,000 39.84  Long Position
ey
224,000 0.01  Long Position
TR
80,000,000 5.34  Long Position
ey
80,000,000 5.34  Long Position
HE
107,712,000 7.19  Long Position

wE



Name Notes Nature of interest

=18 Mzt REmME

Mdm. Lo Mei Sai (e) Family interest

BEBLL FE#ER

Mr. Leung Yiu Sing (d) & (f) Through controlled corporation

AR S BIBIESI AR

Mdm. Chu Shuet Fong ) Through controlled corporation

KEFRL BBEHIARRE

(9) Family interest
REE
FMR LLC (h) Through controlled corporation
BBEHAARE

Notes:

(@) The issued capital of Fortune United Group Limited is equally beneficially
owned by Keysmart Enterprises Limited and Hunwick International Limited
which are in turn, respectively, wholly-owned by Ms. Li Kei Ling and Mr. Hung
Yung Lai, Executive Directors of the Company.

(b) Mdm. lu Pun is the wife of Mr. Hung Yung Lai and is deemed to be interested
in the shares of the Company held by Mr. Hung Yung Lai.

(c)  Theissued capital of Time Lead Investments Ltd. is beneficially owned by Mr.
Li Tung Ming.

(d)  The issued capital of Toyo International Investment Limited is equally
beneficially owned by Mr. Leung Hong Man, the Non-executive Director of
the Company and his father Mr. Leung Yiu Sing.

(e) Mdm. Lo Mei Sai is the wife of Mr. Leung Hong Man and is deemed to be
interested in the shares of the Company held by Mr. Leung Hong Man.

[} 4,328,000 shares of the Company are held by Dragon Asia Industrial
(Holdings) Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong. Mr. Leung Yiu
Sing and Mdm. Chu Shuet Fong, his wife, are each beneficially interested in
50% of the issued share capital of Dragon Asia Industrial (Holdings) Limited.

(¢)} Mdm. Chu Shuet Fong is the wife of Mr. Leung Yiu Sing and is deemed to be
interested in the shares of the Company held by Mr. Leung Yiu Sing.

(h) According to the corporate substantial shareholder notice of FMR LLC filed

for the relevant event dated 30 September 2021 as shown on the website of
the Stock Exchange, the relevant interests of FMR LLC were held via FMR
LLC and its subsidiaries and the percentage of the Company’s issued share
capital was based on 1,497,149,000 shares, the number of issued shares as
on 30 September 2021.

Shares held

FENROEE

1

1

1

1

Report of the Directors
EEgRE

Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s
issued share
capital (%)
WIEE DR E BT
BRAENE D (%)

Number of Long position/

short position
"R/ KA

07,712,000 7.19  Long Position

A
12,040,000

7.48  Long Position

)
4,328,000

0.29  Long Position

Sy
7.19

07,712,000 Long Position

R
19,776,545

8.00 Long Position

A

Fortune United Group Limited#) & & 17 J& &
Keysmart Enterprises Limited & Hunwick International
Limited F ¥ B 25 # A  Keysmart Enterprises Limited
% Hunwick International Limited 93 Bl N 2 B #1717
EEFTHR U LT RERELEREESR -

P 2+ B RREME SR A MVACES - BIRIR RN RRRME £
ERANARR R AR

Time Lead Investments Limited &) & 3 77 f% A8 i 2= 5
AL ERS -

REEREEBERARNEETRADHIBARFN
FRTEERERTERB I RBRBREETHE
mHEA -

BERZLRARBERAENRE  MEBEARRER
EERENARRRMDPHEAES

4,328,000 B A X B B £ R BB A AR SZHO 2 B ER 8
BEEEARAFAMGE  REBXEEARAFTMN
2HDBITRAHRBREENERBRAESTZLE
BB e 50% s ©

EFRTHRBREENEE - BIRERNRIBK
FAER AR QAR b AR -

BB R FTM@ERR IREFMRLLCAEIA=F
ZFNA=ZTEREREETFENRAEERER
A FMR LLCHMER#Ez= Ty FMR LLC R HKI B A
RAEERERE-_ZS-—FAA=THBHITEN
1,497,149,000GTEE AN AR B EITRAN B DL ©
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Report of the Directors
EEEHRE

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, no person, other than
the Directors and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, whose interests
are set out in the section “Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s interests
and short positions in shares and underlying shares” above, had registered
an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued
share capital was held by the public as at the date of this report.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Li Kei Ling

Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B AR

Ernst & Young K& =T AD = 7 P Tel =35  +852 2846 9888
27IF, One Taikoo Place BB AREEEITIN Fax fHE: +852 2868 4432
ﬁi 979 King's Road Kt — [E274E ey.com

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BRHEA (ER)ERAT

DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED (EFHRERBETMAIMBERAR)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability) ZEBRR

OPINION 2R

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 76 to 197, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of

significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

AZHEN(ATEE[HMA)EFEAIERETCE
197 BRI EA (R AR AT UATEHEERR])
REWMBAR(ATERIEREDNEA MRS

HEEMBRREENR_F_—_F+_-_H=1+—H
HiRe BN REREZ R IFFENGESEER

FAEEENRER SFAEaEDHRRGEARERE
ﬁ CAREAETESABRMENGS M BFERERM

BARR ZEHFEVBRIEREBR S LR
ZEg((BRESFENZE S ) 8 M H BRI % &

SEAN(BERMBRELENDEEMALBRRE
KER T —F+-_A=t—HNEEMBEHRR
&E@iziﬁiifﬁﬁ?f’\ﬁﬂk%fﬁ&ﬁ BRI
B YERRBB(AAMEPIDNREZRZ AR
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B % AR &

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

70 DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED B354 (#28%) AR 2 7]
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont’d)

Key audit matter

BREEE

Impairment of goodwill acquired in business combination

REBEOF P KB BBl (E

The Group had goodwill amounting to approximately RMB241
million as at 31 December 2022, arising from the acquisition of
subsidiaries. Goodwill was allocated to the cash-generating unit
(“CGU”), which was expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.

RZZEZ—F+-A=+—H E5ERKEWEQRHSE
BOARE 21 BETT - BESSREAH RIS HHF R ZES
EanBeEdrER([ReEELEMU]) -

Under IFRSs, the Group is required to perform impairment testing
for goodwill annually at the end of each reporting period. The
impairment testing performed at the end of the reporting period
was based on the recoverable amount of the respective CGU to
which the goodwill was allocated. Management performed the
impairment testing based on the value in use calculation using
discounted cash flow projections. The determination of value in
use of the respective CGU involved significant judgements.
BEBREMBRELER - EEEARNGFREHREEEET
BWEA - mERARETRREASR T REREMESR S E
EBUMAINESEET EEEREABETSETEETR
BAR  ERAEEDERMRFESRERAETE - BEEMEBER
CELBNZERABEYREZE AL -

The Group’s disclosures about goodwill are contained in note 2.4
Summary of significant accounting policies — business
combinations and gooadwill, note 2.5 Significant accounting
judgements, estimates and assumptions — impairment of
goodwill and note 17 Goodwill to the consolidated financial
statements.
EEEAERENRBEENFENGEMBRRMT24EREGS
HERME — XA REE M2 X2 HE - E5t Rk
BR& — AERELMTI7TEER -

Independent Auditor’s Report
B2 AR

BRETEE (E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BAWETTMMELERETSE

We involved internal valuation specialists to assist us in the
evaluation of the key assumptions and methodologies used in
the impairment analysis including, in particular, the discount
rate and terminal growth rate.

BAFEABEEER2 R R BRI ERED T AR
RBRZLITERE (LEZ)RREFKABRE

We paid specific attention to the forecasts used with respect
to future revenue and budgeted gross margins by comparing
the forecasts with the historical performance of the respective

CGU and the business development plan.

BAVEBDE BB AR KA RIERIEN XA HOIER - WK%
FRAREREELEURBERRMEBERSIETY
B

Furthermore, we assessed the adequacy of the Group’s
disclosures concerning goodwill in the consolidated financial
statements.

7

ESN
R °

B ERERNGEMBRRTHRENRERS
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s

report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion

thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial

reporting process.

72 DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED SEEE#I% (£25%) A R A &)

FHRAHBNHEER

BERAMERAHHEMENEE - A ENBEFR
FREE R BT ERERE M B RER KB FIMZBE

HE -

BB GaMBERRNBEAALTREEMER - &
PR T EREBREMTANERER °

RBFHFEAMBE®mRN = - HANEERMEEMD
AR RENBETPEREMENEERGENE
HRARPIERTEETAEENBEREERN
HEUFEERER - ERERPIEHTHIE - 1R
BHPMRAEMENEERER KT EREEH
EZE-pME  BAEFHREETANEERE-

ESHRGRAMBMREAZENEE

BERRESARARBERKR G ENZESHMD
BB S S 22 B R BB A BGRPIDIRE ER R ERE
EMARIBHEAMBERER - ARERBELE
FERN SRR R M B M B AR MRS I 7% W
RTFBHOARZEFEE

ERESEVBRRE  EAREFEANGHES
BRECENED  YEERBR TREESEL
ERBNER  URERFELCERSER  BRIF
ERREFARHESH BRI ILEE &
HibBERHBERIER -



AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of

users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on

the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures

made by the directors.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’'s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and

to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE REMBET GRSV BRRAXKENERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d) (%)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine HEBEZEZESEBMNEET  BMETHLESEIE
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the HAPGEMBRRNEARREE - i B H
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore BT EIE - R ZEAIR S P MZESE © B
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report EERFERIATEEHEBEELEAREE - =X
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or ERmERNBERT  BEEEBEHAREMBES

when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should EBREEEmMEKNEERERBESHAEEENA
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of Bhz - BRPIE T EELZER T ERSTEBZ
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest FIE -

benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent RNEZBAMRENETIEEEBARTEERRE
auditor’s report is Wang Jun Ying.

Ernst & Young ZKET AT EBAT
Certified Public Accountants HESETAD

Hong Kong BB

24 March 2023 —TE-_=#=F—+MmA
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEBRER

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE-—Z-_—F+-—A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—E=-= T —F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5E ARETT ARETTT
REVENUE WA 4 1,277,682 1,165,155
Cost of sales SHERKA (504,131) (483,893)
Gross profit EF 773,551 681,262
Other income and gains H iU A N Uk s 4 86,948 135,879
Selling and distribution expenses HERDIHER (142,733) (109,030)
Administrative expenses TERER (122,058) (117,409)
Research and development costs 55 M B B AR AN (79,478) (67,028)
Other expenses HinZE R 5 (15,546) (37,292)
Finance costs B 75 & 6 (371) (641)
Share of losses of an associate FE(h — B & A Rl 2 B 18 (61,905) (46,418)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRF A 5 A 7 438,408 439,323
Income tax expense FriS %t 11 (82,557) (85,160)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REERF 355,851 354,163
Attributable to: AR B IR EAS ¢
Owners of the parent ISTNEIEZ PN 358,057 358,175
Non-controlling interests FEERR (2,206) (4,012
355,851 354,163
EARNINGS PER SHARE BRAREERER
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY BEAEMN
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT SRERF 13
Basic, for profit for the year BN UARFEESNTE RMBO0.2389 RMBO0.2392
Diluted, for profit for the year B8 UARFERAE RMBO0.2383 RMBO0.2375
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

mEZHEBER

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE—ZT-_—&F+=-A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARET T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REE BT 355,851 354,163
Other comprehensive (loss)/income that LA HE SR BN B EBE R
may be reclassified to profit or loss Hib2m(&E) W
in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of BMEIRINETSMEE 2 [EH Z5
foreign operations (10,414) 6,019
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that will NS T EE D ERERRN
not be reclassified to profit or loss Hip 2@z, (i) :
in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of the BMERRE 2 MBEHRERMEEZ
Company’s financial statements PEHZ%E 18,819 (6,963)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ TEERBEAEMEEKE
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (E548) #a %8 8,405 (944)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AREERBESEB AL
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX 364,256 353,219
Attributable to: AT B IBELS -
Owners of the parent ISYNEIE/ YN 366,462 357,231
Non-controlling interests FEPERRME = (2,206) (4,012)
364,256 353,219
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e PR R

31 December 2022 KR-ZT-—F#+—-H=+—H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Construction in progress
Goodwill

Other intangible assets
Investment in an associate
Loan to an associate
Long-term prepayments
Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories
Trade and notes receivables

Prepayments, other receivables and

other assets

Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss
Cash and bank balances

Assets held for sale

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and notes payables
Other payables and accruals
Derivative financial instruments

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings

Lease liabilities
Income tax payable
Other liabilities, current

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT

LIABILITIES

78 DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED B354 (#28%) AR 2 7]

ERBEE
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EREEE
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Hib B\ EE
R—EBERRZKE
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REFEMR

B IAEE

FRBEERHR
RBEE
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AR EFEREZEEA

Bam WHEE
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HERE
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FREEE

BEEBBRASAMR

Notes

i &

14
15a
16
17
18
19
20
23
30

21
22

23

24
25

38

26
27

28
15b

31

2022 2021
—E=-= T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
696,122 356,930
109,603 110,755
495,144 675,201
241,158 241,158
295,027 287,013
25,345 87,250
51,825 50,110
7,564 14,356
6,860 5,749
1,928,648 1,828,522
241,746 203,476
402,850 346,778
103,782 80,591
181,357 208,184
811,682 577,744
1,741,417 1,416,773
2,578 94,263
1,743,995 1,511,036
224,073 143,212
516,068 490,521
474 -
6,434 21,0138
1,534 980
8,650 15,498
174,824 25,880
932,057 697,104
811,938 813,932
2,740,586 2,642,454




NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Government grants

Deferred tax liabilities

Other liabilities, non-current
Lease liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Net assets

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners
of the parent

Issued capital

Reserves

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

LI Kei Ling
ZH®
Director

EF

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e PRI R

31 December 2022 HR-ZT—-—4#+—-A=+—H

Notes
B 5
FkRBERE
BT HE R 29
BERIAE & 30
HBE - FERE 31
HEaRE 15b
ERE B ERE
BEE
s
BATHEE AELER
BEITRA 32
e 34
e AR HE 2
s

HUNG Yung Lai
REmEliE
Director

EF

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFIT
300 600
89,975 66,371

- 175,595

444 1,527

90,719 244 593
2,649,867 2,397,861
80,389 80,370
2,561,567 2,300,344
2,641,956 2,380,714
7,911 17,147
2,649,867 2,397,861
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERREER

Year ended 31 December 2022  &{

=

F+_A=+—HLFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BATEE RS
Share Capital Share Statutory ~ Exchange Total Non-
Issued  premium redemption option Contributed surplus  fluctuation Other  Retained  equityof controlling Total
capital  account reserve reserve surplus reserve reserve reserve profits  theparent interests equity
EXER BhE iEB% EREE 8RE R
BRfTkE  EERG  ROEE fife ffE  #\E% NS BE RERN  BRAE  BERUE  BREE
Notes ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ME  ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARMTR ARETr ARETR ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARETR
(note 32) (note33)  (note34)  (note34)  (note34)  (note3d)  (note 34)
(H&£32) (WaE33)  (Wasa) (W) (HEe4)  (WEse)  (WE3)
At1 January 2022 W-B-—%-f-H 80,370 2521 8,106* 19,578*  100,175*  378,987* (4,489)* =+ 1,795466* 2,380,714 17,147 2,397,861
Proft for the year AERER - - - - - - - - %B05T 358057 (2,206 355851
Other comprehensive income for the year:  AREERE - 2 G -

Exchange diferences ERZE - - - - - - 8,405 - - 8,405 - 8,405
Total comprehensive income forthe year A& 2T liss 45 - - - - - - 8,405 - 358057 366,462 (2,206) 364,256
Contrioution from a non-controling —[EFERRRE 2 E

shareholder - - - - - - - - - - 500 500
Acquisttion of non-controling interests R RES - - - - - - - (1,114 - (1,114 (7,530) (8,644)
Finl 2021 dividend declared ER-E--FRHRE 12 - - - - - - - - (193700 (79,870 - (19910)
Exercise of share options BREnE 19 390 - (62) - - - - - 347 - 347
Equity-settled shere option arangements AR (B RER B 3 - - - (4910) - - - - - (4910) - (4910)
Lapse of share options R EE 3 - - - (3,001) - - - - 3,001 - - -
Interm 2022 dividend -EocEhERE 12 - - - - - - - - i) @) - i)
Transfer from retained profits ERERFImER - - - - - 45,081 - - 45,081) - - -
At 31 December 2022 R-F-=F+-A=1-A 80,389 2911 8,106 11,605 100,175 424,068 3916 (1,114 2,011,900 2,641,956 7911 2,649,867
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * HERHEA AR 2,561,567,000C(ZF=—4F :

RMB2,561,567,000 (2021: RMB2,300,344,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERREEKR

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE—ZT-_—&F+=-A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

NSN3
Share Capital Share Statutory  Exchange Total Non-
Issued Treasury premium  redemption option ~ Contributed surplus fluctuation Retained equiyof  controling Total
capltal shares account reserve reserve surplus resere reserve profs ~ theparent  interests equity
ERER Bk EERB  EXRB SN FEHER
BEARE  EREH  RhEE B B 4024 MEg e RET  EREE  EREE  ERAE
Notes RVB'0O00  RMB000  RMB'OO0  RMB000  RMB0O00  RMB'000  RMB0O00  RMB000  RMB'O00  RMB000  RMB'O00  RMB'000
WE  ARBTn ARETT ARETn ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETn ARETT ARETR ARETT ARET:R
(note 32) (ote33)  (noted4)  (oted4)  (noted4)  (note 34)
(Pzk32) (kas)  (Wakss)  (aksa)  (Wiss)  (MiE34)
At 1 January 2021 R=%--%-8-A 81,072 (430) = 7,748 45057 100,175*  353,110° (354 1,587,316 2,170,508 13089 2,183,592
Profit for the year RERRT = = = = - - - - 3B BB (4012 354,163
Other comprehensive loss for the year: ~ AEEEM2EER:

Exchange diferences EfZEE = - - - - - - (044) - (044) - (044
Total comprehensive income for the year A2 AN EE - - - - - - - (944 38175 357231 (4012 353219
Contribution fom a non-controling —EERRR 2 E

shareholder - - - - - - - - - - 8,070 8,070
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-ANBAR = = = = = - (13563 - 13,563 o o S
Final 2020 dividend declared ER-E-FTFRHRE 12 = = = = = = = - (128312 (125812) - (128312
Exercise of share options BREE 86 - 2521 = ) - - - = 2190 - 2,190
Shares repurchased in previous years AERBRURAEFEORD

and cancelled this year 430) 430 - - - - - - - - - -
Shares repurchased and cancelled BREETHEZRA (359) - - 358 - - - - 9,626) 9,626) - (9,626)
Equity-settled shere option arangements AR (B RER B 3 - - - - 4,328 - - - - 4,328 - 4328
Lapse of share options R EE kX! - - - - (93 - - - 29,390 - - -
Interim 2021 dividend “EC-EhRs 12 - - - - - - - - (18600)  (18600) - (18,600
Transfer from retained profits BREETImER - - - - - - 39,440 - (39,440) - - -
At 31 December 2021 R-B--F+-f=1-H 80,370 = 2,521 8,106" 19578° 100,176 378987 (44897 1,795466° 2,380,714 17,147 2,397,861
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * I EFEEA AR 2,300,344,000 L(ZE=FF :

RMB2,300,344,000 (2020: RMB2,089,861,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

AR #2,089,861,0007T ) iR & ISR K E&Y
(FlEa
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERETRER

Year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ-_—F+-_A=+—HIEFE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Share of losses of an associate
Bank interest income
Loan interest income
Dividend income from financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss
Loss on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment
Gain on termination of a lease
Covid-19-related rent concessions
from lessors
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Gain on disposal of non-current assets

held for sale
Amortisation of intangible assets
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Fair value gain on financial assets

at fair value through profit or loss, net

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

Equity-settled share option expense

Impairment of trade receivables

Write-down/(Reversal) of inventory
provision

(Increase)/decrease in inventories
Increase in trade and notes receivables
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments

and other assets
Decrease/(increase) in deposits

and other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade

and notes payables
Increase in other payables and accruals
Decrease in government grants
Income tax paid

Net cash flows from operating activities
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Notes

Fi =

~ N A s

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
438,408 439,323
371 641
61,905 46,418
(17,658) (18,077)
(1,717) (1,735)
(477) (414)
830 29,956
®) -
- (1)
49,686 44,645
(39,670) -
13,289 9,664
3,435 3,236
(7,204) (5,560)
- (99,069)
(4,910) 4,328
2,435
4,097 (304)
502,812 453,051
(42,367) 39,453
(79,816) (27,073)
510 (5,750)
9,786 (4,437)
80,861 (12,110)
25,967 15,463
(300) (300)
(63,187) (65,158)
434,266 393,139




CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received
Loan interest received
Dividend income from financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss
Proceeds from disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss
Proceeds from disposal of non-current
assets held for sale
(Increase)/decrease in time deposits with
maturity over three months
Purchase of wealth management
products
Redemption of wealth management
products
Purchases of items of property,
plant and equipment and
construction in progress
Net cash inflow from the disposal of
a subsidiary
Purchases of intangible assets
Purchases of financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss
Loans to an associate
Acquisition of non-controlling interests
Repayment of a loan from an associate
Prepayment for a market authorisation fee
Investment to an associate
Proceeds of relocation compensation

Net cash flows used in investing activities

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE—-ZT—

Notes

Fi =

REFHNRERE

EHIRTTH S
EWEFHH S
UAREHEREEE AR
G EER S WA 4
HEME - BFEKRERE AERA

AR R B BB A
i BB ABASHE

i IR DA TR
BB B =1 A 2 E R

(S 0),/ D
W E R

OB

BEWME  BELREHRE REZTRE

HE—BIBARZ kmEenA

=R

BEEVEE
BEUAAMEEEEZEEA
B MiEAE

BERT —[HE R a)

Wb SF PR i 2

B EBEAREE-FER

LETEFA R B AR R 23
H-FHBERAZEE 19
W B RR E R

REERBEANAESREFE

> =1}

MEBEERER
—F+-A=1+—HLFE

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
11,761 7,735

- 527

477 414

392 1,597
46,246 28,699
51,364 -
(60,000) 132,500
(678,500) (547,000)
674,075 524,569
(204,365) (313,067)
20,800 73,769
(21,303) (89,961)
(7,316) (89,072)
- (84,000)

(8,644) -

- 35,000
- (6,792)
- (35,000)

- 25,880
(175,013) (284,202)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERETRER

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE—Z-_—F+-—A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt EE ARETR AR®ET T
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RETBNRERE
ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid BARR 2 (99,543) (143,912)
Proceeds from exercise of share options 171 & I& # FY 15 I8 347 2,190
Repurchase of shares EAEVNS &) - (15,531)
New bank loan HIRTTE R 6,434 21,013
Interest paid BEAFE - (540)
Payment for lease liabilities HEBEMAR 39 (439) (1,044)
Contribution from a non-controlling IEERRARER 2 X B
shareholder 500 8,070
Net cash flows used in financing activities Fi & EENEAMNIRE SR e %58 (92,701) (129,754)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) ReRBESSEYEM(RD) FE
IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS 166,552 (20,817)
Cash and cash equivalents FUREMREEFED
at beginning of year 237,744 258,486
Effect of foreign exchange EXEE 2 FHE
rate changes, net 7,386 75
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRESRESEEY
AT END OF YEAR 411,682 237,744
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF RERFASEEYHERDN
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances RNE& NMRTTETF 246,387 159,299
Short-term deposits REIRITER 165,295 78,445
411,682 237,744
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Dawnrays Pharmaceutical (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in the
Cayman lIslands on 20 September 2002 under the Companies Law,
Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands. The registered office address of the Company is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands and the principal place of business is located at
Units 3001-02, 30/F, CNT Tower, 338 Hennessy Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) underwent a reorganisation on 21 June 2003 to rationalise
the Group’s structure in preparation for the listing of the shares of
the Company on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), pursuant to which the
Company became the holding company of the Group (the “Group
Reorganisation”).

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 11 July 2008.

During the year, the Group was principally engaged in the
development, manufacture and sale of non-patented pharmaceutical
medicines including intermediate pharmaceuticals, bulk medicines
and finished drugs. In the opinion of the directors, Fortune United
Group Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands,
is the ultimate holding company of the Company.

Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2022 W—ZE-——F+=-A=+—H
RNARFEBER
Rina (ZER)BRARI(TARFNDR=ZEE
“FAAZTEREREREARE(—S—
FE=6 LEERETNE_T_ERHE
HEAMKIRERRERAR - RAFZiF
3% =5 52 M 1 /2 Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands - 13 2 & b 2 #b ik Bl &
8 7 £ /B 5538 338 5 468 F1 0 3042 8001
02% °

BEEBEAR(CARRRENE AR (5
[(REEDWRBASHARBANRNERE
BeERXZAARDR (B ERET - R
“ERE=F XA +—H  RRBKAEKE
SEMBARNZERAR(SEEAE]) -

RRARRPR-_ZET=F+ A+ —BRERR
ERET -

REBRFNEEZREIEFFEYRE « RiE
RIHE - BIEPHE  REERKE - EFR
7 RN B AR R B S A S /9 A ] Fortune
United Group Limited @ 24N BB & AIERR A
Sk
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2022

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Cont’d) 1.
INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2022

NEIRAEEER (F)
ME A &R
ARABN—_E-_—_F+-_A=+—BZHBA

are as follows: AIFHEAT
Place of Percentage
incorporation/ of equity
registration Issued share/ attributable to
Name and operations paid-up capital Legal form the Company  Principal activities
MR R B#T/ RAR ML
NREH Sk BERRE EEFA REGDL FEEK
Directly held
EBHR
Dawnrays International Co., Ltd.  British Virgin Islands US$100  Limited liability 100%  Investment holding
BB ARAR EBARAREE 100%€7T  ARAA REZMK
Dawnrays Biotechnology Capital ~ Hong Kong HK$100  Limited liability 100%  Investment holding
(Asia) Limited
FimEmR B E R (TM) 0 w100 BRAR REZR
BRAH
Indirectly held
BERE
Dawnrays International Company ~ Hong Kong HK$500,000  Limited liability 100%  Investment holding and sale
Limited of pharmaceutical products
RnEBERHERAR Bk 500,000 BRARF REZRREEBREER
Suzhou Dawnrays Mainland China US$77,500,000  Foreign investment 100%  Manufacture and sale of
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. * enterprise with pharmaceutical
limited liability products
N IRHERR A" H B A RE 77,500000%7T  HEREBBAR HENEEREER
Dawnrays Pharma (Hong Kong) Hong Kong HK$500,000  Limited liability 100%  Sale of pharmaceutical
Limited products
Rinkx (BB)ERRA BE 500,000t BRARA HEREER
Dawnrays (Nantong) Mainland China US$15,000,000  Foreign investment 100%  Manufacture and sale of
Pharmaceutical Science and enterprise with pharmaceutical
Technology Co., Ltd. * limited liability intermediates
Rin (@) BEMRERAA"  PEIAE 15,000,000%7T HMEREBR AR HERHEBEDRR
Fujian Dawnrays Pharmaceutical ~ Mainland China RMB98,694,806  Limited liability 100%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. * pharmaceutical products
BRERRHUEER A YN AR¥ 08,604,806 BRAF HERHEREED
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Notes to Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Cont’d) 1.
INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)
Place of
incorporation/
registration Issued share/
Name and operations paid-up capital Legal form
ML R R B#1T/
AR EH ik BERRE EEFA
Nanjing PharmaRays Science and  Mainland China RMB49,500,000  Limited liability
Technology Co., Ltd. #@
BRRERGHRERAA®  PEAE AR# 49,500,000 HRAF
Guangzhou PharmaRays Science  Mainland China RMB3,000,000  Limited liability
and Technology Co., Ltd. #
BMNBERERRER AR B RRE AR#3,000000T HRAA
Lanzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Mainland China RMB320,750,365  Limited liability
Co., Ltd. #&
BRI R EER AR TN AR#320,750,365C HRAF
W These subsidiaries were registered under PRC law.

The registered capital of Lanzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
increased from US$50 million to US$80 million in May of 2022. With
the capital injection, the percentage of ownership of the Group has
changed from 95% to 96.875%. In July 2022, Dawnrays International
Company Limited acquired 3.125% of the shares of Lanzhou
Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. held by Xiangbei Welman
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. at a consideration of US$1,291,490. The
percentage of ownership of the Group changed from 96.875% to
100%.

@ Due to the Group reorganization, Dawnrays International Company
Limited transferred 100% share interest in Fujian Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. and Lanzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd. to Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. on 7 July 2022 and
25 July 2022, respectively.

@ The non-controlling shareholders injected RMB500,000 to Nanjing
PharmaRays Science and Technology Co., Ltd. during the year.

The Group disposed of its 65% equity interest of Su Zhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical Science and Technology Co., Ltd. (“Su Zhou
Dawnrays Pharma Sci-Tech”) in July 2021 and the remaining 35%
equity interest in January 2022.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2022

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 2.1 RBEE

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) (which include
all International Financial Reporting Standards, International
Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
They have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
that have been measured at fair value. Non-current assets held for
sale are stated at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values
less costs to sell as further explained in note 2.4. These financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are

rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of

the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing

whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the

investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (Cont’d)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of the subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control described above. A change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is

accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the
assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the
carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (jii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair
value of the consideration received, (i) the fair value of any investment
retained and (i) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The
Group’s share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained
profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Notes to Financial Statements

2.1

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2022 HR-_ZE-—#+—-_HA=+—H

R EZE ()

SOFEE ()

i B B X B B IS R 0 3R 5 AR AR X B 4R
Rl @ BERTER 2 - HERREEHRN
SERGZHRERRE2AAHAR L—F
ABHAREEEGIRELERRIE -

BEakAt2HRESAKTD FBEAEE
BREEE A RIEZERER - BELESER
RS B IREA SR - ARBEARFREN
BEEBE  BE WA FAXREREEK
BRARMERZAENRERENEHEERE
BRI -

ERENEAKRA LM 2 R =ETT
EHRH—ERZEEER  AEEEHTER
BEHREHR - RMBRRHEERER L
HE) o TS GHHE R KL - BIERE

i AEEAR LSS —HHB AR MZEE - AR
RIEFER()ZMBARIMNEE (BHEAE) KA
18~ (i) 2 R S22 B e O P 70 1 % (i) IO A 2 P
B R ITHEZR - RER () TR ENR
JT{E ~ (i) PR B AT R E B A St {8 M (i) 1R 25 Bk
R EA ELELE R Y18 - BRI EME
RS NN AR B EE R AR AL E
EERHERBEEXRRBNRARZEERR
BN ERBEERRBEN (RAEBEE) -

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —Z=——44% 89



Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2022

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the first time

for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3

Amendments to IAS 16

Amendments to IAS 37

Annual Improvements to

IFRS Standards
2018-2020

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract

Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9,
lllustrative Examples accompanying
IFRS 16, and IAS 41

The nature and the impact of the revised IFRSs that are applicable to

the Group are described below:

@)
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Amendments to IFRS 3 replace a reference to the previous
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements with a reference to the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting (“the Conceptual Framework”) issued in
March 2018 without significantly changing its requirements.
The amendments also add to IFRS 3 an exception to its
recognition principle for an entity to refer to the Conceptual
Framework to determine what constitutes an asset or a liability.
The exception specifies that, for liabilities and contingent
liabilities that would be within the scope of IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 if
they were incurred separately rather than assumed in a
business combination, an entity applying IFRS 3 should refer to
IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual
Framework. Furthermore, the amendments clarify that
contingent assets do not qualify for recognition at the
acquisition date. The Group has applied the amendments
prospectively to business combinations that occurred on or
after 1 January 2022. As there were no contingent assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities within the scope of the
amendments arising in the business combination that occurred
during the year, the amendments did not have any impact on
the financial position and performance of the Group.

2.2

FHREREHOD

AEBEBERARFEPBHRR D ERBIA TR
CHEELS s

BRI BREEREIR HEAELEL
(BFI7)

BResrRAE 16 X BELRE HE
(BFI7) kgl e
BRet RS  BEEAH — BETaHY

(BFI7) 22

ZE\FE-ZE-FF BRBHREENE 1R
BB R 2 BB B 7 o o 2E
FRH it F95 « EBRIBRE

BI|F 163555 2
SAR RO RER S
L VAL ACCHPN

BEARA KBNS BR P 8RS E R
BRFERIWT

@) BRI RELERFE IR (EFTAR) AH
RZZE-NF=ZABGNIEREHZ
HE 28 1 42 31 B 3 52 il 0 5 L% 2 51/ B
BHFELEORMR(THSERD - mE
MEWESRNES - ZIEFTATHELR
RO SERUEEEKEES AR
=W iERR AR B E2ERIE 3
SRR I — BB SME SR o 5Z BIIME S S
A - B S BIBR & 5% RISE 37 SR s B B
MBmEREEZE e —REFE 215756 E
NWBERIABENS MZZEE
Thy FE £ MIERETE & OF 2 &dE -
FEA BRI R EEEI RN ELERE
53 Bl B it B R o St 4 R 28 37 5% sk B BR B
BREREBEZEG —RBFE 21N MmIEH
DIEZR o IEAN - ZIEFTABEHAEE
REBBRATRFEERER - AEEE
HR T —F—A— A2 BEED
EBAEMAIEERBZEFER - ARAK
FEWEMNMEFTHBENHEFSHESE
WXAEE  BERIAEE Btz
B AT 2N S B 6 B SR 00 e SR R A AR
ER[E o



2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Cont’d)

()

Amendments to IAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting from
the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any
proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset
to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management. Instead, an
entity recognises the proceeds from selling any such items,
and the cost of those items as determined by IAS 2 Inventories,
in profit or loss. The Group has applied the amendments
retrospectively to items of property, plant and equipment made
available for use on or after 1 January 2021. Since there was
no sale of items produced prior to the property, plant and
equipment being available for use, the amendments did not
have any impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group.

Amendments to IAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of assessing
whether a contract is onerous under IAS 37, the cost of fuffilling
the contract comprises the costs that relate directly to the
contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract include both
the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g., direct
labour and materials) and an allocation of other costs that
relate directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an allocation of the
depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and
equipment used in fulfilling the contract as well as contract
management and supervision costs). General and
administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract and are
excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the
counterparty under the contract. The Group has applied the
amendments prospectively to contracts for which it has not yet
fulfilled all its obligations at 1 January 2022 and no onerous
contracts were identified. Therefore, the amendments did not
have any impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Cont’d)

)
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Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying IFRS 16, and IAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are applicable to the Group are as follows:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an entity
includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or
modified financial liability are substantially different from the
terms of the original financial liability. These fees include only
those paid or received between the borrower and the lender,
including fees paid or received by either the borrower or lender
on the other’s behalf. The Group has applied the amendment
prospectively from 1 January 2022. As there was no
modification or exchange of the Group’s financial liabilities
during the year, the amendment did not have any impact on
the financial position or performance of the Group.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs, that
have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements.

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 16

IFRS 17
Amendments to IFRS 17

Amendment to IFRS 17

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1 and
IFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8
Amendments to IAS 12

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture®

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback®

Insurance Contracts’

Insurance Contracts'®

Initial Application of IFRS 17 and
IFRS 9 — Comparative Information®

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current (the “2020 Amendments”) 4
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”) 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Definition of Accounting Estimates’
Deferred Tax related to Assets and
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Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction'

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
g No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
4 As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of the

2020 Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2024.

2 As a consequence of the amendments to IFRS 17 issued in June
2020, IFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that
permits insurers to apply IAS 39 rather than IFRS 9 for annual periods
beginning before 1 January 2023.

© An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to the
classification overlay set out in this amendment shall apply it on initial
application of IFRS 17.

ReTERE R (BEIR)  HEZENETEEE
(I=B==F5I4])?
RS ERZ A RRERY EHHRIAE
BREENEBASER
(B3
BRe: ERIESR (BITA) EilfitZER
BN S ERZE 125 (B3]A) HEZRFELMEER
BERBHELHE

RZZE_=F—A—HaZEHARNFELME
R

K== F—F— Bk 2 ZRARNFEE M
W4 S TE SR B A B H - HEE] SEER AR
AT —FEFIA T _TFEFIAH
AHRAHEEERER T -_WFE—F—H=%z
1% FRRFE AR -

AER =T =T ARMA BRI RS %
A7 (IBETA) - BRI R & 2RI 4
SRE(EHER] - MIBAERRAR @ LHFRBRA
AIRZZEZ=F—A— A ZAiFRNEEERH
FE BB et 2ERI 55 30 5% i FE B BR B 75 3R 45
AERIZE Q5 -
BIERERAENMEET AR EHIIN S EE NG B
EERIENE AL a X ERBREI RS %
BIZE 17 SREFFE A 3REIEIA ©

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —Z=——44% 93



Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2022 R-_Z—-—F+—-_fF=+—H

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below:

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing with
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition
of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when the
sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate
or joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving
assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from
the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
previous mandatory effective date of amendments to IFRS 10 and
IAS 28 was removed by the IASB in December 2015 and a new
mandatory effective date will be determined after the completion of a
broader review of accounting for associates and joint ventures.

However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee
uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback
transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any
amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale and
leaseback transactions entered into after the date of initial application
of IFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the

Group’s financial statements.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or
non-current, in particular the determination over whether an entity
has a right to defer settlement of the liabilities for at least 12 months
after the reporting period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by
the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement
of the liability. In 2022, the IASB issued the 2022 Amendments to
further clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply on or
before the reporting date affect the classification of that liability as
current or non-current. In addition, the 2022 Amendments require
additional disclosures by an entity that classifies liabilities arising from
loan arrangements as non-current when it has a right to defer
settlement of those liabilities that are subject to the entity complying
with future covenants within 12 months after the reporting period.
The amendments also clarify the situations that are considered a
settlement of a liability. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied
retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. An entity that applies
the 2020 Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously the
2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently assessing
the impact of the amendments and whether existing loan agreements
may require revision. Based on a preliminary assessment, the
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the

Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies require
entities to disclose their material accounting policy information rather
than their significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together with other
information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2
provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the concept of
materiality to accounting policy disclosures. Amendments to IAS 1
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and earlier application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in
the amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory, an
effective date for these amendments is not necessary. The Group is
currently revisiting the accounting policy disclosures to ensure
consistency with the amendments.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)
Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in
accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts in financial
statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty. The
amendments also clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates. The amendments are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and apply to changes in accounting policies and changes in
accounting estimates that occur on or after the start of that period.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial recognition
exception in IAS 12 so that it no longer applies to transactions that
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences, such
as leases and decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are
required to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient
taxable profit is available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary
differences arising from these transactions. The amendments are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and shall be applied to transactions related to leases and
decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect recognised
as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or other
component of equity as appropriate at that date. In addition, the
amendments shall be applied prospectively to transactions other
than leases and decommissioning obligations. Earlier application is
permitted.

The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on

the Group’s financial statements.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INVESTMENTS IN AN ASSOCIATE

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest
of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over
which it is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

The Group’s investments in an associate are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s share of
net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line any
dissimilar accounting policies that may exist. The Group’s share of
the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income of an
associate is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the
equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of any
changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associate are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s investments in an associate, except where unrealised
losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of an associate is included as
part of the Group’s investments in an associate.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for sale, it is
accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 BRETTBERBE (&)
(Cont’d)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation either at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability

to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the

acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within

equity.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL (Cont’d)
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each
of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the

Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that
unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group measures financial instruments at fair value at the end of
each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to
sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level2 —  based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 —  based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is different
from the Company’s functional currency, Hong Kong dollar. As the
major revenues and assets of the Group are derived from operations
in Mainland China, RMB is chosen as the presentation currency to
present the financial statements. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional

currency.

Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of

monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
of the initial transactions.

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 BEAETTHEREBE ()
(Cont’d)

FOREIGN CURRENCIES (Cont’d)

The functional currency of the Company, Dawnrays International Co.,
Ltd. (“Dawnrays (BVI)”), Dawnrays Biotechnology Capital (Asia)
Limited (“Dawnrays Biotechnology”), Dawnrays International
Company Limited (“Dawnrays International”) and Dawnrays Pharma
(Hong Kong) Limited (“Dawnrays Pharma”) (collectively the “Overseas
Companies”) is the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these companies are translated
into RMB at the exchange rate prevailing at the end of the reporting
period and their statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that particular
foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any
fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of the Overseas Companies are translated into RMB at
the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of the Overseas Companies which arise
throughout the year are translated into RMB at the weighted average
exchange rate for the year.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the
amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will be
entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the
customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will
not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)
REVENUE RECOGNITION (Cont’d)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)

(a

(b)

Sale of pharmaceutical products

Revenue from the sale of pharmaceutical products is
recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is
transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the

pharmaceutical products.

Some contracts for the sale of pharmaceutical products
provide customers with rights of volume rebates. The rights of

volume rebates give rise to variable consideration.

Retrospective volume rebates may be provided to certain
customers once the quantity of products purchased during the
period exceeds a threshold specified in the contract. Rebates
are offset against amounts payable by the customer. To
estimate the variable consideration for the expected future
rebates, the most likely amount method is used for contracts
with a single-volume threshold. The requirements on
constraining estimates of variable consideration are applied
and a refund liability for the expected future rebates is
recognised.

Rendering of pilot test services
Revenue from the rendering of pilot test services is recognised
over time because the customer simultaneously receives and

consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

31 December 2022
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 BRETTBERME (&)
(Cont’d)

REVENUE RECOGNITION (Cont’d)

Other income

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group

and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the contract
(i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to the

customer).

INCOME TAX

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries

where the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)
INCOME TAX (Cont’d)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary

differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised, to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are recognised
only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 BRETTBERME (&)
(Cont’d)
INCOME TAX (Cont’d) BiE (&)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously,
in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an
expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over
the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to compensate,
are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the statement of profit or
loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a

reduced depreciation charge.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Retirement benefit schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s employer voluntary
contributions, which are refunded to the Group when the employee
leaves employment prior to the contributions vesting fully, in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China (the “Mainland China Subsidiaries”) are required to
participate in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. The contributions are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the Group
can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the
Group recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of
termination benefits.

Accommodation benefits

Contributions to an accommodation fund administered by the Public
Accumulation Funds Administration Centre in Mainland China are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as incurred.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 BRETTBERME (&)
(Cont’d)

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest
and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing
of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and used for the
purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, an appropriate capitalisation
rate shall be applied to the expenditure on the individual assets.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants (the Company’s directors, employees of the Group and
other eligible participants) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby eligible participants render
services in exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with eligible participants is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are
granted. The fair value is determined using the Black-Scholes-Merton
valuation model, further details of which are given in note 33 to the
financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
The charge or credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at
the beginning and end of that period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Cont’d)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award,
but without an associated service requirement, are considered to be
non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an

award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market condition is satisfied, provided that all other
performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. An additional
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to

the participants as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of either
the entity or the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original

award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of diluted earnings per share.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 FETERME (&)
(Cont’d)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive

income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on
the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of
trade and notes receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade and notes receivables that do
not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” above.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it
needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured

at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets
classified and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective of both
holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models are

classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (Cont’d)
Initial recognition and measurement (Cont’d)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for financial
assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes
are recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon derecognition,
the cumulative fair value change recognised in other comprehensive

income is recycled to the statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its
equity investments as equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income when they meet the definition
of equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are
not held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 SEBCRME ()
(Cont’d)
INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (Cont’d) BREREMUKEE (B)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(equity investments) (Cont’d)

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to the
statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income
in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend
can be measured reliably, except when the Group benefits from such
proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in
which case such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income.
Equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income are not subject to impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability or
non-financial host, is separated from the host and accounted for as
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or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the
terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that
would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial asset

out of the fair value through profit or loss category.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)
INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (Cont’d)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Cont’d)

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial
asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial asset host
together with the embedded derivative is required to be classified in
its entirety as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it
evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 FETERME (&)
(Cont’d)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit
or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or

other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime
ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due.

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, the Group applies the low credit risk simplification. At each
reporting date, the Group evaluates whether the debt investments
are considered to have low credit risk using all reasonable and
supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort.
In making that evaluation, the Group reassesses the external credit
ratings of the debt investments. In addition, the Group considers that
there has been a significant increase in credit risk when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (Cont’d)

General approach (Cont’d)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial
asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
and financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables and contract assets which apply the simplified approach
as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 BRETTBERME (&)
(Cont’d)
IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (Cont’d) B EERE (&)
Simplified approach 5%

For trade and notes receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established
a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the

debtors and the economic environment.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and

borrowings and payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and notes payables,
other payables, lease liabilities, derivative financial instruments and

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)
DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the

liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and
the recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND DEPRECIATION
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. When an item of property, plant and equipment is classified
as held for sale or when it is part of a disposal group classified as
held for sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance
with IFRS 5, as further explained in the accounting policy for “non-
current assets and disposal groups held for sale”. The cost of an
item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price
and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 BEAETTHEREBE ()
(Cont’d)
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND DEPRECIATION V¥ - WE - REERTE (E)
(Cont’d)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis over the
estimated useful life of the asset as follows:

Leasehold improvements 31to 5 years
Buildings 20 to 25 years
Machinery and other equipment 5to 10 years
Office equipment 3 to 25 years

Motor vehicles 4 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable
basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year
end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment
under construction, which are stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and are not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of
construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed
funds during the period of construction. Construction in progress is
transferred to the appropriate category of property, plant and

equipment when completed and ready for use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying
amounts will be recovered principally through a sales transaction
rather than through continuing use. For this to be the case, the asset
or disposal group must be available for immediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for the
sale of such assets or disposal groups and its sale must be highly
probable. All assets and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a
disposal group are reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether
the Group retains a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary
after the sale.

Non-current assets (other than investment properties and financial
assets) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their
carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets classified as held for sale are

not depreciated or amortised.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The
useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or
indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at

each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment
annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such
intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible
asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether
the indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is

accounted for on a prospective basis.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 BRETTBERME (&)
(Cont’d)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL) (Cont’d)
Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as
incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the
technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use
or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the project and the
ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development.
Product development expenditure which does not meet these criteria
is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised using the straight-line basis over the
commercial lives of the underlying products commencing from the
date when the products are put into commercial production. The
estimated residual value is zero.

Category 5l

Patent and licence =HF &FFA]

Software B
Deferred development costs I JE 7 BE R AN
Customer relationship EFHEEF
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)
LEASES
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or

contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract

conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period

of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach

for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value

assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease

payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the

underlying assets.

(a

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The
cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and
the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land Over the lease terms
Property 3 to 5 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the
end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)
LEASES (Cont’d)
Group as a lessee (Cont’d)

(b)
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Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of
the lease at the present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or

condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a maodification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate) or
a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

LEASES (Cont’d)

Group as a lessee (Cont’d)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the recognition exemption for leases of
low-value assets to leases of office equipment and laptop
computers that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as
operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental
income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms
and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its
operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis
as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the
period in which they are earned.

LLeases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for
as finance leases.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 BEAETTHEREBE(E)
(Cont’d)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, financial
assets, deferred tax assets and non-current assets), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is
the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and
its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-
generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a
corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an
individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-
generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories

consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such
an impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

TREASURY SHARES

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the
Company or the Group (treasury shares) are recognised directly in
equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s

own equity instruments.

INVENTORIES
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location and

condition are accounted for as follows:

Raw materials Purchase cost on a weighted-average basis

Finished goods and Cost of direct materials and labour and a
work in progress  proportion of manufacturing overheads based

on the normal operating capacity but excluding

borrowing costs

Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any

estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including time deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which

are not restricted or pledged as to use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 BEAETTHEREBE(E)
(Cont’d)
PROVISIONS BiE

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for
a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of
the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is initially
measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured at the higher
of (i) the amount that would be recognised in accordance with the
general policy for provisions above; and (i) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, the amount of income
recognised in accordance with the policy for revenue recognition.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)
RELATED PARTIES
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

@iy is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

(iiy  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(viy  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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31 December 2022

2.4

2.5

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

DIVIDENDS

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends
and special dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS,
ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the
future.

JUDGEMENTS

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgement which has the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Development costs

Development costs are capitalised in accordance with the
accounting policy in note 2.4 to the financial statements. Initial
capitalisation of costs is based on management’s judgements that
technological and economic feasibility is confirmed, usually when a
product development project has reached a defined milestone
according to an established project management model.
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2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS,

ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (Cont’d)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

Variable consideration for volume rebates

The Group estimates variable consideration to be included in the
transaction price for the sale of pharmaceutical products with volume
rebates.

The Group’s expected volume rebates are analysed on a per
customer basis for contracts that are subject to a single volume
threshold. Determining whether a customer will likely be entitled to a
rebate depends on the customer’s historical rebate entitlement and

accumulated purchases to date.

The Group updates its assessment of expected volume rebates
monthly and the refund liabilities are adjusted accordingly. Estimates
of volume rebates are sensitive to changes in circumstances and the
Group’s past experience regarding rebate entitlements may not be
representative of customers’ actual rebate entitlements in the future.
As at 31 December 2022, the amount recognised as refund liabilities
was RMB13,472,000 (2021: RMB12,133,000) for volume rebates
which is set out in note 27 to the financial statements.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade and
notes receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., by customer type and ageing).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust
the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information.
For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic
product) are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can
lead to an increased number of defaults in the finished drugs sector,
the historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the
forward-looking estimates are analysed.
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31 December 2022

2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS,

ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (Cont’d)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables (Cont’d)
The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default
rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant
estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group’s
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions
may also not be representative of a customer’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade and
notes receivables is disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less estimated selling expenses. These
estimates are based on the current market condition and the
historical experience of selling products of a similar nature. It could
change significantly as a result of changes in customer taste or
competitor actions. Management reassesses these estimates at

each reporting date.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indications of impairment
for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-use assets) at the
end of each reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are
tested for impairment annually and at other times when such an
indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also
to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31
December 2022 was RMB241,158,000 (2021: RMB241,158,000).

Further details are given in note 17.
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2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS,

ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (Cont’d)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. Further
details are contained in note 30 to the financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and has two reportable segments as
follows:

(@ Manufacture and sale of finished drugs (including antibiotics
finished drugs and non-antibiotics finished drugs) (the “finished
drugs” segment)

(b)  Manufacture and sale of intermediates and bulk medicines (the
“intermediates and bulk medicines” segment)

Management monitors the operating results of these operating
segments for the purpose of making decisions about resource
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on reportable segment profit, which is a measure of
adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted profit before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit before tax except that interest
income, non-lease-related finance costs, government grants,
dividend income, fair value gains from the Group’s financial
instruments, share of losses of an associate, as well as head office
and corporate expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, cash and bank
balances, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and other
unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets are
managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and other unallocated
head office and corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed
on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the
selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.

Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2022 HR-_ZE-—#+—-_HA=+—H

25 FEEEHE - A RERR(E)

et RHEE M ()

BT TRE

HRFEARRARERE SRR EAEHIRE

RIS - AR EERR - BRER

Iﬁﬁﬁ—éﬁﬁ BARR o ARIBAR M ERT A HH
BERSF PRI AM K P A B AR R B 0 75 26 B R A - T

mTﬁEu?E’JLLﬁ%Iﬁé?E’J BRELTRERE

& FIEf - MRS RRMI L0 A EZFHE ©

3. /'\7|'E m*4
RORERE  NEBEKEREMIZEEMS D
I i N5 AR AT & 0 KR ARLAK.

(@) HERKERE(BRNERHEIERIE
MAERSEE) ([RE]) 5

b)) BERHEPREREZ( RREE
JREEE] 558)

BEERKENEIRERE  WMELER
ﬁ R Be N R IRk HOR R "*E%EEEJHETF
AR E D Bm M (L R TR BB AR R A5t

B) TUART(E - %%%%%%RHJJ@NB&@ZMK
SEHBRADEN T E - R BWA - FEE
FRNMEER BB BREBA - KA
AEESRTANRARERS - BH R
RAZEE - DRBMRERXITHEATES

REZFTE ©

"iﬁéF7F@%ELLﬁIE§EE - RENIRTE
ARAEFHEREEHAABRRIVBE

F&ﬁﬁﬂﬂi DECAREE R B EE - TIARZE

BENEEREEERE -

’\*E‘%ﬁ BEFRRITREMER - BAKR

EEBRRBEBEREMRDERTREER
fa TIHERZFAENEESEEER

DEMNEEREEDIRER2RMSERA
fERE =& L ENEEET

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 === =44 131



Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2022 R-_Z—-—F+—-_fF=+—H

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Intermediates

Elimination of

Finished and bulk intersegment
drugs medicines sales Total
Year ended BE-Z-—-F PR 3K 85
31 December 2022 TZA=t+—HLEE PREE RER 2 DEEHEE e
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT ARET T ARET T
Segment revenue DERA :
Sales to external customers HINHEE 1,137,241 140,441 - 1,277,682
Intersegment sales DHEFEHEE - 64,644 (64,644) -
1,137,241 205,085 (64,644) 1,277,682
Segment results DHES 608,806 (17,775) - 591,031
Reconciliation: PR :
Unallocated gains Ko B ES 47,226
Corporate and other unallocated 1B & E ik 5 Bt sz
expenses (199,553)
Finance costs (other than interest ~ BASE R GEFRE B EF &)
on lease liabilities) (296)
Profit before tax Rk 5 BT 1) 438,408
Intermediates Elimination of
Finished and bulk intersegment
drugs medicines sales Total
Year ended HE_T_—_—F R E e EAiis
31 December 2021 +ZA=+—HLEE X %2 K SR} DHEFEHEE HE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBT T ARBT T ARBTT
Segment revenue DEBA :
Sales to external customers HHNHE 1,009,152 156,003 - 1,165,155
Intersegment sales SHEFEHEE 1,855 59,560 (61,415) -
1,011,007 215,563 (61,415) 1,165,155
Segment results DEEE 546,252 (2,296) - 543,956
Reconciliation: S
Unallocated gains RO E 107,175
Corporate and other unallocated EREA
expenses AP H (211,268)
Finance costs (other than interest 175 & B
on lease liabilities) GEFEEaERNR) (540)
Profit before tax R 5 B4 A1) 439,323
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)
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3. 2EEHA)

Intermediates

As at 31 December 2022

Segment assets

Reconciliation:

Assets held for sale

Corporate and other unallocated
assets

Total assets

Segment liabilities

Reconciliation:

Corporate and other unallocated
liabilities

Total liabilities

As at 31 December 2021

Segment assets

Reconciliation:

Assets held for sale

Corporate and other unallocated
assets

Total assets

Segment liabilities

Reconciliation:

Corporate and other unallocated
liabilities

Total liabilities

Finished and bulk
drugs medicines Total
hEEE
KRB+ =-HA=+-—H [2%:3 RER e
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR¥T T AR® T
PHEEE - 996,973 1,222,758 2,219,731
;{gz_;g%z :
BRHEZEE - 2,578 2,578
TEREMADIEEE
1,450,334
BEE 3,672,643
TEAEE: 291,842 376,957 668,799
I
TrEREMASEARE
353,977
BEE 1,022,776
Intermediates
Finished and bulk
drugs medicines Total
e a2
R-_Z-_—F+—-_H=+—H ik %2 K JR K} B
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREETIT ARET T ARET T
PHEEE ! 924,331 1,141,107 2,065,438
HHEZEE = 94,263 94,263
TEREMADEEE
1,179,857
REE 3,339,558
DHEEE 143,851 362,776 506,627
I
TrEREMASEARE
435,070
FEN=L 941,697
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31 December 2022 R-_Z—-—F+—-_fF=+—H

Year ended
31 December 2022

Other segment information
Share of losses of an associate

Impairment losses recognised

in the statement of profit or loss

Depreciation and amortisation
Investments in an associate
Capital expenditure

Assets held for sale

Year ended
31 December 2021

Other segment information

Share of losses of an associate

Impairment losses (reversed)/
recognised in the statement of

profit or loss

Depreciation and amortisation

Investments in an associate

Capital expenditure

Assets held for sale

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

BE-ZE-—fF
+T=ZBA=+—HLLEE

Htpp BEH

FEfE — B2 A B Z B 18
REBRKRERZ
RIEEE

FEREH
R—FHBERRZRE
BEARRX

FHEZEE

BE-F—-F
TZRA=+-HLFE

Hivn BEH

i —RBE Rz ER
RiEm&(hE),BRZ
REEE

e RosH
R—EBERRZKRE
BARX
FHEZEE

3. 2EEHA)

Intermediates

Finished and bulk
drugs medicines Others Total
TR
0% 3 KRR E Hity e
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMEF T ARBEF T ARBETT ARMET T
- - (61,905) (61,905)
4,662 1,870 - 6,532
51,994 14,416 - 66,410
- - 25,345 25,345
136,729 94,540 - 231,269
- 2,578 - 2,578
Intermediates
Finished and bulk
drugs medicines Others Total
HhiEEE
Pk B N JRH HAh, mE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT AREFT ARETT
- - (46,418) (46,418)
(709) 405 - (304)
46,955 10,590 = 57,545
- - 87,250 87,250
292,228 294,831 = 587,059
- 94,263 - 94,263
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3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)
GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2022 HR-_ZE-—#+—-_HA=+—H

THEEFR (E)

(@  Revenue from external customers

Mainland China FR B K
Other countries HER

W&o M

@ KEIEEFPAIRA

2022 2021
s —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
1,218,740 1,102,806
58,942 62,349
1,277,682 1,165,155

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the
customers.

(b)  Non-current assets
The Group’s operations are substantially based in Mainland
China and 96% of the non-current assets, excluding deferred
tax assets and an investment in an associate, of the Group are
located in Mainland China. Therefore, no further analysis of
geographical information is presented.

4. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

LA ABRERIEE P AAEMERTE

b FRBEE
AEENEETERTEPEALE K
KEBRHIEREEE (T BIBELEN
REEMR —RABZERRZRE) RHHE
REKRE  #OFRBEENLRERE
— DML REH -

WA ~ AR R W s

Revenue from contracts with customers

KEEFEHZHA

AEEWRAWDITLT -
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
1,277,682 1,165,155
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PR AR BT RE

31 December 2022

4. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Cont’d)
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

(i)

136 DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED SE:8I%5 (#28%) AR A 7

Disaggregated revenue information

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Segments

Types of goods or services
Sale of pharmaceutical products
Rendering of pilot test services

Total revenue from contracts

with customers

Geographical markets
Mainland China
Other countries

Total revenue from contracts

with customers

Timing of revenue recognition

Goods transferred at a point in time

Services transferred over time

Total revenue from contracts

with customers

7 A S AR A R A
BEEMHEE
1 (S B R S AR

KEEFEKZBEA

BT

SaE PN

HE xR

KEEFEAZBIA

LN

R—EREHEES
R — BB R AR

KEEFAHZHBEA

4. WA -~ Hh AR (&)
REEFEFEHZBA
()  DITFRAEH
BE-Z-_—_F+-A=+t—HLEE
Intermediates
Finished and bulk
drugs medicines Total
R
R & KRR me
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR¥TR AR® T
1,136,219 140,286 1,276,505
1,022 155 1,177
1,137,241 140,441 1,277,682
1,133,680 85,060 1,218,740
3,561 55,381 58,942
1,137,241 140,441 1,277,682
1,136,219 140,286 1,276,505
1,022 155 1,177
1,137,241 140,441 1,277,682




4. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Cont’d)
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS (Cont’d)

(i)

Disaggregated revenue information (Cont’d)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Segments

Types of goods or services
Sale of pharmaceutical products
Rendering of pilot test services

Total revenue from contracts

with customers

Geographical markets
Mainland China
Other countries

Total revenue from contracts

with customers

Timing of revenue recognition

Goods transferred at a point in time

Services transferred over time

Total revenue from contracts

with customers

9
3%:

7 R S AR A R A
BEEMHEE
1 (A B R S AR

KEEFEKZBEA
BT

SiE PN

Hi B
KEEFPAHZHBEA
LN

R—ERBREEEY
R — BB R AR

KEEFPAHZHBEA

Notes to Financial Statements

B ERER M =L
31 December 2022 H-ZT-_—F+=-A=+—H
4. WA - B R W ()
REFFEHZBA ()
()  DTFUAEH(E)
BHE_Z_—F+_H=1t—HILFE

Intermediates

Finished and bulk
drugs medicines Total

Fh i B2
P 2 KRR} 52 e
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETIT ARBTIT ARETIT
1,007,171 152,509 1,159,680
1,981 3,494 5,475
1,009,152 156,003 1,165,155
1,002,699 100,107 1,102,806
6,453 55,896 62,349
1,009,152 156,003 1,165,155
1,007,171 152,509 1,159,680
1,981 3,494 5,475
1,009,152 156,003 1,165,155
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PR AR BT RE

4.

31 December 2022 MW=—ZE-—F+=-A=+—H
REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Cont’d) 4.
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS (Cont’d)
() Disaggregated revenue information (Cont’d)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised
in the current reporting period that were included in the
contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period and
recognised from performance obligations satisfied in previous
periods:
Revenue recognised that was included BREBHUFAESREED
in contract liabilities at the beginning B R
of the reporting period:
Sale of pharmaceutical products BLiEMES
(i) Performance obligations
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Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of pharmaceutical products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the
pharmaceutical products and payment is generally due within
90 days from delivery, except for new customers, where
payment in advance is normally required. Some contracts
provide customers with volume rebates which give rise to

variable consideration subject to constraint.

WA~ HWA R Wz ()

REFFEHNZBA (H)
()  DHFUAER(E)

(i)

TRIIN AR E B ER BN S H
VEAGRAELIRBERECEITE

HEFERNW =SSR
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFIT
14,451 8,469
JBHIET

BRREBEROETNERBURLIT -

ERERHE
BORAERNBRERB RN HK
BEEREHRORNEL  FESR
5 FEFREBEBRNKE - BHA
WIRTRFUEN - BMELTER
BT B -



4.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Cont’d)
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS (Cont’d)

(i)

Performance obligations (Cont’d)

Rendering of pilot test services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services
are rendered and short-term advances are normally required
before rendering the services. Pilot test service contracts are
for periods of one year or less, or are billed based on the time
incurred.

The amounts of transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as
at 31 December are as follows:

Amounts expected to be recognised RErie
as revenue:
Within one year —F LA

All the amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations are expected to be recognised within
one year. The amounts disclosed above do not include variable
consideration which is constrained.

Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2022 HR-_ZE-—#+—-_HA=+—H

4. WA~ HIWA R W= ()

REBFEFEHZWA (M)

(i) BHIEEF(E)
1R A5 A i AR
ERBASERE —REBIRMERS
WAERERF ZABESERAAERS

RERBBANTER

cABAIRRBEN A —FHIRE
B - SIRIBEEMNRREWE -

R+-—B=+—8 ' 2EGBERZTXRELD
EFECREREED KRR HRHER
SR ¢

2022 2021

s —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T

29,658 14,451

FIERAENEYNETNRSHERSEE
E*EW{%@JEEE’\ o FEEBEN ST
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PR AR BT RE

31 December 2022

4.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Cont’d)

Other income

Government grants

Bank interest income

Loan interest income

Dividend income from financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss

Rental income

Others

Gains
Gain on disposal of assets held for sale
Fair value gain on financial assets

at fair value through profit or loss, net
Gain on sales of scrapped materials
Gain on termination of a lease
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary
Foreign exchange gains, net
Reversal of inventory provision

Hpg A
BB R
RITABUA
BRABWA
UanfEstER

HED

4. WA~ HIWA R W= ()

EA

Bz PHEEERBERA

GEEALLON
Hitp

Wy 5
HERFHERE
UAREsFER
B EERNT
&5 & dm O U 2R
AR IEF KR Yk

U as

=4
HE

Bl

FFABEZ
FER

HE—FMBARM KR

B 3 sk - 54
SEE S
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2022 2021
s —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
18,753 7,597
17,658 18,077
1,717 1,735

477 414

213 281

904 600
39,722 28,704
39,670 -
7,204 5,560

344 1,245

8 —

- 99,069

- 997

- 304

47,226 107,175
86,948 135,879




5. OTHER EXPENSES

Foreign exchange losses, net

Write-down of inventories provision

Write-off of obsolete stocks

Impairment of trade receivables

Loss on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment

Donations

Others

6. FINANCE COSTS

Interest on lease liabilities
Interest on discounted notes receivable

LI -
TSRO
s B 17
B 5 HOR 2 B

Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2022 HR-_ZE-—#+—-_HA=+—H

HEWE - BFELRERBE ZEBR

B

Hitp

HERBZHE
FE WS RAEIR 2 F 8

HihE A
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
4,537 -
4,097 -
2,776 6,202
2,435 -
830 29,956
199 364
672 770
15,546 37,292
&R
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
75 101
296 540
371 641
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PR AR BT RE

31 December 2022 R-_Z—-—F+—-_fF=+—H
7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7. BRFADREF
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): RNEBH R ADEFI &R (GEA) T3&
THIREERE -
2022 2021
s T —F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B5E AR® TR AREETIT
Cost of Sales* SHE R AN 504,131 483,893
Depreciation of property, plant and YE - R MRETE
equipment 14 49,686 44,645
Depreciation of right-of-use assets** FREEETE 15 3,435 3,236
Research and development costs: 7T R R A AN ¢
Amortisation of intangible assets*** B A 18 4,679 3,396
Current year expenditure RKEETH 74,799 63,632
79,478 67,028
Lease payments not included in the TEREHEaEFECHES
measurement of lease liabilities 2,040 1,020
Auditors’ remuneration: ZEEMNE -
Statutory audit service A TE RZ AR 2,200 2,204
Employee benefit expense (including EERMRSZ (BEEEFR
directors’ and chief executive REME (H5E8)) :
officer’s remuneration (note 8)):
Wages and salaries IE&ENFH® 149,384 133,239
Equity-settled share option expense VA B =7 45F o B AR i el S (4,910) 4,328
Retirement benefits RIREA 10,542 9,404
Accommodation benefits EEm@A 5,969 5,320
Other benefits H At 1274 22,645 19,732
183,630 172,023
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Notes to Financial Statements

PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Cont’d)
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
(Cont’d)

Foreign exchange differences, net EHZRE  F5E
Write-down/(reversal) of inventory FEEEMUR, ChE)
provision
Impairment of trade receivables FEWFRIB 2 A
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair JAA A (E5HE A HE 85 AlB2
value through profit or loss, net 2B EERAAEKE - FRE
Bank interest income AT A
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & — R B A R« W

Gain on disposal of assets held for sale &7 HEEER
Loss on disposal of items of property,  EEWE - FE X
plant and equipment BGEREEEN 5

* The depreciation of RMB34,073,000 for the year (2021:
RMB32,359,000) is included in “manufacturing costs”.

ke

The depreciation of right-of-use assets for the year is included in
“Administrative expenses” on the face of the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

The amortisation of intangible assets amounted to RMB4,679,000
(2021: RMB3,396,000) for the year is included in “Research and
development costs” on the face of the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2022 HR-_ZE-—#+—-_HA=+—H

BRELADER (48)
AEBARBADREN & GEA) TH%

HIREE - (&)

Notes

P 5

4,5

4,5

Hx

2022 2021
s —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR ARETIT
4,537 (997)
4,097 (304)
2,435 =
(7,204) (5,560)
(17,658) (18,077)

- 99,069

(39,670) =
830 29,956

AEEFEHLP ARKS4,073,000T(=F
——%F: AR¥32,359,0007T) E&t A [&iE
BHA] -

FANEREEEREFAGARRRERN 17
BEM] -

AEFEPEERHEFT AR 4,679,000
—ZT-—F: AR¥3,396,0007) 25 AL
AERRN [HERFAZEKA] -
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PR AR BT RE

31 December 2022 R-_Z—-—F+—-_fF=+—H
8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S 8.
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive officer’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and
(f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation, is as follows:

Fees e

Other emoluments: Eo AN -
Salaries, allowances and benéfits in kind e R REYET
Bonuses ey
Equity-settled share option expense LA Fist e 37 1< i B AR e el 2
Pension scheme contributions RSB X

(A) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during
the year were as follows:

Mr. Lo Tung Sing, Tony B[R S A&
Mr. Ede, Ronald Hao Xi EDE, Ronald Hao Xi %t 4
Ms. Lam Ming Yee, Joan MERE A+

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent
non-executive directors during the year (2021: Nil).
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EERAEME

1R 15 b TR B R B8 A A5 B 383(1)(a) -
() * (0) R () EF IR 2 F 5 25 = 20 (B A8 &
EHRE) FRBEANEERARMENT -

2022 2021
s —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
1,267 1,226
3,573 2,956

960 4,011
(3,328) 1,418

135 56

1,340 8,441
2,607 9,667

(A) BAFHTES
RERBIYIFNTESNRSND

2022 2021
—E-CE B —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBT T
309 299

309 299

309 299

927 897

RERWEENBILIFATESTNEM
e (ZF=——%F: &) -



8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S
REMUNERATION (Cont’d)
(B) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS, NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2022 HR-_ZE-—#+—-_HA=+—H

8. EEBk#AIME (A

(B) HITESE  FHUTESERER

*ok

Salaries, Equity-
allowances settled Pension
and benefits share option scheme Total
Fees in kind Bonuses expense contributions remuneration
= 4 PR At BihE
wE  REYERN ®e MNERERX BE LA [EF:E]
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FR AR®ETR AR®TR AR®FR AR®TR AR®FR
2022 —E-CF
Executive directors: WTESE:
Ms. Li Kei Ling THB LT 41 938 - - 20 999
Mr. Hung Yung Lai RRAME LA 41 577 - - 20 638
Mr. Chen Shaojun** RABE LA - 264 - (3,568) 3 (3,301)
82 1,779 - (3,568) 43 (1,664)
Non-executive director: ERTES
Mr. Leung Hong Man RERTE 258 - - - - 258
Chief executive officer: B -
Mr. Wu Weixian* REERE" - 1,794 960 240 92 3,086
340 3,573 960 (3,328) 135 1,680
2021 —E--fF
Executive directors: WITESE:
Ms. Li Kei Ling THRZT 40 906 - - 19 965
Mr. Hung Yung Lai RERMS T A 40 557 - - 19 616
Mr. Chen Shaojun (the chief — FRABEE 40 4 (463;)
executive officer) - 1,493 4,011 1,418 18 6,940
80 2,956 4,011 1,418 56 8,521
Non-executive director: FMTES
Mr. Leung Hong Man REREAE 249 - - - - 249
329 2,956 4,011 1,418 56 8,770

Mr. Wu Weixian was appointed to act as the chief executive
officer of the Company in February 2022. His remuneration after
appointment as the chief executive officer comprised salaries,
allowances and benefits in kind of RMB1,748,000, bonuses of
RMB960,000, equity-settled share option expense of
RMB240,000 and pension scheme contributions of
RMB83,000.

In February 2022, Mr. Chen Shaojun resigned from his position
as an executive director and the chief executive officer of the
Company. His share options were forfeited upon his resignment
and accordingly, the equity-settled share option expense was
reversed by RMB3,568,000.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or

agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

* REBEEN2022F2 AREERERATE
o EECAQRBHENTHNeETS - 2
B EYEAAREA1,748,000 T « 2 AR
# 960,000 7T B8 Bk #E % () A R ¥ 240,000 7T
FRARE 58It A R 83,000 7THY ©

** MR2022F2 A - BRABE L EFEANR BT
EE - ARBEABTS o HIEREN L HER
WL UR - HEEM  ABRER S AL AR
3,568,000 7T °

FAEE FWEN R B REEAM A 2R o
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PR AR BT RE

31 December 2022 R-_Z—-—F+—-_fF=+—H

9.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included the chief
executive officer, details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8
above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining four (2021: three)
non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees for the

year are as follows:

Hx o R REMER
LA RSHE S A< ) s B A D 52
RIRE B

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
Equity-settled share option expense
Pension scheme contributions

The number of non-director and non-chief executive, highest paid
employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as

hfuGReSHMES
FRAEMNSSHIEE BEAE @ REZME
BN EXTES o SR T (Z T = —4F :
M) FEFERFBHESHHEERFAN
T

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
4,699 3,130

119 154

217 34

5,035 3,318

M BN F TIARNFERERIFHERES
HrEfE B AT -

follows:
Number of employees
EEAH

2022 2021
—E=-= T —F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 ZZ= 1,000,000 7T - -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 751,000,001 7L 2% 1,500,000 7T 3 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 71,500,001 7T 2% # 2,000,000 7T 1 1
4 8

During the year, share option was granted to one non-director and
non-chief executive highest paid employee in respect of his services
to the Group.
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10. RETIREMENT BENEFITS AND ACCOMMODATION

BENEFITS

In compliance with the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (the “MPF Ordinance”), the Company, Dawnrays
International Company Limited, Dawnrays Pharma (Hong Kong)
Limited and Dawnrays Biotechnology Capital (Asia) Limited have
participated in the MPF Scheme, a defined contribution scheme
managed by an independent trustee, to provide retirement benefits
to their respective Hong Kong employees. Contributions to the MPF
Scheme are made in accordance with the statutory limits prescribed
by the MPF Ordinance.

As stipulated by the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) state
regulations, the Mainland China Subsidiaries participate in a defined
contribution retirement scheme. All employees are entitled to an
annual pension equal to a fixed proportion of the average basic
salary amount of the geographical area of their last employment at
their retirement dates. The Mainland China Subsidiaries are required
to make contributions to the local social security bureau at 16%
(2021: 16%) of the previous year’s average basic salary amount of
the geographical area where the employees are employed by the
Mainland China Subsidiaries.

The Group has no further obligation for the payment of pension

benefits beyond the annual contributions as set out above.

According to relevant rules and regulations of the PRC, the Mainland
China Subsidiaries and their employees are each required to make
contributions to an accommodation fund 8% to 10% (2021: 8% to
10%) of the salaries and wages of the employees which is
administered by the Public Accumulation Funds Administration
Centre. There is no further obligation on the part of the Group except
for such contributions to the accommodation fund.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no significant obligations
apart from the contributions as stated above.

Notes to Financial Statements

10.

PR AR BT RE

RZZE—=F+=A=+—H
ENREINREEER

31 December 2022

HRCRBIEATES R BRI (MBS &)
WRE ARF - RinBEREEROHDARAR -
RinHE(BER)AERAR  RRBEMRE
ER(FMARAFREMA—EREEE
(HBILERATRZERESE)  REE
BERMCRKRER - MBS 8IFHAOHR
THZBRRE S RPIPTRT AR R ERBEAE °

BRBEBERERRE  PEKEMBAREAES
HEZRBETE - FTARENRERNBARE
ZRESREIBHNTFHERTFSNETE L
PIFFENFERKE - PEIARENEBRRZAR
gt e RERBER - HRIEREEZENFE
REHB R EIME A FHTHERFHFEH 16%
(ZZ=—F 1 16%):TE -

B BB FEREHAIN  AEBES ERGAE
fRIARAER] -

BEFBEAAEBRAIRER  PEREMBA
AREEFEESBEREENTERIERNSY
F10%(ZE=Z—F : 8% E10%) M—HAER
BeBEEPLEENTEESMHER - RZEMW
ERATEESHETIN  REBWEHMSF o

R-F-—F+=A=+—0 B FAfX
5N REEALMEMEAK -
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B FE SR IR BT & E
31 December 2022 R-T-_—F+-_HA=+—H

11. INCOME TAX
The major components of income tax expense for the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021 are:

Current income tax & BT S R
Charge for the year AEEZH
Overprovision in prior years BEFEHBERE
Deferred income tax (note 30) EIERIA (M 7E30)
Total tax charge for the year REEMBR HERE

Pursuant to section 6 of the Tax Concessions Law (1999 Revision) of
the Cayman Islands, the Company has obtained an undertaking from
the Governor-in-Council that no law which is enacted in the Cayman
Islands imposing any tax to be levied on profits, income, gain or
appreciation shall apply to the Company or its operations. The
undertaking for the Company is for a period of 20 years from 8
October 2002. Accordingly, the Company is not subject to tax.

The subsidiaries incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”)
are not subject to income tax, as these subsidiaries do not have a
place of business (other than a registered office only) or carry out any
business in the BVI.
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11.

5
HE T - —FR-_FT-_—F+-_A=+—H
IFEREFRIHOEZHARBIOT

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
60,287 78,704

277 520

21,993 5,936
82,557 85,160

REFEHERBERRLE(—ANNFEFTAN)
FolF ARRCEBHEEGRTHBRE
HERSTEARHARRAEEBNMEE
M~ WA~ RERSIBEE - HAR R R A
RA-_ZEZE_F+ANRERER_*+%F-
It ANRRBER

7 52 88 4 B U BT B R T B SZ RO BT B8 % R SR ZE A
MFREH - RZMBARNEBER RS
EE X (MR FERIN) L L ERE
& o



11.

INCOME TAX (Cont’d)

The Hong Kong subsidiaries are subject to tax at a statutory profit
tax rate of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) under the income tax rules and
regulations of Hong Kong. No provision for Hong Kong profits tax
has been made as the Group had no assessable profits arising in its
respective Hong Kong subsidiaries during the year (2021: Nil).

According to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law effective from 1
January 2008, the Mainland China Subsidiaries are all subject to
income tax at the rate of 25% on their respective taxable income.

On 21 October 2008, Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
(“Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical”) was qualified as a High-New
Technology Enterprise (“HNTE”) of Jiangsu Province. As a result,
Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical had been entitled to a
concessionary rate of income tax at 15% for three years
commencing on 1 January 2008. The qualification was renewed in
2020 and Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical was entitled to continue
to enjoy the beneficial tax rate of 15% as an HNTE for the years
through 2020 to 2022 and would apply for renewal of the

qualification every three years.

On 2 December 2019, Fujian Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
(“Fujian Dawnrays”) was qualified as a HNTE of Fujian Province. As a
result, Fujian Dawnrays has been entitled to a concessionary rate of
income tax at 15% for three years commencing on 1 January 2019.
The qualification was renewed in 2022 and Fujian Dawnrays was
entitled to continue to enjoy the beneficial tax rate of 15% as an
HNTE for the years through 2022 to 2025 and would apply for
renewal of the qualification every three years.

All other subsidiaries in Mainland China were subject to corporate

income tax at a rate of 25% in 2022.

Notes to Financial Statements

11.

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2022 HR-ZT—-—4#+—-A=+—H

Frig®i (&)
REFENVAMESHARNERG - FENBE AR
BIEEENIG B L166%( ZF = — F:

16.6%) @Mt - BN AKBERAEREERTBNE
MEBARYEELRRVUEH - RY B/ EE
MEBELEE (T _—F &) -

RER-_ZTN\F—H - HREERNTREEE
PRISHUE - PEAREMBARARESBRER
LA B 26% P S35 A0 o

RZZZNFT+AZ+—8  #HINERRES
R B ([BRM R IR 52 | ) BEULARA = 8 3l
E(TRFEMmEEE]) E% - Bt - #RINES
HuFEa 2T/ \F—A—BBN=FRZ
X 15% HBEAMEHE ZBERR_T_TF
BEREMN R IR EEG B R AERS T RITD
REEEZZ15%MNEEDE BT _TFE
T WE-FHFERES-

RZZ—NEF+-A=ZH BRERRZEHEGR
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AEN=ZFREZ15%NERMERE - Z&
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11.

INCOME TAX (Cont’d)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at
the statutory rate for the country or jurisdiction in which the Company
and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense
at the effective tax rate, and a reconciliation of the applicable rate to

the effective tax rate, are as follows:

Profit before tax

At the PRC’s statutory rate

Tax effect of profits entitled to tax concession

or lower tax rate enacted by local authorities

Effect of withholding tax at 5% on the
distributable profits of the Group’s PRC
subsidiaries

Adjustments in respect of current income
tax of previous periods

Expenses not deductible for tax

Tax credit for qualified research and
development costs

Tax credit for qualified equipment
expenditure for HNTE

Tax losses not recognised

Tax losses utilised from previous periods

Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate

1. FRE% (&)

7t B4 A

RHPBDEER X

A EHIRE B N E 1
BETRERRZRERZE

AEETEMBAR A DE
T2 6% BB &

BERBEHREEMAEN . AR

ARH 2 R

& DNETHIBR (R RO BT 3R AR
HREH

A MR IR R B T ER
PRSH (R Rs)

RUER T IAE 18

AR LA RT 6 AT AN B IR RS 1B

BASEEBRRERIAXH
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bENEE )

PR R R A5 BT A LA R 22 R Ko EL R AR 4 it /8
DEEMBERBEEREER K E 2 HIR
SHENERBRERGFREZRA R - LRk
KEEEB R HRIT ¢

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARET T
438,408 439,323

109,602 109,831
(41,305) (63,253)
20,286 17,745

277 520

12,963 8,617
(10,591) (8,801)
(7,982) -
7,960 20,629
(8,653) (128)
82,557 85,160




12.

13.
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DIVIDENDS 12. BRE
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETTT
Interim — HK$0.015 (2021: HK$0.015) FREARR B, H“ﬁt‘ AR #50.015 7T
per ordinary share —ZT = —F : B¥0.0157T) 20,173 18,600
Proposed final — HK$0.073 ¥k TL@EHHH TR B
(2021: HK$0.065) per ordinary share 75#0.073 7T
—ZT-—%F : #%0.0657T) 95,975 79,355
116,148 97,955
The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of REFZEIRERREREFHFARRIRERRIX
the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general REAFAREMB
meeting.
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY 13. BAREBARERFEARESRER

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit for
the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent, and the
weighted average number of 1,498,551,000 shares (2021:
1,497,543,000 shares) in issue during the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the profit
for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent. The
weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation
is the number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used in
the basic earnings per share calculation, and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no
consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

BREARBIRZEAR T ARERITE AR
15 N4 2 s A 2 4F N B 817 1,498,551,000 B%
ZINEFHRRE (=Z = —F : 1,497,543,000
MR)FHE o

RIEHEH R BRANDERNE AR LA
EERFE AREARERE G - BIERTEZ TR
BB 2 TR BRI FARRITER
IR R BIERT EEREREM - p0 ErTaE
ATk Ein A S ERN ERaRMEBRRES
AT BB IR TR -

%

%
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY 13.

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT (Cont’d)

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based

on:

Earnings
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the parent

Shares

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year used in the
basic earnings per share calculation

Effect of dilution — weighted average
number of ordinary shares:
Share options

SRAEBERESKEARGERER

(&)
Y ARETESREAZF REEESREA
FIEY EUE -
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
EZF
AR BRERFEA A
P55 F 358,057 358,175
Number of shares
R E
2022 2021
—E=-= T —F
Thousands Thousands
F1z T4z
vy
STEEREARFMEAEA
BRI T AR INE T8
1,498,551 1,497,543
BESETE — gy
LB AT AT EL
B 3,759 10,337
1,502,310 1,507,880
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - - BERZE
Machinery
Leasehold and other Office Motor
improvements Buildings equipment equipment vehicles Total
HEEE BER
BRIR B HittkE  BOERE AE BE

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBETT  ARBTT ARETE ARETT ARETT ARETR

Cost: H
As at 1 January 2021 R-B--&5—-A—-1 5,976 309,247 716,463 15,728 17,573 1,064,987
Additions NE 629 7,166 7,051 1,268 928 17,042
Transferred from construction in ERIESE (ME16)

progress (note 16) - - 8,480 246 - 8,726
Disposal of a subsidiary HeE—EHEAR = (25,383) (53,153) (2,025) (1,108) (82,169)
Disposals e = (3,029) (67,037) (344) (2,859) (73,269)
Held for sale e - (43,976) (16,026) (816) (180) (60,998)
Exchange realignment B AR (18) (109) ©) (12) (13) (158)
As at 31 December 2021 and R-E-_-F+-B=+-H

1 January 2022 k=—Z-=-f-A—-H 6,587 243,416 595,772 14,045 14,341 874,161
Additions NE - - 3,058 957 533 4,548
Transferred from construction in R TiRER (K3 16)

progress (note 16) - 287,909 94,006 1,763 1,310 384,988
Disposals e - (397) (2,565) (561) (1,368) (4,891)
Exchange realignment 0 5 2 56 347 30 39 42 514
As at 31 December 2022 R-B-_—f+=-A=+-8H 6,643 531,275 690,301 16,243 14,858 1,259,320
Accumulated depreciation and ZitTEREE -

impairment:
As at 1 January 2021 R-E-—-%-F—H 591 150,816 434,336 11,573 15,078 612,394
Depreciation provided for the year FRITERE 2,981 9,937 30,333 1,002 392 44,645
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—mHEAR - (19,129) (46,133) (1,748) (997) (68,007)
Disposals e - (1376) (38,059) (287) (2,424) (42,146)
Held for sale EieE - (19,215) (9,645) (583) (142) (29,585)
Exchange realignment B AR 6) (36) (®) (12) (11) (70)
As at 31 December 2021 and R-B--F+-HA=+-H

1 January 2022 R=2-=%5-A-R 3,566 120,997 370,827 9,945 11,89 517,231
Depreciation provided for the year FRTERE 2,338 14,034 31,414 1,373 527 49,686
Disposals e - (146) (2,087) (495) (1,238) (3,966)
Exchange realignment 0B 5 % 21 129 17 38 42 247
As at 31 December 2022 R-BE-_—#+=-A=+-8 5,925 135,014 400,171 10,861 11,227 563,198
Net book value: REFE -
As at 31 December 2022 R-B-—&#+-A=+-H 718 396,261 290,130 5,382 3,631 696,122
As at 31 December 2021 R-B-_-%+-A=+-8 3,021 122,419 224,945 4,100 2,445 356,930
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15. LEASES 15. #HE
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE REBEEREEA
The Group has lease contracts for various items of property and AEBEREESERFERNSEVERRAE
office equipment used in its operations. Lump sum payments were HENHEESD - DRATEDR — X FAR
made upfront to acquire the leased land from the owners with lease BEERERERA40E0FMWHEE 1 -
periods of 40 to 50 years, and no ongoing payments will be made WEREEL T HAENKRTSHEREN
under the terms of these land leases. Leases of office buildings R WABHEERBERIESF - PAE
generally have lease terms between 3 and 5 years. Office equipment RENHEEREE A 12MEAKE LR ER
generally has lease terms of 12 months or less and/or is individually BERK - —RMs @ A5E A [RAREB N
of low value. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and INNTEERDHEBEERE -

subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

(@)  Right-of-use assets (@ ([FHEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and ERNAEE 2 FREECEFRMENRES
the movements during the year are as follows: RN
Leasehold Office
land buildings Total
HE L Hag BE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT ARETT

As at 1 January 2021 RZE-_—F—H—H 122,482 2,071 124,553
Additions NE - 502 502
Held for sale FHE (6,968) = (6,968)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FHHBAE (3,423) = (3,423)
Depreciation charge e (2,535) (701) (3,236)
Exchange realignment P& 5 673) - 673)
As at 31 December 2021 and NR-EBE=-——&F+=-A=+—H

1 January 2022 Er—ZE-_—_%—H—H 108,883 1,872 110,755
Additions A= - 355 355
Disposals HE - (512) (512)
Depreciation charge ek (2,841) (594) (3,435)
Exchange realignment B o 2R 2,440 - 2,440
As at 31 December 2022 RZBE-__F+-_A=+—H 108,482 1,121 109,603
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15. LEASES (Cont’d)
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (Cont’d)

(b)

Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements

during the year are as follows:

Carrying amount at 1 January

New leases

Disposal

Accretion of interest recognised
during the year

Covid-19-related rent concessions
from lessors

Payments

Carrying amount at 31 December

Analysed into:
Current portion
Non-current portion

Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2022 HR-ZT—-—4#+—-A=+—H

15. #HE(E)

R—HA—BZzEHE

MEE
HE
FARERT M B HER

H AR 8 Covid-19 488

HEEE
(DL

Rt-A=t—RZKEE

v
mENER D

FEREE D

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 37

to the financial statements.

The Group has applied the practical expedient to all eligible

rent concessions granted by the lessors for leases of certain

office buildings during the year.

REBEEREEA (F)
(b)) MHEEE
FRASE HEAEREBERZZSHN
T~
2022 2021
s T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR ARETTT
2,507 2,949
355 502
(520) -
75 101
- (1)
(439) (1,044)
1,978 2,507
1,534 980
444 1,627

HESENEIH A DT8R M T
37THEE °
AEBECRHEBEARFAGLESE
REETHERERNESE
BREETE

e
RF

THEY
BERE
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15. LEASES (Cont’d)

15. #HE (&)

THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (Cont’d) REBERABA ()
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases © REZFPEIANESHEBEZEDT :
are as follows:
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AREET T
Interest on lease liabilities HEEENE 75 101
Depreciation charge of right of-use assets {FREEEHT &R 3,435 3,236
Expense relating to leases of B HAEEENRY
short-term leases 2,040 1,020
Covid-19-related rent concessions T AR B Covid-19 488
from lessors HeE=E - (1)
Termination of a lease AR IE (8) -
Total amount recognised in profit or loss 82 iR KB 5 5,542 4,356
16. CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS 16. EETIRE
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETIT
As at 1 January n—HA—H 675,201 204,803
Additions NE 205,418 479,554
Transferred to property, plant and AW - BB & (HFE14)
equipment (note 14) (384,988) (8,726)
Disposals TE (487) (430)
As at 31 December WN+—A=+—H 495,144 675,201
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17. GOODWILL 17. &
RMB’000
ARETTT
At 1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021: RZE——F—H—HBK
—EC—H+HA=+—R:
Cost PR 241,158
Accumulated impairment Z2EHRE -
Net carrying amount REFE 241,158
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of accumulated impairment RA-—ZT - —F—A— B Z k4 -
MR REHRIER FHE 241,158
Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December 2022 R —_F+_A=+—H
Z PR K BREFE 241,158
At 31 December 2022: R_B-_—_F+=-A=+—8:
Cost DEN 241,158
Accumulated impairment 2FEE =
Net carrying amount BREFE 241,158

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL AS OF 31 DECEMBER
2022

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to the
Fujian Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Fujian Dawnrays unit) as
the cash-generating unit for impairment testing.

The recoverable amount of the Fujian Dawnrays unit has been
determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year period
approved by senior management. The discount rate applied to the
cash flow projections was 17% (2021: 17%) and the cash flows
beyond the five-year period were extrapolated using a terminal
growth rate of 2.3% (2021: 3%), which was the same as the long
term average growth rate of the pharmaceutical industry.

BE—Z2_—_f+-A=1+—-HAHNEHERER
=
BREBEHESNHESLERERHBLEE
ERAR (RERIGEM) (FEREEEBLETT
AR -

BERREMNIEESERREEM[EE
BEERE %t REERENBREEEMLE
MERFHNMBRERRARSINERRGF
B RARBRERERANIERRB17% (=

——F 17%) c MAFHAENRERE
£A2.3%(ZF = —%F : 3%) MK ALREHE
B IR R BTN RV HIER XN
Al e
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17. GOODWILL (Cont’d) 17. B2 (&)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL AS OF 31 DECEMBER
2022 (Cont’d)

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the Fujian
Dawnrays unit for 31 December 2022. The following describes each
key assumption on which management has based its cash flow

projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Revenue —The basis used to determine the budgeted revenue is
based on the management’s expectation of the future sales of drugs.
The compound growth rate of revenue was estimated based on
information available at the time of assessment, disregarding
information that became available after the assessment. Such
information includes current industry overview and estimated market

development.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross
margins achieved in the three years immediately before the budget
year, increased for expected efficiency improvements, and expected

market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and reflect
specific risks relating to the relevant unit.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market development
of finished drugs and discount rates are consistent with external
information sources.

The management of the Group assessed that any reasonably
possible change in any of these assumptions would not cause the
carrying amount of the Fujian Dawnrays unit to exceed its respective
recoverable amount as at 31 December 2022.
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18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. HittBEEE
2022 2021
It Sl : 3 “E--F
Deferred Deferred
development Patent and Customer development Patent and Customer
costs* licence Software  relationship Total costs” licence Software relationship Total
BERRAA  BRANY o BFEE g EERERAL  EAREW af EPHE it

RMB'OOD  RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMBO00  RMBO RMB00 RMB00 RMB000 RMBI000 RMB000
ABMTR  AR®Tr  ARMTR  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARETr  ARMTR ARETR ARMTR ARETR

Cost: A
As at 1 January #-5-8 195723 102,794 174870 4173 340,560 157,027 51,686 17,04 U173 250830
Addtions FE 18324 2,600 an - 21,38 49804 40000 157 - 89,961
Disposals e - - (25) - (25) - - - - -
Translers & (21,807) 21,807 - - - (11,108 11,108 - - -
Held for sale g - - - - - - - (231) - (231)
Asat 31 December WzA=t+-R 192,240 121,201 1824 4173 361,838 196,723 102,794 17870 173 340560
Accumulated amortisationand ~ EEERAE:

impairment:
As at 1 January #-A-8 6,697 37,544 2860 6,446 53547 6,697 31,481 1907 4029 #4114
Amortisation provided during the year ~ £RE - 8,852 2,020 2417 13,289 - 6,063 1,184 2417 9,664
Disposals -3 - - (25) - (25) - - - - -
Held for sale HiHE - - - - - = = (231) - 231)
As at 31 December RzB=t-AR 6,697 46,39 4,855 8,863 66,611 6,697 37,54 2860 6,44 53547
Net ook value: RESE:
s at 31 Decernber WM=A=t-A 185,543 80,805 13369 15310 25021 189,026 66,250 15010 1772 287013
As at 1 January #-A-H 189,026 65,250 15010 12 27,013 150330 2020 16,087 20,144 206,716
The deferred development costs include RMB185,543,000 in- RZZEZZF+-A=+—H ' BEREKAE
process research and development projects (2021: AR#185,543,000 7T AR AT EER (ZF = —
RMB189,026,000). These projects have not been ready for use and F: AR¥189,026,0007T) °

are assessed to have indefinite useful lives.
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19. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

Share of net assets E(EFEE
Goodwill on acquisition U BE B )

Dawnrays Biotechnology, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group,
and Zhongshan Kangfang Biology Medicine Co., Ltd. (“Zhongshan
KF”) entered into an agreement to establish a joint venture, AD
Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. (“AD Pharmaceuticals”), to co-develop
innovative therapies. The total investment amount injected to AD
Pharmaceuticals was RMB343,470,000, RMB185,000,000 of which
shall be subscribed by Dawnrays Biotechnology. Dawnrays
Biotechnology injected RMB150,000,000 capital from 2017 to 2020,
and RMB35,000,000 in 2021.

Particulars of the material associate as at 31 December 2022 are as

19. R—EBEQTRAZRE

2022 2021
s —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
(38,859) 23,046
64,204 64,204
25,345 87,250

AEEZEWNBRRIREEMRPILESE L
EEWHE MK A E AR ERARES (EBR) 585
BRAR([FEEER T ) AL RIFRZAIRTE -
TERBRETMNBEEBEARARYE
343,470,0007T * & A K & 185,000,000 7T #%
CHEREYRE RIHEYR_T—LF=
—Z-FFH AER AR 150,000,000 7T &
R=ZT=—FHAE AR AR 35,000,0007T °

R-B-_—FE+-A=1+—HBFEHLAFZ
B

follows:
Place of Percentage of
incorporation/ ownership interest
registration attributable
Name and business to the Group
rEEEGHESRE
=58 FE, B T R A i B READ
AD Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd.  Mainland China 85

FRRD (BER)BEARAF

B KR
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Principal activities
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Research and development of
biotechnology and
bio-pharmaceutical products
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INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (Cont’d)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information in

respect of AD Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. adjusted for any differences

in accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the

financial statements:

Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Net assets

Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the
associate:

Proportion of the Group’s ownership

Group’s share of net assets of the associate,
excluding goodwill

Goodwill on acquisition

Carrying amount of the investment

Revenue
LLoss for the year

MBEE
FRBEE
mEAE
FRBAE

FEE

EAKERZEE AR
Ao

AEEHEEELA

SERIEBMERRFEE
(TREFE)

Y B By By P

REMREE

WA
REEER

JL >

19. R—EBERTZRE (4

TRINF SRR EMER LRI R
BHRERANREESRNERR (BR)BEE

et /]

RARIMBEERBEE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
122,359 173,298
480,519 226,060
(243,186) (90,591)
(470,716) (242,920)
(111,024) 65,847
35% 35%
(38,859) 23,046
64,204 64,204
25,345 87,250
34,337 -
(176,871) (132,623)
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20. LOAN TO AN ASSOCIATE

Loan to an associate EBEHF LN T

In April and May 2021, Dawnrays Biotechnology provided an
unsecured interest-bearing loan to AD Pharmaceuticals. The total
amount of the loan is RMB84,000,000 with an interest rate of 3.5%
per annum for a term of five years. The purpose of the loan is to
finance the business operation and clinical development of AD
Pharmaceuticals. An amount of RMB35,000,000 of the loan has
been repaid in October 2021. The carrying amount of the loan also
includes accrued interests due from AD Pharmaceuticals. As at 31
December 2022, the loss allowance was assessed to be minimal.

21. INVENTORIES

Raw materials R
Work in progress R
Finished goods SUR am
Less: Provision W B
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20. EXRT—EB=NFT

21.

2022 2021
s —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
51,825 50,110

R_ZE_—FWMARRA  BRIgEWATRE
BRFHEBELERBARAEREES  ME
MESEHR - EEEFFEREREARE
84,000,0007T * FHEA3.5%  EREIALF o
AR 35,000,000 TERER =T =—F+ A
BE BEXNEEETEERMRSMRAE
RABE - RZBEZ—F+ZA=+—0 &
B BB BT AR o

7

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
115,199 79,242
73,116 55,184
59,436 73,071
247,751 207,497
(6,005) (4,021)
241,746 203,476




22. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables JEWE 5 FA
Notes receivable FEU =S TR
Impairment BIE

Notes:

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required. The credit period is generally three months for major
customers. Each customer has a credit limit. The Group seeks to
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and has a credit
control department to manage credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the
aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate
to a large number of diversified customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. Trade and notes receivables are non-
interest-bearing.

Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2022 HR-ZT—-—4#+—-A=+—H

22. BREZKREERIA

2022 2021

—E=-= —E-—4F

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®T ARET T
(i) 211,724 180,478
(ii) 194,022 166,761
405,746 347,239
(2,896) (461)

402,850 346,778

B s -

(i) BRI EFE —MEBEERIEN  AEBEBIRE

ERRBEEFPRS - MEBEPEREHM—RA
=R - BUFFPHREFEERE - XEEEK
RERHERNEEBNFOR  URAEEEEED
FMEREERR SREEEE ST DR
HIRR - BN PA B Rt &2 B AT AN SR B RO R U &
SRBERRETREP - AL EREER
MEERE - BKE S RZERBTHE

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the MG EBEENMBEZREZAHE - RREHRNE
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, W BHIBENEBRBR TR -
is as follows:
2022 2021
—E-C—F —E_—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AREFTT
Trade receivables FEWE 538
Outstanding balances with ages: IRERERE D A I REREE ¢
Within 90 days 90HMA 192,630 162,417
Between 91 and 180 days 91 E180H 10,075 11,717
Between 181 and 270 days 181 £ 270 H 3,250 3,368
Between 271 and 360 days 271 £ 360 H 1,741 1,388
Over one year —F A E 1,132 1,127
208,828 180,017
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22. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (Cont’d) 22. EWEZREHERE(E)
Notes: (Cont’d) s : ()
i  (Contd) TG )
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade FEWE ZFIBZBERBRES T

receivables are as follows:

2022 2021
—E-= —E-_—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREEFIT
At beginning of year F4) 461 461
Impairment losses (note 7) REER (M) 2,435 -
At end of year 2,896 461
Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related to a large A48 A R I A5 (L ) FE LA TR T B K 25 BN
number of diversified customers for whom there was no recent history EEARLNAETRRELEM -
of default.
From 1 January 2018, the Group has applied the simplified approach BE-Z—N\F—F—8f ~EEEHEH
to provide impairment for ECLs prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits b 75 BB B 75w & ZE Al 28 O SRR FEAY
the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade receivables. FEHEEEERAE  ATKRBAERE
To measure the ECLs, trade receivables have been grouped based on WESHRENEEGEERANTERELS
shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The ECLs HEBXER - BATEEHEESE
below also incorporate forward-looking information. The impairment is EWE S HIEEREEA EHRRSE
determined as follows: BMEAREBETHHE - U TTEHEEEES
BEAEEER - BERREAT :
2022 2021
—E-— —E-—F
Expected credit loss rate TEHEERLE 1.37% 0.26%
Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) REmMESE(ARETT) 211,724 180,478
Impairment (RMB’000) HE(ARETIT) 2,896 461
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22. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)
Notes: (Cont’d)

(i)

Notes receivable are held with a business model with the objective of
both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling as the Group
sometimes endorses notes receivable to suppliers prior to their expiry
date. These are classified and measured as debt instruments at fair
value through other comprehensive income. Notes receivable are
subject to impairment under the general approach. The Group
estimated that the expected credit loss rate for notes receivable was
minimal.

Financial assets that are not derecognised in their entirety

As at 31 December 2022, the Group endorsed certain notes receivable
accepted by banks in the PRC (the “Endorsed Notes”) with a carrying
amount of RMB69,974,000 (2021: RMB45,670,000) to certain of its
suppliers in order to settle the trade payables due to such suppliers (the
“Endorsement”). In the opinion of the directors, the Group has retained
the substantial risks and rewards, which include default risks relating to
such Endorsed Notes, and accordingly, it continued to recognise the
full carrying amounts of the Endorsed Notes and the associated trade
payables settled. Subsequent to the Endorsement, the Group does not
retain any rights on the use of the Endorsed Notes, including sale,
transfer or pledge of the Endorsed Notes to any other third parties. The
aggregate carrying amounts of the trade payables and other payables
settled by the Endorsed Notes during the year to which the suppliers
have recourse were RMB44,570,000 (2021: RMB711,000) and
RMB25,404,000 (2021: RMB44,959,000) as at 31 December 2022,
respectively.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group discounted certain notes
receivable accepted by banks in the PRC (the “Discounted Notes”)
with a carrying amount of RMB6,434,000 (2021: RMB21,013,000). In
the opinion of the directors, the Group has retained the substantial
risks and rewards, which include default risks relating to such
Discounted Notes, and accordingly, it continued to recognise the full
carrying amounts of the Discounted Notes and the associated short-
term borrowings. Subsequent to the discounting, the Group does not
retain any rights on the use of the Discounted Notes, including sale,
transfer or pledge of the Discounted Notes to any other third parties.
The aggregate carrying amount of short-term borrowings arising from
the Discounted Notes was RMB6,434,000 as at 31 December 2022.

Notes to Financial Statements

31 December 2022

22. EWEZREER

PR AR BT RE

RZZE—=F+=A=+—H

78 (%)

BiaE © (&)

(i

EREBEHRAEEERGEDEH A&
HEERHER SEERSRBERNE
BEABEAKBMELNEEREEBIZEXMN
HERER - ZFZHEREBAEMEEK
AR BIRZES T EETHERG
2 BWEBIE—RFRE - REEG
FTEWEE N TE S E BB AR EKIE -

R-ZE-_—F+-A=+—H RHEH
BITEMAEBSEETEEARRE
69,974,000T( = & = —F: AR ¥
45,670,0007T) 2 EIREE ([ BEEEE]) F
HEF# JEFﬁ X ERZEHRERZ
ENE S (Pbij) EERE AKH
f*’faiﬂm% kK [El3R - EH B IERE
jbiaﬂﬁzﬁ_mﬂ AL AEEEE
ERSEZEZ2EREEREERERE
NBSHR HER  ANEETERBETM
FASEZgR MR aEdE &
EREREEZRTEMNEME=S - F
N BRESEZRIN2HENGRRE
ZERNEBESRREMENFER -
F+_A=+—HAZEEAEIIABAR
#44,570,0007c( = T = — & )\Eﬁ%
711,000 ) fl A R # 25,404,000 (=&
——%: AR¥44,959,0007T) °

RZZE_—_F+_A=+—H RPN
BITEMAEBBERETEEARE
6,434000T( — T = —F: AR K
21,013,0007T) Z B Z= & ([BAIREKR ) -
BERAE AEEEE LNREBRAKRKRE
e ETEEEBBREEZEORAR
At AEEFERRUBZH 25K
EEREEESHEER - BiRE - Z;é%ljz
ERBTAE AR ZE 2T MER -
BHE - %ﬁﬂﬁ?ﬂﬂﬁﬁfﬁmﬁ%fﬂ?ﬁm
FZH HMREBEELEEHEEHER
AER-_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HAAR
# 6,434,000 7T °
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22. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)
Notes: (Cont’d)

i)  (Contd)

Financial assets that are derecognised in their entiret)

At 31 December 2022, the Group discounted certain note receivable
accepted by banks in the PRC (the “Derecognised Notes”) with a
carrying amount of RMB63,126,000 (2021: RMB21,507,000). In the
opinion of the directors, the risk of the Group being claimed by the
holders of the Derecognised Notes is remote in the absence of a
default of the accepted banks. The Group has not retained the
substantial risks and rewards, which include default risks relating to
such Derecognised Notes. The Group has transferred substantially all
risks and rewards relating to the Derecognised Notes. Accordingly, it
has derecognised the full carrying amounts of the Derecognised Notes.
The maximum exposure to loss from the Group’s continuing
involvement in the Derecognised Notes and the undiscounted cash
flows to repurchase these Derecognised Notes is equal to their
carrying amounts. In the opinion of the directors, the fair values of the
Group’s continuing involvement in the Derecognised Notes are not

significant.

23. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER

ASSETS

Current B

Prepayments SELNE

Deposits and other receivables e RHE bW GRIE

Consideration receivable for disposal of a
subsidiary

Non-current FERE
Prepayment for a market authorisation fee

Prepayment for purchase of buildings

As at 31 December 2022, other receivables of the Group were
considered to be of low credit risk and thus the Group has assessed
that the ECL for other receivables was immaterial under the

12-month expected loss method and no impairment provision is

required.
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TR B EBEMNR
BEEFBENRK

JERRA]

22. BYWESKREEREE)
GERNC)

(i

HE—FMBARNEKRAKE

RZB_—_F+-_A=+—H RHEH
ROTBZMAEEMRAETHEARE
63,126,000t( = & = —F: AR %
21 5O7OOO7E)ZF§WKTJ€(W<JJ:EEMK
B EERR EEMNRITEREE
BT )RT $EI%&i&¢ﬁ§ﬁ?ﬁ%ﬁhﬁ
AREH R BRGE - AN B HRE
J’LI‘ S @%Mtﬁéﬁfﬁéﬁf_%ﬂ
@ AKBEEBRAMKRLEARBENE
X*B DR R EIR - Elt - AEEE &KL
BREUIERRENENEESE - A%
ERE2ER IRARERBERZERLL

EREBNAUBRSRENRSEKE
PHENEREESE - BFERR A&

@?—?%%Eﬁiiﬁfiﬁﬁmmﬁﬂ’]@fﬁﬁ@ﬁT\
BRo

23. AR HtEWFERHMEE

2022 2021

—E=-= —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT AREETIT

14,985 15,495

88,797 44,296

- 20,800

103,782 80,591

- 6,792

7,564 7,564

7,564 14,356

RZEZZF+ZA=+—0  A5EHHEM

FEWHRIBHRABEERREE  UERAEEE

FHEE M EWFIEN 12 @ A ANESREEEE
WAEKX - BT RERE -



23.

24.

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER
ASSETS (Cont’d)

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The financial
assets included in the above balances relate to receivables for which
there was no recent history of default and past due amounts. As at
31 December 2022 and 2021, the loss allowance was assessed to
e minimal.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT
OR LOSS

Listed equity investments, at fair value i RERE - IRARE
Listed debt investments, at fair value EEERE - BARE
Other unlisted investments, at fair value EftIE FHIZE I ARE

Notes:

(i) Listed equity investments represented the Group’s investments in
public listed companies, which are quoted in an active market. The fair
value of the listed equity investments is based on their quoted prices
as of 31 December 2022 in an active market.

Listed debt investments represented the Group’s investments in
financial bonds issued by China Development Bank, which are quoted
in an active market.

The above listed equity investments at 31 December 2022 were
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as they
were held for trading.

(i) The above unlisted investments at 31 December 2022 were floating
interest rate principal-preservation type of wealth management
products. They were mandatorily classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss as their contractual cash flows are not
solely payments of principal and interest. The fair value of the wealth
management products is based on the bank’s quoted expected
returns.

Notes to Financial Statements

23.

24.

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2022 HR-ZT—-—4#+—-A=+—H

AR HttEEWREREMEE (8)
Tl EEREBARTERE - Lt iE
< B 7% A EE B AT BN B A S g HR SR TE Y
JEWGREBEEBE R _—_FMN_ZT=_—F
+ZA=+—H ' BEEERTEARE
DAREBEFEEESETTABR 20K
&=
2022 2021
—E-= B —F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
P 5E ARETT ARETTT
(i 10,500 6,933
(i) - 40,463
(ii) 170,857 160,788
181,357 208,184
BFI5E -

0] TR ELREEAEENRAR LA
E - HBAERMSHRE  EMBREREZA
REIRERE_E-_—F+=-A=+—HZ
TERTISIREME °

EERRE AR B B KR EIRITETH
ERMESFNKE - HEGERTISHE -

HRFHEEE ML —FE-_—F+—A
—-1- B E R E W D BARA R ER
BEEHH ARSI HHEE -

(if) R =FE=—F+=-A=1+—HKELEME
BRRAZEMEEABIER - BHALHR
SREWIHERA® RFI IR - ZEEUE
mﬁﬁﬂ”@ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁxﬁ
w2 A E - BMERMNARBEHIRIRERT
HERTEHBRME
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25. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 25. HWERBITER
2022 2021
—E-= T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFIT
Cash and cash in banks WL RIBITER 246,387 159,299
Short-term deposits MHIER 565,295 418,445
811,682 577,744
Less: Time deposit with maturity over o BB BB =EAR
three months TE BRfF 5K 400,000 340,000
400,000 340,000
Cash and cash equivalents B RESZEY 411,682 237,744

As at 31 December 2022, the cash and bank balances and short-
term deposits of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
RMB755,426,000 (2021: RMB539,031,000) in Mainland China. The
RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business.

Cash at banks (including the restricted bank deposits and time
deposits with maturity over three months) earns interest at floating
rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term time deposits
are made for varying periods of between one day and three months
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and
earn interest at the respective short-term time deposit rates. The
bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent
history of default. The carrying amounts of the cash and cash
equivalents approximate to their fair values.
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R-ZE-_—F+—_FA=+—H AEER+H
REB REA/AREHIR G RIITFREEH
B AR 755,426,000 L (T = —4 :
AR#539,031,0007T) ° AR A B HN
BRAEEMER - A - BRI B AKREINEE H
ERRAEE  EEANMESTEER AEEE
T BT RTEITINE E BRI RITH AR LR
REAMEL

RITFR(BEZBRHRTHFRRIGABEE
=EANEREFR) WO SEREHRITER
2 B )5 B ) R EREX - %2 5 37 SRR R T
—HE=AATE  RFAREWNREFRM
TE M UAARFE B 55 B T BT RN R ERERA B -
RITEHRCHFALHRBETRER - FERI
MIRTTH - REMREFE YN REERTE

RAE-
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31 December 2022 HR-ZT—-—4#+—-A=+—H

26. TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES 26. BERNEZREERIE
An ageing analysis of the trade payables and notes payable as at the RS AR ER E 5 R IEN ZIE AR H
end of the reporting period is as follows: e -
2022 2021
—ZE-C —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARET T
Outstanding balances with ages: AR E] 0 Ry M R EREE -
Within 90 days 90HA 169,248 65,220
Between 91 and 180 days 91 %180 H 54,128 77,231
Between 181 and 270 days 181 £ 270 H 571 215
Between 271 and 360 days 2712360 H 83 236
Over one year —F A F 43 310
224,073 143,212
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled FE B SRIBTATEFE R —MIEN 1 B ERER
on 90-day terms. During the year ended 31 December, the HEgN M2 ZF+ZA=+—8 " &#
aggregate carrying amount of the trade payables settled by the EEERINCHERNEEER I ENESK
Endorsed Notes to which the suppliers have recourse was 2 BAEEEA AR 44,570,000 7T (FFFE22) ©
RMB44,570,000 (note 22).
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31 December 2022 RZTEZ—F+-A=+—H
27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 27. EftEENRRFERE A
2022 2021
—ZE-C —E-—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BaE AR® TR ARET T
Contract liabilities BHBE (i 29,658 14,451
Refund liabilities B BE 13,472 12,133
Accruals ERRE R 152,463 145,542
Taxes other than corporate income tax B 1S Fr1S B MY FH IR 18,818 11,400
Payable for purchases of machinery and F &4 22 K 18 == 72 S5 1) FE (< 31
construction of buildings 271,373 265,773
Other payables H A FE A5 3K (il 30,284 41,222
516,068 490,521
Notes: 5k
(i) Details of contract liabilities are as follows: 0] BHBEFENOT
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
—E-_F —E-—F
+=RA=+-8 +t=ZA=+—~
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETIT
Short-term advances received from customers £ & F Y E a9 52 BB (150
Sales of goods HiEE 29,058 14,451
Rendering of pilot test services R AR RS 600 -
Total contract liabilities EHBEESE 29,658 14,451
Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to deliver EHaBEREREER REHARARRLS
pharmaceutical products and render pilot test services. EHATEIER o
(i) ~ Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average (ii) Hfth B BT TR R B R EE R RN E
settlement term of six months. During the year ended 31 December, A-RZTZ=_F+=-A=+—H BBEE
the aggregate carrying amount of other payables settled by the ERINZHERRERE 2 M EARZR
Endorsed Notes to which the suppliers have recourse was IREE A AR 25,404,000 7T (FI5E22) -

RMB25,404,000 (note 22).
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28.

29.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
Current 45 A
Bank loan — secured BEHEIARRITER

(@  The bank loan arose from the Discounted Notes (note 22) and
was secured by the notes receivable accepted by the banks.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had aggregate bank facilities of
approximately RMB1,370,000,000 (as at 31 December 2021:
RMB1,100,000,000), of which RMB140,202,073 of the bank facilities
(81 December 2021: RMB144,652,232) had been utilised.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

At 1 January n—HA—H

Released to the consolidated statement of STAGZEEBER
profit or loss

At 31 December Rt+=—A=+—8H

Government grants include subsidies from the PRC government
which are specifically for the capital expenditure incurred for plant
and machinery, which is recognised as income over the useful life of
the related assets. There are no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies relating to these grants.

Notes to Financial Statements

29.

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2022 HR-ZT—-—4#+—-A=+—H

28. FFERITRHEMMEE
2022
—EC-CHF

Effective

interest
rate (%) Maturity Equivalent
BB F=E (%) BH A £E
RMB’000
AR® T
1.10%-1.55% 2023 6,434
6,434

(@ MERITEFRRBBRERE(ME22) -
I HIRITRZ BB REERR -

R-BE-_—F+-F=+—81  KAEBWHIET
=B RN ARKA1,8370,000,0007t (R =&
——F+=ZA=+—8 : AR¥1,100,000,000
JT) » Heh AR¥140,202,073 0 (R =T = —
F+ZA=+—8 : AR¥144,652,232) R1T
EEEERREHRBHEER -

BT

2022 2021

—E-— —E-—4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AREFIT

600 900

(300) (300)

300 600

BB IR 8 T B B PR HE M
RELNEAFXMHE  REBEERERF
HINFER BUA - R HiE LB ARR A KR
RAIGHRHEFR °

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 === =44 171



Notes to Financial Statements

BA R AR BT RE

31 December 2022 H=—Z=_—F+=-A=+—H

30. DEFERRED TAX

30. JEEFLE

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year

are as follows:

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

At 1 January 2021 RZEZ_—F—H—H

Deferred tax charged to the FRARGABEE
consolidated statement of profit or 1% Z dEFERIE (FitzE 1)
loss during the year (note 11)

At 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F+=A=+—H
At 31 December 2021 and WZE=Z—F+=A=1+—H
1 January 2022 KN—_ZE-_—_%#—A—H
Deferred tax charged to the FARGREBERMNG
consolidated statement of profit or 7 iEZERIIE (FizE11)

loss during the year (note 11)

At 31 December 2022

RZE-_—F+=-A=+—H

FRREHBREERABRIEFHNT

The Group has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB69,292,000 (2021: RMB57,160,000) that will expire in one to
five years and tax losses arising from the Company and its Hong
Kong subsidiaries of RMB212,087,000 (2021: RMB182,230,000) for
offsetting against future taxable profits for which no deferred tax

BEEBREE

Accrued Government
expenses grants Provisions Total
ERER BUFB & ey
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T ARET T ARETT
2,338 68 4,123 6,529
(518) (23) (239) (780)
1,820 45 3,884 5,749
1,820 45 3,884 5,749
501 (22) 632 1,111
2,321 23 4,516 6,860
AEBRPEAESRSMBEREARE
69,2920007t( = T = — fF£: A R ¥

assets have been recognised, as they have arisen in subsidiaries that

have been loss-making for some time and it is uncertain that taxable

profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.
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PR AR BT RE

31 December 2022 HR-ZT—-—4#+—-A=+—H

30. JEERITA (FF)
EERAAE

30. DEFERRED TAX (Cont’d)
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Fair value

Fair value adjustments Depreciation

adjustments of financial allowance
arising from  assets at fair in excess
acquisition of  value through of related Withholding
subsidiaries profit or loss depreciation taxes Total
UA R E
FEERSE

WL R AREZ
BN MBAEN nERHE
DAERR LAfERE  BEMBAE L “E
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTR AEBTR AEBTL ARBTT

At 1 January 2021 R-Z-—%—F—H 12,804 25 3,971 44915 61,715
Deferred tax (credited)/charged to the  FRRZAER R

consolidated statement of profitor ~~ (:t \) /3B 2

loss during the year (note 11) ERERIE (M7 11) (840) 4,293 (3,967) 5,670 5,156

At 31 December 2021 and RZZ-_—-F+-A=+—A

1 January 2022 k=F-_—_F—H—H 11,964 4,318 4 50,585 66,871
Deferred tax (credited)/charged to the  FRNRGZA BT R
consolidated statement of profit or (3 N)/ k2

loss during the year (note 11) BRI (i 11) (829) (4,189) 13,272 14,850 23,104

At 31 December 2022 RZB__F+-_A=+-H 11,135 129 13,276 65,435 89,975

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings
after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the
jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate
is 5%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on
dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland

China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

REBEPBELRAEIE - R BIAREEKZHSN
BRECEMIBREEZTIROERE - A
10% R R HUTEIH - ZREB_TZTN\F
—A—HREYN WERAR-_ZTTLF+_A
=+ —HEHNAEM - HREAERIIEHRES
PRERDERER D RAT G e - R RAEIE
MTRHIB R - AEEAERRER5% Bt
B-EZEN\F—A B rEEARETE
R 2 R SZ B PR B8 1 ) P A B0 28 M) T 0 i B B
EEITHI B AT ©
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31.

32.

OTHER LIABILITIES

31. HaE

s f,

Government relocation compensation received BT #1E K

The government relocation compensation consisted of compensation
received in prior years under the relocation compensation agreement
entered into between the People’s Government of Wuzhong
Economic Development District, Suzhou City and Suzhou Dawnrays

2022

—E-=
RMB’000

ARBT R

174,824

2021
—E -4
RMB’000
ARET T

201,475

BB ER

Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.

SHARE CAPITAL
SHARES

Authorised:
20,000,000,000 (2021: 20,000,000,000)
ordinary shares of HK$0.05
(2021: HK$0.05) each

Issued and fully paid:
1,498,789,000 (2021: 1,498,337,000)
ordinary shares of HK$0.05
(2021: HK$0.05) each

Equivalent to RMB’000

32. JRA
1B

BURT IR B 6 B SR B FEAR R AR N T 5= o 48 7 5 3%
BARBFERNEERE FRBEHMNRIGRE
BRARFF OB MERZRER NARFRER

2022 2021
—E-—F —E_—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
JETE
20,000,000,000 f& (= =—4F :
20,000,000,000 %) FAEHEE
B 0.05 T (ZE=—F -
P55 0.0570) B EBAR 1,000,000 1,000,000
EEITREE
1,498,789,000 ¢ (ZZF = —4 :
1,498,337,000 %) & I A&
BH0.05m (Z T —F -
V&1 0.05 7T ) B E @Ak 74,940 74,918
EBBARETT 80,389 80,370
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32.

33.

SHARE CAPITAL (Cont’d)
SHARES (Cont’d)
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as

follows:

At 31 December 2021 and
1 January 2022
Share options exercised

EZE=-—_F—H—H
BT R IE AR

At 31 December 2022

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme in 2013 (the
“Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible persons (including the Company’s directors, independent
non-executive directors, employees of the Group and other eligible
participants as defined under the Scheme) who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. The Scheme became effective
on 21 June 2013 and remained in force for 10 years from that date
until 20 June 2023.

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to
each eligible person in the Scheme within any 12-month period is
limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any
further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

KRB —F+_A=+—H

RZE_—_F+-_A=+—H

Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2022 HR-ZT—-—4#+—-A=+—H

32. BRA(E&)
& (48)
RATRAHEBELENT ¢
Number of Issued
shares in issue capital Total
ERTROHE BETRA HmE
HK$ 000 HK$’'000
BT TT T TT
1,498,337,000 74,918 74,918
452,000 22 22
1,498,789,000 74,940 74,940

33.

Rt E
RAARRZZE—=F R ERE B ([ &5t
2l]) B EAHAEEEBAMIELERMNE
BRAT(BREAARES  BUFNTES
AEEE T RZTEIRTEHEMEERDEE)
RUEZERER - ZA BN —=FXA
T —HARITRZART TFAREERE
R =FA=+H-

FEAEM 1218 A B AR T %5 BN B & B
SEENBERENOT TETRERMNEUE - A
ARRRPMEMEREMNE ZHITROD1%RR - A
E—IRBBEULRBEOBRE  BERRK
B ERRALE -
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31 December 2022

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Cont’d)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive officer or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates,
are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the closing price of the Company’s shares at the
date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period,
are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general
meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 21 days
from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of
HK$10 by each grantee with no other consideration being payable
by the grantee. An option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Scheme at any time during a period commencing on
such date on or after the date on which the option is granted as the
Board may determine in granting the option and expiring at the close
of business on such date as the Board may determine in granting
the option but in any event shall not exceed 10 years from the date

of grant.

The exercise price of share options is determined by the directors,
but may not be less than the higher of (i) the Stock Exchange closing
price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer of the share
options; and (ii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the
Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of offer, provided that the exercise price shall not be less

than the nominal value of the ordinary shares of the Company.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.
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BRI ARRES - BHK T ZRRNREEM
Bl BRSNS B FNTESH
HE o AN - IAFMESRT 1218 B BRI T AR EE
ERRIBLIFNTEEHIRS EAIRH T
EAAIRE AR BE A R B ME(AT R 8 2 17
HH90.1% » KA BERENRE(RELAF
Bt RS R th B i I B85 E) |
B¥sEET  AAFAERRARE LBEK
RHLAE -

BT B ERENEE A et 21 ARE
B# ARARMBREREANEMR
B HAMNBBI0THREARE - BEF
SERBBEREZBRERAEENAEE
S aRTBRERETN AN EXEH
AEREF L FTRER (BHRIA T SEEHEH
B HEET ) R Bl R T RERE AR -

BEENTEERESET  EMNSERAT
BENREE () ANARRONELBREE
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Cont’d)

Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2022 HR-ZT—-—4#+—-A=+—H

The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme

during the year:

At 1 January ®n—A—H
Granted during the year FRERE
Exercised during the year FREITE

Lapsed/forfeited during the year 4 A2 2838 Uik

At 31 December RE+-=HA=+—H

33. BRAEE (&)
AT Bazat 8RN FEARITRE BARE :
2022 2021
—EC-CE B
Weighted Weighted
average Number average Number
exercise price of options  exercise price of options
R 19 e
TRE BREHE THEE FERESE
HK$ HK$
per share ’000 per share ‘000
BEER B
1.461 91,824 1.778 136,300
1.134 12,000 1.470 3,000
0.900 (452) 1.269 (2,076)
1.513 (48,180) 2.422 (45,400)
1.349 55,192 1.461 91,824

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options

outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2022

Number of options

BRERA
’000

7,600
8,312
12,500
11,780
3,000
12,000

55,192

Exercise price*
THEE>
HKS$ per share
B¥ER

2125
1.500
1.380
0.900
1.470
1.134

RMEIR - RITENBRETEERITED

T -

—E-—

Exercise period

TESE

29-11-2018 to £ 28-11-2023"
09-01-2020 to £ 08-01-2025"
28-08-2020 to £ 27-08-2025"
26-08-2021 to £ 25-08-2026"
31-03-2022 to £ 30-03-2027
29-04-2023 to £ 28-04-2028
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Cont’d) 858,
2021
Number of options Exercise price”
RSB 1THEE~
’000 HKS$ per share
B EAR
3,000 3.170
10,100 2.125
13,652 1.500
14,740 1.380
32,000 1.380
15,332 0.900
3,000 1.470
91,824

The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the
case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the
Company’s share capital.

& 3,000,000 share options were expired and lapsed in 2022.

A 45,180,000 share options were forfeited and lapsed in 2022.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year
was estimated as at the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes-
Merton valuation model, taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the options were granted. This value is inherently
subjective and uncertain due to the assumptions made and the
limitation of the valuation model used. The following table lists the
inputs to the model:

BT ()
—E-—4F

Exercise period
T EAfA

11-05-2017 to & 10-05-2022*
29-11-2018 to & 28-11-2023
09-01-2020 to & 08-01-2025
28-08-2020 to £ 27-08-2025

01-05-2022 to & 30-04-2024/
26-08-2021 to & 25-08-2026
31-03-2022 to £ 30-03-2027

* T TR AR SR B ATAL AR S AR X R AR R R B A
BUZE) - RIBEENTERERT AR -

# 3,000,000 FEARHERN =T = — F R HA R KA o

A 45,180,000 FE RN =T = — F )R IR KK °

FARTUREEENBRENIABETINE
TREEEEAUE IR — FENHEEERX G
it WEZER TR ER RGNS - &1
BRI EAERNGERAFERS - A6
EBEAGEEBUY R TEERR - TRIIH
AR ARE

29 April
2022

—E=-=
mMA=+AnH
Dividend yield (%) AR B (%) 10.18
Expected volatility (%) TEHRR 1R (%) 40.11
Historical volatility (%) B R (%) 40.11
Risk-free interest rate (%) ER R ITIR R (%) 2.66
Expected life of options (year) IEARRE T EHA () 6
Fair value at the date of grant (HK$) RIFH BHNARE(EE) 0.15
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33.

34.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Cont’d)

The expected life of the options is based on the historical data over
the past five years and is not necessarily indicative of the exercise
patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the
assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends,
which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for
the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

(l CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS
The contributed surplus of the Group represents the difference
between the then consolidated net assets of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the Group Reorganisation as set out in
note 1, and the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued
in exchange therefor.

(I) STATUTORY SURPLUS RESERVE (THE “SSR”)

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and the
articles of association of the Mainland China Subsidiaries, each
of the Mainland China Subsidiaries is required to allocate 10%
of its profit after tax, as determined in accordance with the
PRC generally accepted accounting principles, to the SSR until
this reserve reaches 50% of its registered capital. Part of the
SSR may be converted to increase the paid-up capital,
provided that the remaining balance after the capitalisation is
not less than 25% of the registered capital.

EXCHANGE FLUCTUATION RESERVE
The exchange fluctuation reserve is used to record exchange

(m

differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign subsidiaries.

SHARE OPTION RESERVE
The share option reserve of the Group represents the share-

(Iv)

based payments reserve in respect of equity-settled share
option arrangements.

CAPITAL REDEMPTION RESERVE
Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of the
shares repurchased.

Notes to Financial Statements
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34.
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BREE (&)

BREE FHIRIBEEAFNELENE
T ORLREBRTERBREN TN - BHIKE
BB R IR AT R AR KB B RIRER - HEARK

BERVEERER

WEEME T BRENARIIA R ENTE
B

i
AEEREBAAFE AR EENSERE
ERRGAEREDER -

() BAZEER
REBE BB RIERIBEH 1 FTE D
SESEAMBUBHRBRRERNER]
EFEEARRABMEBEEMHET
AR B E{ENZHE o

() ZEEBSHLES
REPEDBDERPEMB QBN AR
B2 FEMEBARSBARTERR
AL BERREME10% D RE
EERRLTED  BEEEATEHKLER
ERH M E AR 50% © B D IEE &R
NIED AT E A BB IR AR AL IR - 1fE
BAREEMBB T EREMERD
25% °

BE 50K B k8
FE 5% B 4 0 R fE rC S R B SN BB B
RAN SRR FTE L HIE S =5 -

(1)

(V) BRERE
REEMNBERERESEEESGER
et HE B BRI I D S S -

(V) BXRBEEFE

BABOFEEEEBERRONEE -
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35.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

35. ZERIES

PRZEMIA

BHERSHR  SBRITANKFEENT :

Financial assets BHEE 2022 2021
—E-CE “E-F
Financial Financial Financial
Financial assets assefs assets
assets Financial at fair value at fair value Financial atfair value
at fair value assetsat  through other through assetsat  through other
through profit amortised  comprehensive profit amortised  comprehensive
or loss cost income Total orloss cost income Total
NAREHE NAREE WAL EHE MM i
BHEE hEE  REEHIA BEES wEE  BERBHA
FAREZ AR EMRERE HABEL ARt EtEENE
BBEE ZHBEE ZHHEE L] HBEE LHBEE LHTEE &4
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000
ARETTR AEETR AEETR AEETR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Trade and notes receivables EWESREETE - 208,828 194,022 402,850 - 180,017 166,761 346,778
Financial assets included in prepayments, ,ﬁ N eV
other receivables and other assets EBE/ HBEE - 88,797 - 88,797 - 65,096 - 65,096
Financial assets at fairvalue through ~—~~ WAAREFEREEFHA
proft orloss aﬁnZEn‘ BEE 181,357 - - 181,357 208,18 - - 208,184
Loan to an associate Qi NG - 51,825 - 51,825 - 50,110 - 50,110
(ash and bank balances fﬂ%&iﬁﬁm - 811,662 - 811,682 - 577,744 - 577,144
181,357 1,161,132 194,022 1,536,511 208,18 872,967 166,761 1,247,912
Financial liabilities i S=Rit 2022 2021
—E=-= B —F
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at

Trade and notes payables

Derivative financial instruments

Financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings

Lease liabilities

FEfE 5 R EBFIA

EEITETHR

FAARMMENREERERZ

MBaE

AHRBRITREMEE

HEAE
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amortised cost

amortised cost

BRBERATE  REENATE
ZHMBEE ZHBRE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETF T ARETT
224,073 143,212

474 -

454,120 452,637
6,434 21,013

1,978 2,507
687,079 619,269




36. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, trade and notes receivables, trade and notes payables,
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets, loans to an associate, financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals, and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the
short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the
amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used
to estimate the fair values:

The Group’s finance department headed by the chief financial officer
is responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair
value measurement of financial instruments. The finance department
reports directly to the chief financial officer. At each reporting date,
the finance department analyses the movements in the values of
financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief
financial officer. The valuation process and results are discussed with

the directors of the Company periodically for financial reporting.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the
amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used
to estimate the fair values:

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active
market is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation
techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is
available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If
all required significant inputs to fair value of an instrument are
observable, the instruments are included in Level 2. If one or more of
the significant inputs are not based on observable market data, the
instruments are included in Level 3.

Notes to Financial Statements

36.
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RZZE—=F+=A=+—H
ERMIAZARERER

31 December 2022

EEECDHERSMASEEY BRES K
REHIE  BNEZREENAE  SRERN
RIBFOHEEE EtbRYGRIMEMEE
ERT Mg QR - BEEEMENRIEAM
RREADNIBEG - UK ERITEA
ERNARBERERAEERLD  T22A
RELTANHRERE

S

It

BB EEMABN AR BEREES ZFNE
AR 5 (BRFBEHERIN) IRBTANS
BETA - AR BEMMGDENRRAT

AEEMKHAEFEMHEEERE  BEEES
BTEARBEFENBERNIEST - MBI E
ERNEREMBE®RE - £BERSA - BB
PO & m T AEENEEIWHETE HET ER
MEIBHAE HEHEEVEEEHLIL
e HEREREREEHRARRESRT®
LAVERA TS #R &5 o

EREREREN AR EBATSRERER

MHREEMBENARBERERD 2ENE
R 5 (R RBFEHERIN) IRBTANS
BETA - AR BEEMMBDEMBRERET

AEEETSTRINEBTANRAEER
RS ERMHEE < ELHERNTRARE B
RR SN R BRMSEE - WER DK
RERSEM - MR —BFEIENAABERM
FHMEEZRABHEAERN - AIZTA
BEEF2H - MR -EARZHEEHATRE
ERABENMm5EE  MIZTAESESS
R
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36. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

36.

The Group invests in unlisted investments, which represent wealth
management products issued by banks in Mainland China. The
Group has estimated the fair value of these unlisted investments by
using a discounted cash flow valuation model based on the market

interest rates of instruments with similar terms and risks.

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of

the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value as at 31 December 2022:

Financial assets at fair value NAREZEEEEE)
through profit or loss FTAEE MG EE

Financial assets at fair value UAREF=EEEES)
through other comprehensive 5t A H 2 E Uz

income

Assets measured at fair value as at 31 December 2021:

=4

Financial assets at fair value AR EFEAEE

through profit or loss FFABRZHBEE
Financial assets at fair value AR EEEHEES
through other comprehensive 5+ A Efth 2 W zs

income

THMTREZAARBEER(B)

AEBERENIFLTRE - KRTPEAUIRT
BITWEMER - ARBEREBEAA RGN
BB TANTSNX  KAFRBLREE
BEGHELIF ETIRENAREE

TRIPASEEMTANAABEER

R-EZ—Ff - HA=+—HEALEEH
BE -

Fair value measurement using

ERANTREETAAENE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
REET S BEATBE EATUHEE
WHEEE-& BAEE-R BAEE=R At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBTR AR®T R AR®T R
10,500 170,857 - 181,357
- 194,022 - 194,022
10,500 364,879 - 375,379

R-F=—F+=A=+—BEALEHES
B

Fair value measurement using
ERATERETANENE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BB % BAAER  BAIAER
MREE—HR BAEE-R BAEE=R A&t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARET T ARET T ARETTT
47,396 160,788 - 208,184
- 166,761 - 166,761
47,396 327,549 - 374,945
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36.

37.

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS(Cont’d)

The fair values of financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
are based on future cash flows and expected yield rate.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021,
there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1
and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3.

The carrying amounts of cash and bank balances, trade and notes
receivables, amounts due from related parties, trade and notes
payables, financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables
and other assets, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, lease
liabilities and financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals approximate to their fair values.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its
operations.

The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing

each of these risks and they are summarised below.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group does not have any significant investment outside of
Mainland China. However, the Group has transactional currency
exposures. These exposures arise from sales of the Group’s
subsidiaries denominated in currencies other than the subsidiaries’
functional currencies. Approximately 4.61% of the Group’s sales for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: 5.35%) were denominated
in currencies other than the functional currencies of the subsidiaries.
Upon receipt of currencies other than the functional currency, the
subsidiaries sell them to banks at a suitable time.

Notes to Financial Statements
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5 o
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i AEEDEERSEERRE - AR RER K
B A EH) P B ARENT B A R A K T e & HE LA
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=+t—HIEFE AEEN461%EE(Z
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RIMINAE E M AN EMEHE - RIEIIEEE
mu%z 5 1% - AEBA A B AREHTE A A
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 37.

POLICIES (Cont’d)

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK (Cont’d)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in foreign currency exchange rate, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (due to

changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities).

TREAREE B ERHEE)

SN ()
TRITERA R REE M TE 2 ER
T AREOBBASTHEER HRAR
THBDOHEE (MNEEEERAENA
R EED) -

Increase/
Change (decrease)
in foreign in profit
currency rate before tax
HBRB AR T
SMEERSE 2 ORD)
RMB’000
ARET R
2022 —F-—
If RMB strengthens against the USD fis N RHE KT AHE +5% (1,204)
If RMB weakens against the USD fig N R N 2Tz (B -5% 1,204
2021 T
If RMB strengthens against the USD fis N RHE R T HHE +5% (1,332)
If RMB weakens against the USD fig N R S 2Tz (B -5% 1,332

CREDIT RISK

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade
on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In
addition, receivables and balances are monitored on an ongoing
basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Cont’d)
MAXIMUM EXPOSURE AND YEAR-END STAGING
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure
to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly
based on past due information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at
31 December.

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial

assets.

As at 31 December 2022

Notes to Financial Statements
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37. *REMEERSERHE (&)

RERBRFERR
TRINENAKEEERRZEEERRE
SEERR  TEERBHENGREEME
MAEBEBENRARRAER) &R
ToA=+—BZFREBERIE -

P25 e BN B EERREE -

R=®==F+=A=+-8

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12f8 A
BHEEESE FENENGEEFE
Simplified
Staget Stage2 Stage3 approach Total
F1RER E2RER EIRE b A& st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR¥ETR AR¥ETR AR%®Tr AR%ET#n
Loan to an associate EFF—EEE AT 51,825 - - - 51,825
Trade receivables FEWE 538 - - - 211,724 211,724
Notes receivable U EERA 194,022 - - - 194,022
Cash and bank balances e RBITER 811,682 - - - 811,682
Financial assets at fair value WAREEEEHES
through profit or loss HABEZHMBEE 181,357 - - - 181,357
Financial assets included in ST ATERR - E R
prepayments, other receivables  FIEREMEEZ
and other assets BITSBE 88,797 - - - 88,797
1,327,683 - - 211,724 1,539,407
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31 December 2022 R=-ZT-——#F+=-A=+—H
37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 37. eREAKREEBEEREE (B)
POLICIES (Cont’d)
MAXIMUM EXPOSURE AND YEAR-END STAGING (Cont’d) BERBRFERER (&)
As at 31 December 2021 R-ZTE-_—%+-A=+—H”
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A
BHEEEBR REREREEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E1RER F2ER FIER e % st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETR
Loan to an associate ERT—RHBERT 50,110 = - = 50,110
Trade receivables FEWE 5 7R08 = - - 180,478 180,478
Notes receivable ALES =] 166,761 - = - 166,761
Cash and bank balances B& MIRITER 577,744 - - - 577,744
Financial assets at fair value WA EsTE B EES
through profit or loss FABE B BEE 208,184 = = = 208,184
Financial assets included in SPATBNER - EtbEw
prepayments, other recelvables  FIBE R E & E 2
and other assets B EE 65,096 - - - 65,096
1,067,895 = = 180,478 1,248,373
Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third AN EEEHZETEBXZFEEAENE
parties, there is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations of SEETRS  MAIAEEEMER . EREE
credit risk are managed by customer/counterparty. There are no RBEHER /RSEFERE B ANEERNIT
significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group. EmEMEAEREZERRE o
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Cont’d)

CREDIT RISK

Credit risk is the risk of loss due to the inability or unwillingness of a
counterparty to meet its contractual obligation. The Group has no
concentration of credit risk from third party debtors. The carrying
amounts of cash and bank balances, trade and notes receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets in the consolidated statement of financial position represent
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its

financial assets.

All cash and bank balances were deposited in high-credit-quality
financial institutions without significant credit risk.

The Group has continued the policy to perform an assessment at 31
December 2022, of whether a financial instrument’s credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition, by considering

grouping its other receivables into Stage 1 and Stage 2, as described

below:

Stage 1 — When other receivables are first recognised, the
Group records an allowance based on 12-months
ECLs

Stage2 — When other receivables have shown a significant

increase in credit risk since origination, the Group
records an allowance for the lifetime ECLs

Management also regularly reviews the recoverability of these
receivables and follow up on the disputes or amounts overdue, if
any. Management is of the opinion that the risk of default by

counterparties is low.

Notes to Financial Statements

37.

PR AR BT RE

RZZE—=F+=A=+—H
cRRAREEBEERER (8)

31 December 2022

FERRE
FEERBEXZHFEIATRETEAOR
EmERNEERR - AEBEALEKEE=
BEEAZEREERR - 426 MBEIRRR T H
R MR1TER - BURE S EEBEFRBRETA
BNR - RERHREREEEZMHEEE
MEREEDAREREMBEERARZNRKE
S -

MERERBTERIFEABREAERERRZ
FEERFNTRKE -

AEER—ZE_F+A=+—REERR
BOR - AE B B H At B WK IR 7 A P B
1 REBE2RFEERTAZEER

VIETEREE RIRIE N - FIBEWT

=
D

BEER1 — EEMEKRKAEARER
B AEBEMN21E B B

EEEBRERRE

fEE2 — EERMEUABELERTR
FEERBRAREN - AEEH

FEPEREEEREREE
BIEEINE e s S RUGRIRR AT R @

WHABALAIAKIE (NG ) ETRE - §
BEERA  XpHFRONARERE -
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 37. *REMEERSERHE (&)

POLICIES (Cont’d)

CREDIT RISK (Cont’d)

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition
of asset and whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. To
assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as of the
reporting date with the risk of default as of the date of initial
recognition. It considers available reasonable and supportive

forward-looking information.

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for expected
credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits the use of the
lifetime expected loss provision for all trade receivables. The
expected loss allowance provision for these balances was not
material during the year ended 31 December 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, the credit rating of other receivables was
graded performing. The Group assessed that the expected credit
losses for these receivables were not material under the 12-month
expected loss method. Thus, no loss allowance provision was
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit
risk arising from trade receivables and other receivables are
disclosed in note 22 and note 23.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 37. cREAMRESEEEREE (E)
POLICIES (Cont’d)
LIQUIDITY RISK FEBESRR
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring AEEZAEAKLEMRBESSEITHE - &
liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of both its REESRRMNER HTASZEESHT
financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade receivables) and B RMBEE (NEKRE SFIE) WEIE B A K
projected cash flows from operations. RELEEBHERRERE
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of RREHARRNEBIRIES ORMBRAFETED
the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted MSBEZZIA RN T

payments, was as follows:

2022
—EBC-CF
3to
Less than less than 1to Over
On demand 3 months 12 months 5years 5years Total
ZEDR
REX SR=EA T=f@aA —ERf EFHUE st

RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARETRT AR®TR ARETR

Lease liabilties HEaE - 501 1,061 468 - 2,030
Derivative financial instruments 4 @474 T & - 474 - - - 474
Interest-bearing bank and FRBITREMEE
other borrowings - 6,434 - - - 6,434
Trade and notes payables BN E 5 RRIEFIA 55,032 90,814 78,227 - - 224,073
Financial liabilities included in 5+ A E-th FEAT 30 K%
other payables and accruals ~ FEIZE BV B KA E 454,120 - - - - 454,120
462,702 176,657 47,304 468 - 687,131
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Cont’d)
LIQUIDITY RISK (Cont’d)

37. *REMEERSERHE (&)

RENE S E ()
2021
T —F
3to
Less than less than 1to Over

On demand 3months 12 months 5 years 5 years Total

ZEIR
rEX PR=fEA +ZA —EhE AFNE et

RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT

RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTE ARETT ARBTT ARETRL

Lease liabilities HERRE - 241 764 1,621 = 2,626
Interest-bearing bank and FEBRITREMEE

other borrowings = 10,182 10,831 = = 21,013
Trade and notes payables ENEZEZREEIA 9,440 65,220 68,552 - - 143,212
Financial liabilities included in 5T A K fh & 5 71

other payables and accruals ~ TBIRER 7B A G 452,537 - - - = 452,637

461,977 75,643 80,147 1,621 - 619,388

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT axEE

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to
it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 31
December 2021.
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Notes to Financial Statements

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Cont’d)
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by the adjusted capital plus net debt. Net debt includes trade
and notes payables, certain other payables and accruals, interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings (other than convertible bonds),
lease liabilities, less cash and bank balances. The gearing ratios as at
the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

Trade and notes payables EE S M EBFUA
Other payables and accruals Hith R R TERE A
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5+ ER1T R EMEE
Lease liabilities HEBE

Less: Cash and bank balances B RE RIRTTIER
Net (equity)/debt (M) Ak

Equity attributable to owners of the parent (SYNCIEZ ¥ =W Y 2

Capital and net debt BERRFAE

Gearing ratio BEREELL R

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2022 HR-ZT—-—4#+—-A=+—H

37. *REMEERSERHE (&)

EREE ()
ARERARARBLRERAEEARER - M
BEXRRBLERTDFAERUACHEEAINFER
BZBNAE - FREBEENES RFRENR
A Hitt AR RBRER - fTERITREM
tEE (SRmERRIN) - HERE - WHIFRR
ERBTER - RBEHR2ERABLEM
T

2T O bt

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETIT
224,073 143,212
516,068 490,521
6,434 21,013
1,978 2,507
(811,682) (677,744)
(63,129) 79,509
2,641,956 2,380,714
2,578,827 2,460,223
(2.45%) 3.23%
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38. ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 38.
The major classes of assets classified as held for sale as at 31
December are as follows:

Property, plant and equipment Y - B K&
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
Investment in an associate R—EER a8 E
39. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 39.
CASH FLOWS
(A) CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
2022
At 1 January 2022 R-_ZF__F—H—H
Changes from financing cash flows BB S RAE
Addition NE
Disposal B
Interest expense MEZH
At 31 December 2022 R-_EBE-——F+—-_A=+—H
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FHECEE
HET-A=1T—H BEFHEZEEMNE
BRlEAT ¢
2022 2021
—E-= T —4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARET T
2,578 31,413
- 6,968
- 55,882
2,578 94,263
FEBEeRERME
A HBETHELENEEEE
—E-_—F
Interest-bearing
bank and other Lease
borrowings Liabilities
FRBTR
Hitig& HEEE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AR® T
21,013 2,507
6,434 (439)
- 355
(21,013) (520)
- 75
6,434 1,978
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39. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 39. HERERERMETE ()
CASH FLOWS (Cont’d)
(A) CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING (A HEETBHELNEESE (H)
ACTIVITIES (Cont’d)
2021 —E-—F
Payable for
repurchase of
shares included Interest-bearing
in other payables bank and other Lease
and accruals borrowings Liabilities
BER
Hh S R K
AR E R FTRERITR
(o] 88 A 17 FE - 5K HifEE HEAE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFTT ARETFT
At 1 January 2021 R-_E-_—F—H—H 5,905 - 2,949
Changes from financing BAIR S A
cash flows (15,531) 21,013 (1,044)
Addition NE = — 502
Covid-19-related rent i FH AR B Covid-19
concessions from lessors EEESES = = (1)
Interest expense e H - - 101
Repurchase of shares 6] & A% {9 9,626 - -
At 31 December 2021 R ——F
+=—A=+—H - 21,013 2,507
(B) TOTAL CASH OUTFLOW FOR LEASES (B) HEZHARER
The total cash outflow for leases included in the consolidated PREGEHReEMERANEELAR S
statement of cash flows is as follows: M
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R AREFT
Within operating activities KRB 2,040 1,020
Within financing activities BB EBA 439 1,044
2,479 2,064
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31 December 2022

40. COMMITMENTS

41.

42.

(@  The Group had the following capital commitments at the end
of the reporting period:

Contracted, but not provided for:

Plant and machinery

(b) The Group has various lease contracts that have not yet
commenced as at 31 December 2022. The future lease
payments for these non-cancellable lease contracts are
RMB985,203 due within one year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

e R NEYERN
B TREEER
BAEFBIHER

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
Employee share option benefits
Pension scheme contributions

Total compensation paid to key FEERAEME RS

management personnel

Further details of the directors’ and the chief executive officer’s

emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial statements.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, on 24
October 2022, Dawnrays Biotechnology entered into a loan contract
with AD Pharmaceuticals. Dawnrays Biotechnology agreed to
provide an unsecured interest-bearing loan to AD Pharmaceuticals
for a total of RMB105,000,000 with an interest rate of 3.5% per
annum for a term of five years. Dawnrays Biotechnology provided a
loan of RMB66,500,000 in January and February 2023.
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BET4Y - BERVERE -

40.

41.

42.

FRIE
@ RARERBRANEE GRS AT EAEE :

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFIT
110,318 239,908

b)) RZBE_—F+-_A=+—BAE=E#E
EHARBZZEAESY - LETT

BUHZHEZ AR —FEHBRETER
AR#985,203 7T °
BEEA RS
AEETZEBASHE -
2022 2021
—E-C T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT
6,500 8,843
336 1,601
231 144
7,067 10,588

EXRBENEHEHNTBERERMES -

HWMEHREIE

BRI BHRREMAEEEN RF
——HF+A-1+ME  REEEYERRESF
FIER B - RimEYRE R RER S IRHE
HIREH B 8 3 3 A R % 105,000,0007C &K
FE35%FEER  ERFHSF - RInEME
RZTEZ=ZF—ARKR_AREBARK
66,500,000 JTLE K °
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43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 43. AP TEBEARRER

COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company
at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

RBERRARBNFBRARERAT

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries R B R R RS 279,738 251,780
Total non-current assets IEREEEETE 279,738 251,780
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments, other receivables and TARTR - H A REWGRIE R K A& &
other assets 302 266
Financial assets at fair value through AARERTE B EZEEA
profit or loss B 2 & E 10,500 6,933
Cash and bank balances He RIRTTIE 1,437 2,540
Total current assets MENVE EER 12,239 9,739
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables and accruals Ht IR RTERE R 2,624 393
Total current liabilities MBI B EERE 2,624 393
NET CURRENT ASSETS BREEE 9,615 9,346
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEABERABAE
LIABILITIES 289,353 261,126
Net assets BEE 289,353 261,126
EQUITY =
Issued capital BEBITIRA 80,389 80,370
Reserves (note 34) e (FisE34) 208,964 180,756
Total equity AR 289,353 261,126
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43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 43. AQ T IBEAR R ()
COMPANY (Cont’d)
Note: Bz -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RARZREBRENT -
Share Share Capital Exchange
premium  Contributed option redemption  fluctuation Retained
account surplus reserve reserve reserve profits Total
EAHEE B %R E
R EE MBS BRERE o1 e REER “wE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETr ARETT ARETR
At 1 January 2021 R-ZE-_—F—Hf—H - 100,175 45,057 7,748 (55,842) 76,063 173,201
Profit for the year AEEEF = - - - - 161,266 161,266
Other comprehensive income ~ AFEE 2
for the year:
Exchange differences EiZESR = - - - (6,969) - (6,963)
Total comprehensive income  AEEZ2E W AR
for the year - = = = (6,963) 161,266 154,303
Exercise of share options TERERE 2,521 - (417) - - - 2,104
Shares repurchased and BEEWHH 2 R
cancelled - - - 358 - (9,626) (9,268)
Final 2020 dividend declared Bk —Z-TERLRE = = = = = (125,312) (125,312)
Equity-settled share option VAR A S (< O B AR A 0 Bk
arrangements = = 4,328 = = = 4,328
Lapse of share options ESivd 1 - - (29,390) - - 29,390 -
Interim 2021 dividend —E-—EhHRE - - - - - (18,600) (18,600)
At 31 December 2021 and R-ZE-_—F
1 January 2022 +-A=+—-HEK
~“E-—F—f—H 2,521 100,175 19,578 8,106 (62,805) 113,181 180,756
Profit for the year KEEHA - - - - - 113,514 113,514
Other comprehensive income N[ E fih 2 s ¢
for the year:
Exchange differences i 5 258 - - - - 18,819 - 18,819
Total comprehensive income  AEE 2 E 45
for the year - - - - 18,819 113,514 132,333
Exercise of share options TR E 390 - (62 - - - 328
Shares repurchased and BEEHE R
cancelled - - - - - - -
Final 2021 dividend declared  ER=Z=—FRBES - - - - - (79,370) (79,370)
Equity-settled share option PARRIE S (9 d B AR 2
arrangements - - (4,910) - - - (4,910)
Lapse of share options KR iR - - (3,001) - - 3,001 -
Interim 2022 dividend —E - —FhERs - - - - - (20,173) (20,173)
At 31 December 2022 RZE_Z
+-RA=+—H 2,911 100,175 11,605 8,106 (43,986) 130,153 208,964

196 DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ZREs84%5 (1258 ) HRR A 7



43.

44,

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Cont’d)

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the excess of
the then consolidated net assets of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the Group Reorganisation referred to in note 34(i), over
the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange
therefor.

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options
granted which are yet to be exercised, as further explained in the
accounting policy for share-based payments in note 2.4 to the
financial statements. The amount will either be transferred to the
issued capital account and the share premium account when the
related options are exercised, or be transferred to retained profits

should the related options expire or be forfeited.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 24 March 2023.

Notes to Financial Statements
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RRBMFIRR R ()

ANA B B B ER NPT 5E 34() Pl 18 AR IR 5
BHMRBHBARERNGEAEEFERE
KARABRBEEEEMBITHARRRGE
EREHD -

BREREBEFRCROAHRTEBRENR
AE - RE-SEHFRUBERERME24K
DN EFBREAN - EEHBRIEETE
B HBBESEECBTRAREREORE
B EABEERED M BORE - B8R
HEERE A -

B R R 3k A HE
PEBRERENR T _=ZF=A_+HNHEESE
SR RIRERET o
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Five Year Financial Summary

EEMBEBE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for NTIRASENRBEREARFEEZEE BEK
the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited BERE WA E AMEEZIBHRE
financial statements, is set out below.

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=1t—HLEE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E2-C —T-—F —T-FF —T-NF —BE-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFR ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETxR

RESULTS ¥i5

Revenue WA 1,277,682 1,165,155 1,024,270 950,007 948,938
Cost of sales SHERAR (504,131) (483,893) (473,625) (414,138) (353,909)
Gross profit EF 773,551 681,262 550,645 535,869 595,029
Other income and gains H A A Wiz 86,948 135,879 38,426 48,071 47,923
Selling and distribution expenses 45 K% 4 & F (142,733) (109,030) (54,572) (84,812 (106,854)
Administrative expenses THER (122,058) (117,409) (109,224) (97,087) (83,184)
Research and development costs A 7t & 5 2 B 2K (79,478) (67,028) (57,944) (49,651) (46,352)
Other expenses HfnE& A (15,546) (37,292) (12,434) (21,158) (13,584)
Finance costs HsER (371) (641) (4,828) (5,309) (1,152)
Share of losses of an associate {5 —EEE & A A) 2 518 (61,905) (46,418) (18,771) (11,829) (14,049)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BB AT F 438,408 439,323 331,298 314,004 377,777
Income tax expense BT (82,557) (85,160) (66,505) (58,738) (73,817)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR RER & 355,851 354,163 264,793 255,356 303,960
Attributable to: A T&IBRES

Owners of the parent (SYNCIEZZSPN 358,057 358,175 268,130 255,430 303,960
Non-controlling interests JEIERR R 2 (2,206) (4,012 (3,337) (74) -

355,851 354,163 264,793 255,356 308,960

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES  &ER&E
TOTAL ASSETS HWEE 3,672,643 3,339,558 2,908,735 2,786,387 2,366,029
TOTAL LIABILITIES HEE (1,022,776) (941,697) (720,143) (760,075) (444,867)
NET ASSETS BEE 2,649,867 2,397,861 2,183,592 2,026,312 1,921,162
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed during the
following periods:

(i) from Friday, 19 May 20283 to Thursday, 25 May 2023, both days
inclusive, for the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to
attend and vote at the 2023 AGM. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the 2023 AGM, all transfer of shares of the Company
accompanied by the relevant share certificates and the appropriate
share transfer forms must be lodged for registration not later than
4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 18 May 2023 with the Company’s branch
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Abacus
Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong.

(i) from Thursday, 1 June 2023 to Friday, 2 June 2023, both days
inclusive, for the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to
the proposed final dividend. In order to establish entitlements to the
proposed final dividend, all transfer of shares of the Company
accompanied by the relevant share certificates and the appropriate
share transfer forms must be lodged for registration not later than
4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 31 May 2023 with the Company’s branch
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Abacus
Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong.

During the periods mentioned in sub-paragraphs (i) and (i) above, no
transfers of shares will be registered.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2023 AGM will be held on Thursday, 25 May 2023. Details of the 2023
AGM are set out in the notice of AGM with constitutes part of the circular
to Shareholders sent together with this annual report.

Information for Shareholders
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FINANCIAL CALENDAR

2022 AGM
Announcement of 2022 interim results
Announcement of 2022 annual results
2023 AGM

DIVIDENDS

2022 Interim dividend
Payment date for 2022 interim dividend

Proposed 2022 final dividend

Ex-dividend date for 2022 final dividend

Book closing dates for 2022 final dividend

Payment date for proposed 2022 final
dividend
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27 May 2022
26 August 2022
24 March 2023
25 May 2023

HK$0.015 per share
5 October 2022

HK$0.073 per share

30 May 2023

1 June 2023-2 June 2023

on or about 13 June 2023
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http://www.dawnrays.com

	封面
	目錄
	公司資料
	本集團架構圖
	主席報告
	管理層討論及分析
	企業管治報告
	董事及高級管理層履歷
	董事會報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益表
	綜合全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	財務報表附註
	五年財務概要
	股東資料
	封底




